How to Survive a Swine/Bird Flu Pandemic



H5N1 viruses growing in cells

By

Clark M. Thomas

© 2006, 2009

Forewords By

Edward W. Pearson, M.D., DABHM J. David Forbes, M.D., ABHM

Table of Contents

The View from 2009

Forewords: Edward W. Pearson, M.D., DABHM

- J. David Forbes, M.D., DABHM
- I. Preface
- II. What Could Happen
- III. How Pandemic Influenzas Appear
- IV. Brief History of Pandemics
- V. Will Vaccines Save Us?
- VI. Will Tamiflu Save Us?
- VII. Every Disease Has a Context
- VIII. Annuity Medicine
- IX. What to Take
- X. What to Do
- XI. Winners and Losers
- XII. Lessons We Could Learn

Appendix: Some Top Web Sites Appendix: Federal Pandemic Action Plan Appendix: Some Survival Sources

The View From 2009

This book was originally entitled "How To Survive the Bird Flu Pandemic." It was finalized after many revisions in June of 2006, with forewords, just about the time that the media panic (but not the objective threat) over the increasingly lethal H5N1 variant began to recede. Even though this book was and is the best of its breed, it never found a regular publisher, which is fine with me.

Traditional publishers can take a year to get out books; but emerging pandemics can go around the modern world in weeks. Fortunately, H5N1 has not (yet) mutated into a variant that can easily spread from human to human. If and when it ever does, we are all in for a very bumpy ride.

It is now time to introduce this book to a wide audience. Even though much of the original essay is restricted to the lethal variant of H5N1 — which persists in Egypt, Indonesia, and elsewhere to this day the same lessons learned in 2006 apply to many other viral threats. The fear we had then of H5N1 by itself soon morphing into a human-to-human monster was blessedly overblown.

The reason I am releasing this essay in May of 2009 is because the new "swine flu" has shown a mongrel's ability to combine several strains into a new one. It has so far not been particularly lethal — but that fact could easily and instantly change if it were to properly combine (reassort) inside only one human who is simultaneously infected with H5N1. That swine/bird variant could return to the Northern Hemisphere this fall and winter with virulence possibly greater than the 1918-1919 avian H1N1, known then as the Spanish Flu.

The first wave of the Spanish Flu was relatively mild. The second and third waves killed tens of millions. After the milder fourth wave was finished, modified H1N1 joined the pool of so-called human influenza viruses. Indeed, the 2008-2009 regular influenza included many cases of "human" H1N1, which may help explain why this summer's mongrel H1N1 seems to attack the young in preference to older people.

Since 2006 several key developments have occurred, but basically the same population vulnerabilities remain:

Among the changes, Tamiflu remains fairly potent against both H5N1 and the swine H1N1. However, this "miracle drug" swiftly became almost totally worthless against the regular influenza that traveled around the world during 2008 and 2009. Since some doctors are all too eager to write Tamiflu prescriptions, it is reasonable to assume that danger lies in putting all of our hopes on Tamiflu. Agile viruses always find a way to get around individual drugs; it's only a matter of how soon they do it. Natural selection assures that the newly immune variant wins out over the earlier, vulnerable-to-Tamiflu variant.

H5N1 bird flu kills not only birds, but also bird eggs. That's one reason it is so hard to produce avian influenza vaccine in quantity. Living chicken eggs are where we grow new vaccine cultures. There are better technologies in the pipeline, such as growing viruses in mammalian cells; but those new cultures will not be ready for dealing with global swine/bird flu in the next two years. In ten years things will be much better. That's great, but not great if the next super-killer pandemic begins this fall or winter.

There is brave talk from the vaccine industry about having billions of injections ready within a year. I hope they can succeed, but I am skeptical, except for a small number of affluent nations. Pandemics sweep around the world in weeks; new vaccines take months to develop and produce.

In 2006 I was the first writer to research and develop multiple ways to deal with or prevent the very thing that kills so many young adults: cytokine storms in the lungs. Essentially, the body overreacts, and floods the lungs with bloody fluids, to where the patient can die within hours. In 2009 the young are still more targeted than the older, unlike conventional human flu. If a Frankenstein variant appears this fall or winter, we will see more cytokine storm deaths. That is why my chapter on multiple ways to ameliorate cytokine storms remains as important today as it was in 2006.

Up until 1957 most influenzas were milder variants of the 1918 H1N1. Even though the so-called swine flu is partly swine, and partly mild avian, it is also partly "human" H1N1. This is possibly why those over fifty are less vulnerable to the current strain. Nevertheless, a viral reassortment with H5N1 could produce a monster that even previous exposure to any H1N1 would not stop. That unknown danger is why vigilance and science are so important.

The spring of 2009 allowed levels of government to try out their bird flu public safety protocols. Frankly, I was not impressed. Because the threat was very minor, public hygiene measures seemed to work, and medical resources were never tested. A lot of ignorance floated about. Let's hope we can do better when the real wolf shows up at our door.

It is my greatest hope and prayer that this entire book will become an obscure footnote somewhere, and never need to be anything more. If not, this book will be a survival manual for the wise.

Foreword

Edward W. Pearson, MD, DABHM

Pearson Wellness Center Palm Harbor, Florida http://www.pearsonwellness.com http://pearsonwellnesscenter.com

As a preventive medicine specialist, I view my patient's problems in an optimistic light. I believe a physician should be supportive and positive in explaining the problems found, in light of the newfound hope for healing and prevention of future illness. Optimism within prevention benefits us in all aspects, from health to happiness, considering the state of the world in which we live. The moment one begins to look at the world as an evil place, or envision humanity as an evil race, is the moment we are truly losing in life.

There are many things prevalent in our current era that can be viewed as concerning: the American healthcare system, war, religious differences, obesity, cancer, and diabetes, to name a few. If we choose to understand them as problems – the knowledge of which gives us opportunity for ongoing correction – instead of unavoidable evils, we can continue to ensure humanity a better state as part of our mother earth.

It may be hard to look back on all of humanity's problems as such. With the current threat of a new and especially deadly viral pandemic, we must try to learn from our past pandemic experiences. We should view them not as failures, but as learning experiences. With emerging technology we can have a much greater level of success the next time a similar problem occurs.

Our current healthcare system, however, is broken. America has the most expensive healthcare industry in the world, yet is $38^{"}$ or lower on the list of the health of nations. Chronic degenerative disease such as arthritis, Alzheimer's, and heart disease are epidemic and considered "common" or "expected" as we age.

Cancers, obesity, diabetes, among a few, are also dramatically on the rise even in younger patients. There is new evidence that all of these diseases are linked to low-level autoimmune imbalance, inflammation, and oxidation. Such problems result from high levels of stress and toxicity, and low levels of nutrition from food industry processing. Uniquely American ideas instilled in us by the healthcare system have us believing that insurance will pay for what is necessary, and that you don't need to take care of yourself until sickness occurs (which it will), at which point the newest purple pill or surgery will fix you quickly.

The avian influenza virus (H5N1) in all likelihood is about to present humanity with another of those crucial tests of our ability to minimize the casualties in "global killer" type events. In the following pages, author Clark M. Thomas has put together what I view to be the best and only preparatory and explanatory volume to inform the rest of humankind why we should take this threat seriously, learn from our past, and use our intelligence. We should embrace what this book gives us: the truth and knowledge beforehand as to what pandemic flu is, why it occurs, and exactly what we can do to prepare and survive this inevitable experience, whether it occurs this year, or years from now.

The facts are simple: viruses exist, they are not evil but simply filling a void in the biological chain, and are not out to get us. Pandemics do and will happen, and we as a species have progressed to where there is much we can do to be prepared for this event. Through knowledge and wise action we can make a difference.

As a physician, what I appreciate most about this volume is its concise flow from beginning to end. The author explains the history of humanity's susceptibility to pandemics, the reality of why the avian flu has what it takes to be the most successful pandemic virus ever, and why our current situation as a population will help ensure its success. We learn what we should do to ensure our own survival, and the survival of as many others as we can get this information to, as we prepare before the pandemic is upon us.

Most importantly, there is not and will not be an effective vaccination or medication for this influenza. There are few current medications or treatments in our medical system to cure illness, and there will not be for this health crisis either. Health problems can and will arise for which prior knowledge gives the keys to success and overcoming the crisis. I provide the keys to my patients every day, by screening them for signs and markers of all the chronic degenerative diseases experienced by nearly 80% of the American population today. Optimistically, as I show them they are in the earliest stages of developing these health problems, I am at the same time giving proactive answers for correcting them before they actually occur.

In the same way, Thomas is giving us a comprehensive guide to surviving the next great worldwide pandemic. It is up to us to seriously put these keys and tools to use. Or we can ignore them, leaving our bodies open for disease and sickness, while hoping for the latest and greatest invention to keep us going.

Unfortunately, with this avian flu there will be no last minute cure. In a way, that makes it the most immediate and deadly threat to humanity. Many of my patients have been able to continue ignoring their chronic problems by using artificial medications to maintain their existence, albeit not in a very functional state, for several years or even decades. In contrast, with this current threat of pandemic, lack of preparedness may position us for a quick and unpleasant demise.

The information in this book is clear, concise, and imperative for our future survival during this and any forthcoming pandemics. We should stay optimistic, and know that we are being given keys to preparation and survival. We are fortunate that Mr. Thomas has the keen interest, intelligence, and desire to share this timely information with us.

Foreword

J. David Forbes, M.D., ABHM

Board of Directors, American Holistic Medical Association Nashville Integrated Medicine Nashville, Tennessee http://nashvilleintegratedmedicine.com/index.html

Are we in for a worldwide "bird flu" pandemic? Can we handle it if it happens? How likely is it? Are the authorities ready?

Concerns over these issues have been raised repeatedly, and like many a reader my first gut inclination has been to just avert my eyes, hope for the best, and get back to the daily tasks at hand. Clearly this isn't a good answer.

According to Clark Thomas, in all likelihood it *is* coming. If not the current avian flu, it will be another equally malicious influenza virus, probably in the next few years. Bringing sound academic scholarship, thorough analysis and progressive thinking, Mr. Thomas meticulously documents the possibility for a truly catastrophic pandemic. He likewise illustrates that our system is in no way ready, nor will it soon be. Alarm bells are easy to sound, and I am not one given to obsessing on worst-case scenarios. However, the facts are the facts, and the data is indicating that all the elements that have been in place for prior flu pandemics are in place now, only worse. Influenza virus H5N1 (avian flu) is shaping up into a ferocious player, and we need to be prepared.

One of the key issues in our lack of readiness is the inherent lack of capacity of the healthcare system. If a substantial pandemic of avian flu should occur, the conservative estimate of those affected is in the millions. As one with over ten years experience as an Emergency Department physician, I have seen what public panic can do to the healthcare system. Should the events unfold as Mr. Thomas suggests they well might, our system may quickly become overwhelmed. We have a system that is already substantially near capacity. Emergency department waiting times are long, hospitals are all too often understaffed, and there are never large numbers of available critical care beds at any major facility. In a pandemic there will inevitably be many people with the true avian flu who quickly overwhelm the available critical care equipment.

In addition there will be staggeringly *higher* numbers of people who have other common viral-type conditions who *think* that they have it and rush the system in terror. I have seen this occur numerous times on a small scale when viral threats (such as West Nile) are in the news, even when the actual local threat is miniscule. When the threat is real and present, the system will become quickly paralyzed and unable to serve the masses seeking help and attention. It will be up to many to do what they can to care for themselves.

As an integrative and holistic physician, I have also come to realize the need for broad-minded, holistic approaches at all levels of healthcare. In a situation such as an avian flu pandemic, we will need to call upon every possible resource. The shortcomings of the standard western medical model – narrow focus on biomolecular mechanics and high-tech procedures – will be ever more evident under such circumstances. The current offerings of our standard healthcare system for treating this virus are few, and the ones that hold promise are woefully behind in development. We don't have any magic technological fixes for deadly influenza viruses. Tamiflu can be effective, but supplies are and will be completely inadequate. Additionally, our system has not placed a high priority on self-care and personal health responsibility. In this pandemic scenario, these will be critical to our survival. Panic will tend to spread in a more contagious manner than the virus itself. We must move to integrated and progressive thinking if we are to stem the effects of a large pandemic, in terms of both the panic and the illness.

What do we need? We need information. We need to be empowered with options and plans that we can institute on our own to help combat the virus. We need to be aware of all available avenues that are reasonable, practical, and achievable.

The best integrative medicine texts are ones that combine serious and thorough scholarship with open-minded, openhearted progressive thinking. This book is one of those works. In addition to containing just such a blend of information, Mr. Thomas' exceptional skills as a writer make this book highly readable. He brings us a no-holds-barred academic and thoughtful analysis of the current state of the avian flu, and where our predictive models are showing it to be leading. He painstakingly details the overwhelming inadequacy of our current preparedness, and shows us ways that we can prepare and protect ourselves.

We need to act intelligently and proactively, given the best information we have available. Our healthcare system can't meet this challenge. It will be up to us. We need a guide. Here it is.

I. Preface

"Good grief, here comes another bird flu book! Just what we need to read over morning coffee."

Actually, yes. And better over morning tea.

This is the last book I too would want to read, or write. However, I want to drink my morning coffee and tea for years to come, not months to come. That reason alone would justify the effort, if my efforts paid off. Paying off is the big mystery with a super-flu that already has slain more than two hundred million innocent birds, and started to jump the species barrier.

Ten years hence science should have a handle on such viruses, but not now. At the rate influenza viruses mutate, we could be looking at an unfolding global disaster beginning months from now, not a decade hence. Therefore, what can we mere mortals do now to minimize the potential slaughter within our own species, not just among the birds?

The near term answer for everybody is understanding and preparation. It is critical for us to understand and accept that "they" cannot save all of us over the next three years. They are the good doctors and distant government we rely on, and the pharmaceutical companies. The halls of power do not have the power. These pillars of our society will fail to save many of us who fall ill with avian flu in the near term, and for clear reasons this book will explain.

Fortunately, the most basic rules of social avoidance and hygiene will serve most of us well. If we follow all the right hygiene rules with extreme devotion, most of us will survive the potential eighteen months of pandemic waves. Crisis gives us a unique opportunity to learn, not just survive. Hopefully, lessons learned will help us build a better world. There is always hope.

We cannot honestly blame any opportunistic virus for simply doing what viruses have done in nature for hundreds of millions of years. We see

ourselves as masters of this planet. They see us as just another food source. When it comes to understanding why so many people are exposed to opportunistic bacteria and viruses, both Democratic and Republican presidents are personally to blame for doing too little, too late. But can we really blame even them, when our elected leaders are in reality the most skillful followers? Potential philosopher kings in this modern world get pushed aside by greed, the lowest common denominator. In this matter we quarrelsome primates have been our own worst enemy – setting the viral dinner table for a human feast.

One of the critical new tools for understanding and fighting any rapidly emerging threat is the Internet. The Internet allows us to read abstracts or full texts of cited references. Therefore, books such as this don't need to be too long, gratifying our modern short attention spans. I have made an effort to include web page addresses for nearly all of my notes. In this elegant way a short book for some could transform into a long book for others.

When I was a student at the University of Virginia and at Harvard I would wander in amazement through endless stacks of books in the Alderman and Widener libraries, all covered with the dust of forgetfulness. In sharp contrast, online references are vividly alive for all to see. Readers receive additional information by direct and easy access to supportive data. It's just a click away. The Internet is indeed the second Gutenberg revolution.

Clinical medicine has lagged behind the accelerating pace of laboratory medicine. Today's doctors in the field are not much better equipped to fight a highly lethal pandemic influenza than doctors were in 1918. *It's not their fault.* The reasons for this almost century-long failure to acquire enough potent tools against a persistent enemy are known to some, and should be known by all.

Ten years from now doctors will have precise DNA vaccines to effectively protect the majority of our population within a few months of an initial outbreak of virulent flu. If the world supports the vaccine makers, then there could be enough futuristic vaccine to take care of the planet, at least after the first pandemic wave. But that's a rosy and too distant future for the here and now.

Flu pandemics are still not primarily medical phenomena. They are cultural, economic, and political, with a medical component. If medicine

had today the chemical and DNA tools to effectively and immediately intervene, genocidal influenza pandemics would not fully unfold in the first place. We are almost a decade away from this happy point in time.

Doctors on the front lines of this near term pandemic will be just like everybody else, highly concerned and defensive. Every doctor is trained and motivated to cure patients and save their lives, first and foremost. It is also part of a doctor's duty to witness beloved patients die, after doing everything possible for them.

A *worst case pandemic during the next three years* would present additional challenges:

• Doctors can write an herb-based Tamiflu prescription, but there probably won't be enough for you. The pandemic strain could become somewhat immune to Tamiflu and its chemical cousins by the time you need it.

They can refer you to the hospital – but hospital beds and emergency rooms already are nearly filled with sick people suffering from vehicle wrecks, childbirth, pneumonia, cancer, strokes, heart attacks, methamphetamine, and self-inflicted diseases of civilization.

During an ordinary seasonal flu epidemic nearly all of our country's ventilators are already in use. Seasonal flu and viral/bacterial pneumonia, along with emphysema and COPD, will all be here in full force at the same time as the pandemic flu. There is virtually no ventilator surge capacity to save all the additional lives at risk. High-efficiency masks and other protective equipment may quickly become scarce.

Doctors cannot individually prod vaccine manufacturers to radically increase their woeful production capabilities.

Doctors cannot prevent or stop social panic. Public health protocols are problematic in a panic scenario.

We love our doctors. They work hard and long hours. They are the best trained in the world. But they alone cannot be our easy saviors in this decade. We patients can't patiently sleep our way through a major pandemic crisis.

This book has as one of its primary goals giving everyday people some of the tools they need to NOT panic. I speak of the need to develop a *military mentality*. We for too long have had a childlike relationship with our doctors. It is time we assumed more adult responsibility for our health, using our doctors as partners in life's journey.

There is a lot of work to do beyond the hospitals and clinics. All areas of private life need to get up to speed, and fast, and now. If and when the H5N1 bird flu makes a rapid transition into a lethal human-to-human form, it could arrive in our communities by airplane within one month or less. Informed defense could be our best offense. Scientific troops will arrive, but mostly not for years. Let's lower the body count.

Only after we move away from passivity, even fatalism, can we use what resources we have here and now to protect our families. I will spend a lot of space in this basic book explaining our "enemy," so that we can understand its few weaknesses, not just its many strengths. We are not talking about evil spirits; we are talking about energetic microbes. This super-flu is so very different from so-called "stomach flu."

I trust you will stay with me when the going gets technical. I will try to keep the jargon to an essential minimum. If you hit a patch of jargon that makes your head spin, simply skip to the next paragraph that makes sense.

Not just individuals, but especially their places of work, need to prepare. Many employers are procrastinating, hoping this problem will go away. It won't. Even if the H5N1 virus were not the next great global killer, there would be others. The question is not if, but when. Every disaster preparation plan needs to incorporate how a work place will survive as much as eighteen months of wave after wave of assaults from an invisible enemy in our midst. It's like the blizzard that won't go away. Smart companies that prepare now will survive and prosper. Companies that fail to adequately prepare today may see their better-prepared competition seizing market share. Many companies of marginal profitability will simply go out of business. If all you care about is today's bottom line, there may be no bottom line for you tomorrow.

In early 1981 there was little awareness of the new monster, AIDS. The cause was unknown. There had been only two cases in New Mexico, both lethal. This odd new disease appealed to my herbalist curiosity. I wrote about it in Santa Fe when I was a newly hired community newspaper

editor. The departing editor accused me of wasting space on something irrelevant. That something irrelevant has already killed 25 million people worldwide.

In my essay I identified the cause as likely being a virus, and even described an organic modality for managing the virus. I explained the ecology of this human-virus relationship with a "seed and soil" metaphor to explain latency and how to control it. My essay on the AIDS virus came out just before the Pasteur Institute scientists in France announced their viral discovery. Even today, two decades later, there is no fully effective HIV vaccine. Viruses that cleverly morph can be very tough to trap.

Two years later, while living in Dallas, I wrote and freely distributed a thirty-page essay, *Aid Your Immune System.* This unique document did not get much traction. If I had concocted an herbal "magic bullet" for HIV, I would have been a cultural hero. Instead, I suggested rational lifestyle changes, along with certain botanicals, to help buy time for science to develop a vaccine or other effective medicines.

The battle against bird flu will soon challenge our modern world at a level of ferocity few of us have ever imagined. This pestilence won't go away any time soon. We will be forced to deal with it. Whether this great challenge to civilization creates a global death toll equal to that of several exploding hydrogen bombs, or just one, will depend in part on how wisely we now prepare our defenses.

Viruses have the molecular intelligence of swarms. We, the food source, have large brains. Which type of intelligence will win?

II. What Could Happen

When the asteroid that obliterated large dinosaurs first appeared in the sky as a tiny, unmoving point of light some 65 million years ago everyday life routinely continued as before. Likewise, the great bird flu pandemic of the early twenty-first century may first appear as just another case of flu. But there will be a difference.

This alpha case will be the first opportunity in this century for a mutated avian influenza virus with exceptional killing power to infect people so they can directly infect each other without the inefficient intervention of another species.

It is my best guess that this historic pandemic will silently begin very late in 2006, and peak two or three times in your community during 2007. It could start sooner. It could start a year or two later. It will eventually start, according to the World Health Organization.¹ Where and how it goes is partially up to you and me.

Wild bird species have been rapidly spreading along their migratory routes throughout the eastern hemisphere several variants of highly lethal H5N1, exponentially increasing contacts among humans and infected poultry.² Here are maps:³ The United States may "welcome" this virus from wild birds migrating down from Alaska,⁴ after having mingled with Asian birds. Infected birds could fly over from Europe. The virus could first be brought here by bird smugglers.⁵

Despite all this activity, human pandemic flu will not be the same as avian pandemic flu. Some infected birds flying to North America would not by themselves start our pandemic, even if a few humans on this continent die. The virus needs to mutate some more, somewhere on this planet.

As late as 2006, how H5N1 really spreads in the wild is not known. After the virus flew from China, and then rapidly appeared in multiple locations in Europe and Africa, models were challenged. Vittorio Guberti, head veterinarian at the Italian National Institute for Wildlife, has been studying influenza in wild birds for more than ten years. He was reduced to saying: "We don't even know where to focus. We have to sit and wait for the big epidemic to occur, and in the meantime there will probably be small outbreaks all the time."⁶

After Murphy's Law of Mutations sufficiently works, first one person will catch it, and then others in the alpha community will soon fall ill. The location will possibly be in a village in Indonesia or Africa having traditional alienation from outside authorities. Now that H5N1 has just reached India, there are another billion potential human "mixing bowls" for the virus to seek the "right" combination.

Once the alpha community suspects that these bird flu cases are not ordinary, and that danger is high, panic could ensue. Some residents will flee to relatives' villages in all directions, spreading the local epidemic geometrically. By the time health authorities determine exactly what has happened, hundreds or thousands of people will be infected with what will soon become the most severe disease outbreak in recorded history. Tamiflu will be rushed in, but miss many of those infected by the rapidly replicating nano-warriors.

Once the alpha community suspects that these bird flu cases are not ordinary, and that danger is high, panic could ensue. Some residents will flee to relatives' villages in all directions, spreading the local epidemic geometrically. By the time health authorities determine exactly what has happened, hundreds or thousands of people will be infected with what will soon become the most severe disease outbreak in recorded history. Tamiflu will be rushed in, but miss many of those infected by the rapidly replicating nano-warriors. Geometric spreading will quickly occur until nearly all communities in the world are infected and affected.

The great pandemic of 1918-1919 took only weeks to spread by steamship and rail. Only American Samoa and a few other extremely isolated small communities remained free of this infection. Samoa did it by sealing itself off from the world.¹⁰ Last century's great avian influenza pandemic killed around 50 million people (estimates range from 20 million to 100 million). The so-called *Spanish Flu had about a 3% death rate* in a world with one third of today's population.

Influenza viruses are among our planet's most highly contagious pathogens. Even though this early period may appear to allow world

health authorities a few more weeks to mobilize, it won't be enough time for inadequately available resources to stop the inevitable.¹¹ According to Dmitry Lvov, Director of the Russian Academy of Science's Virology Research Institute, one-third of the world's population might become infected in a short period of time.¹²

The virulent virus particles will not consciously mean us harm. Indeed, to the virus particles there is no human organism, just a nice warm nutrient soup full of host cells within which to breed and spread. We will not be dealing with evil, just with a force of nature intersecting social humans and their domesticated animals – animals that have been placed too close to wild animals, the reservoir for such viruses.

The World Health Organization (WHO) and other health entities could misguidedly rush many thousands of doses of Tamiflu into the alpha region in a belated attempt to stop its spread. This WHO containment strategy will be partially inspired by what was done a few years ago in China and Canada with less contagious SARS. Containment through sanitation in Africa likewise worked with the lethal, but less contagious, Marburg virus.¹³ Containment at the source is now part of WHO paper policy. But the WHO is a paper tiger without the ability to enforce its will on remote village behavior, even while traditional people are confronted by a culture-disrupting virus.¹⁴

Flu spreads through the air and casual contact easily and fast, and there are human carriers who stay healthy long enough to infect multiple others, who in turn geometrically infect multiple others. It's like the first splitting atom in an atomic bomb, leading to billions of fission events, leading to a nasty atomic explosion. All the late arriving Tamiflu will do is deplete soon-to-be-needed supplies for elsewhere.

If the human-to-human pandemic starts in Asia within the next two years there may also be an attempt to quarantine the local area by travel restrictions, and by inoculating many thousands of people with the newly developed, and fairly scarce, bird flu vaccine. But it only takes one moving "Typhoid Mary" to bypass and thereby defeat this effort.

The opening drama of modern humanity's greatest natural calamity has begun. It will be just a few days before newspapers feature this alpha event with bold headlines on their front pages. It was fearfully anticipated by science, but wished away by average people and the cowardly politicians who "lead" them. It was understood by virologists and epidemiologists, but totally misreported by media obsessed with sex, Hollywood gossip, "reality" TV, game shows, and sports. Ahead are the avoidable deaths of millions of innocent people, many in the prime of their lives.

Many of those deaths could have been prevented by wiser government actions almost a decade ago. The deadly H5N1 virus first appeared in 1996 on a Chinese farm, then took flight in 1997 to Hong Kong, killing one third of the people infected by sick birds. <u>That's a 33% death rate.</u> Following a mass eradication of all fowl in Hong Kong, ordinary people and politicians tried to forget about what had happened. Problem is, nobody eradicated this mutating and increasingly virulent virus at its source in China. Scientists were not forgetting,¹⁵ but nobody with the power to effectively act was listening to their warnings.

A Washington Post article¹⁶ in October of 2005 highlights the sharp contrast between science and traditional cultures in the modern world of nation states. Although China is usually seen as the source of many flu epidemics, there are other Asian nations capable of hosting the alpha community. According to this article:

"Indonesia, in particular, is a worry to U.N. and other international experts, partly because it has Southeast Asia's largest population of both people and poultry. The country also has an impoverished health care system that has deteriorated significantly since the 1997 Asian financial crisis and the weakening of central government authority following the 1998 ouster of the longtime dictator Suharto.

In an interview with *The Washington Post* this spring, Tri Satya Putri Naipospos, Indonesia's national director of animal health, first disclosed that officials had known chickens were dying from bird flu since the middle of 2003, but kept this secret until last year because of lobbying by the poultry industry. She also revealed that the government had not set aside any money this year to vaccinate poultry against the virus, though officials had trumpeted this as the centerpiece of their strategy to contain the disease.

Naipospos repeated her allegations late last month, but this time in Indonesian in an interview with the influential local newspaper *Kompas*. A day after the article was published, the Agriculture Ministry fired her."

Yes, this pandemic will be an "act of God." However, the scope and intensity of its effects will partially be due to inaction, or wrong action, on the part of us humans. That is why this survival guide is being written. I am not trying to play God, or even explain God, just trying to help mitigate the effects of this viral mutation. Each individual and family we can save through wisdom and timely rational action will be a testament to our being "in the image of God."

Dr. David Nabarro of the World Health Organization has been appointed by the U. N. to head up a worldwide drive to contain this pandemic. He stated in a news conference in September 2005, and also during an interview with the BBC, that the quality of the world's response could determine whether it ends up killing five million, or as many as 150 million.¹⁷ Bureaucrats at the WHO quickly and nervously tried to distance themselves from the higher number, arbitrarily estimating that only as many as seven million may die. Let's see... seven million is about what would happen if a thermonuclear bomb exploded over New York City.

A more recent analysis of the potential effects of an H5N1 pandemic was published in February 2006.¹⁸ The study was prepared by a division of The Australian National University, in association with The Brookings Institution in Washington,

D.C. One plausible scenario, where seniors are not partially protected like they were in 1918 by previous exposure to a similar strain, would yield about 142 million global deaths.

It's OK if this number is too big to fill your head with horror. Stalin said, "One death is a tragedy. A million deaths is a statistic."¹⁹

Meanwhile, the H5N1 body count as of January 23, 2006 stood at 82 out of 151 people infected, according to the World Health Organization.²⁰ <u>That's a 54% death rate</u>. Many of those who died had first-rate hospital care, including Tamiflu and ventilators. This pathogen is hopefully predicted to become more "user friendly" when it moves into human-to-human form, with a much lower mortality rate. If not, we could be looking at a tragedy of Biblical proportions.

The pandemic will most likely begin after a critical mutation early in 2007. But the key mutation could happen as soon as mid-2006. Already, there have been several mutations that move the virus closer to us. If we get lucky it won't happen until 2008, or maybe 2009. But it likely will happen, and dreadfully soon.

The "it" mutation may also be a series of adaptive mutations resulting in the same epidemiological impact as one massive genetic shift, turning purely avian H5N1 into a much more contagious variant. The mutation, or mutations, could occur strictly within the avian strain, or between the avian strain and either a pig or human strain, leading to the emergent pandemic strain.

Those who rationally and properly prepare now will have the best chance for survival.²¹ Those who don't prepare will need more than prayers to protect themselves from endless billions of viral assassins swarming through their bodies.

Human nature, when confronted with an unprecedented level of threat from an enemy that can't be seen, and hardly understood, retreats to its most primitive layer of defense, prayer and denial.²² If we pray for something to go away, maybe it will. If we deny something, maybe it will go away. If we partially deny something, maybe things will get better, or maybe it won't be so bad. Or maybe science and "they" will find a last-minute cure to rescue us.

Yes, doing nothing of substance will eventually "make it go away" — along with millions of smiling faces. Prayer and denial alone are not wise humans acting "in the image of God."

We can do better, but will we? Otherwise rational adults reverting to childlike fantasies and mysticism are not going to reduce the forthcoming death toll. Communication efforts such as this book can make a great difference – but only if people heed now the warnings in time to either avoid this illness altogether, or survive the blow when it comes. Those who dance in denial are top candidates for the mass burial pits. Make your choice.

Did We Just Get Lucky?

Through the winter of 2005-2006 there were dire fears about explosive spreading of H5N1 into Africa, and then back into Europe during the spring and summer of 2006. Fears were tied to the return of migrating wild birds. So far, those fears have not turned into fact. What happened?²³

Amazingly, scientists don't know the answer to this key question. It is likely that infected birds did not survive the long trip. That scenario would bode well for American soil avoiding H5N1 brought in by migrating birds. The public and federal government were gearing up for H5N1-bearing flocks swooping into North America. This scenario almost certainly will not happen. Even if it did happen, that is probably not the real human pandemic danger. Another hopeful fact from the spring of 2006 is the sharp drop-off of reported H5N1 infections, both in poultry and humans, in areas of Asia worst affected. Officials are quick to credit their efforts at vaccination of domestic poultry and culling infected flocks. I suspect they are mostly correct. However, there are other natural variables in spring beyond human control, such as wild birds dispersing to mate. Vaccination of poultry could ultimately be worse than no vaccination. Many domestic birds may still harbor the virus, but not show outward symptoms. Vaccinations could increase natural selection pressure on H5N1 to mutate around the old vaccine, so that it could self-perpetuate.

Even though much of the world is experiencing a bird flu lull, this is not true for several countries that either cannot or will not do what China, Vietnam and Thailand have done to fight its spread. Myanmar, formerly Burma, is Southeast Asia's version of North Korea. Its 46 million people are dealing with ongoing H5N1, and we don't know how bad it is there.

Indonesia is another prime example of the ongoing threat. According to the World Health Organization, as of May 8, 2006 Indonesia had 33 laboratory-confirmed human cases, 25 of which were fatal.²⁴ <u>That's a 75%</u> <u>death rate</u>. The May 19th WHO report revealed the total in Indonesia was up to 41 confirmed cases, 32 of which were fatal.²⁵ <u>That's a 78% death</u> <u>rate</u>.

Just because some birds made their way back from Africa without infection, it's way too early to think of H5N1 as Y2K #2. More likely, we have been given some more time to prepare, which will save more lives. It is important to remember that H5N1 "vanished" after all the stricken birds in Hong Kong were eliminated in 1997, only to reappear in a more virulent form years later. H5N1 is still aggressive in multiple areas of the world. It has not vanished. It has only not reappeared in birds flying back from Africa, and it has been for now diminished in the Asian areas worst hit in 2004 and 2005.

What the period of time from late summer 2006 into winter holds for the world is yet to unfold. Even if we again "get lucky" this winter of 2006-2007, the lethal virus will still be around, constantly shape shifting to pick the lock of our defenses.

Meanwhile, the World Health Organization in May of 2006 rushed to analyze an extended family on Indonesia's island of Sumatra, where seven members came down with avian H5N1, and six died.²⁶ This may be

the first documented cluster where there is a double jump from human to human.²⁷ On the other hand, it most likely is not the only significant cluster.²⁸ Six out of seven dead: <u>*That's an 85% death rate.*</u>

Relative Risks

Recommendations in this book would be changed if we were 100% certain that H5N1 would never spread easily among people. There are arguments both for and against this bad *possibility*. At the same time, nobody knows the *probability* of a highly contagious human variant emerging. Probability is our best guess before the event.

If the probability is zero, then we are safe from this threat, but not necessarily safe from other lethal viral candidates. If the probability is 100%, then H5N1 is virtually certain to become a human pandemic. Waiting years to find out which guess about the future becomes fact is absurd. Pandemic preparations take much longer. Once the fateful evolution has occurred, humanity moves from preparation to survival.

There are careless people who gamble with their personal safety. Few careless people will be readers of this book. Perversely, television is profiting from safety-conscious people who view "reality" shows featuring attractive money-seekers gambling with their safety. An anthropological argument could be made that both risk tendencies in human nature have helped our species evolve toward temporary supremacy on this planet. Risk can be fine for a species, but what about our personal survival?

If the probability for an accident is low, and the cost of the accident itself is minimal – then a prudent person might be tempted to not prepare.

In contrast, if the probability for another type of accident is low, but the cost of that accident could be catastrophic – then a prudent person would be very wise to fully prepare. That is why we wear safety belts in cars, and obey traffic laws. Failure to protect our bodies against an unlikely major crash could instantly lead to death or disability. Even with full safety preparation, some people will die on the highway.

A worst-case H5N1 pandemic threatens human life like a major car crash, except that the probability of an H5N1 pandemic this decade is generally recognized to be much greater than the probability that you and your family will be in a major car crash.

It is therefore equally wise to always use your vehicle safety equipment, and to fully prepare now for the approaching viral horror.

¹Knox, Noelle. WHO: "Matter of time" before pandemic strikes. *USA Today.* 11/7/2005. (http://www.usatoday.com/news/world/2005-1107-who-flu_x.htm)

CNN. Experts warn bird flu more diverse. *CNN.com.* February 7, 2006. (http://www.cnn.com/2006/HEALTH/02/07/birdflu.vaccine/ index.html/)

http://www.fao.org/ag/againfo/programmes/en/empres/ maps.html

Testing birds for bird flu begins in Alaska. *CNN.* May 19, 2006. (http://www.cnn.com/2006/HEALTH/05/19/birdflu.testing.ap/index.ht ml)

⁵ Manning, Anita. With avian flu spreading, U.S. to expand its testing. USA Today. 3/7/2006. (http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/ 2006-03-07-bird-migration_x.htm)

Rosenthal, Elizabeth. Recent Spread of Bird Flu Confounds Experts. The New York Times. March 6, 2006. (http://www.nytimes.com/2006/ 03/06/international/europe/06flu.html)

BBC News. New bird flu deaths in Indonesia. Feb. 4, 2006. (http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/asia-pacific/4681242.stm)

Oboh, Mike. Bird flu reaches Africa. *Swissinfo.* Feb. 8, 2006. (http://www.swissinfo.org/sen/swissinfo.html?siteSect=143&sid=6449 727&cKey=1139399436000)

¹⁰ http://www.usatoday.com/news/world/2006-02-18-india-birdflu_x.htm

11

Associated Press. Researchers say bird flu could be contained. *MSNBC.* (http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/8808804)

12

MosNews. Bird Flu Virus May Infect One Third of World's Population – Russian Expert. *MosNews.com*. March 7, 2006.

(http://www.mosnews.com/news/2006/03/07/birdfluepidemy.shtml)

¹³WHO. Marburg haemorrhagic fever in Angola-update. 12 Mar. 2005. (http://www.who.int/csr/don/2005_03_23/en/)

¹⁴ Davis, Mike. The Coming Avian Flu Pandemic. *Znet.* August 17, 2005. (http://www.zmag.org/content/showarticle.cfm?ItemID=8523) See also Mike Davis' book, *The Monster at Our Door: The Globa*l *Threat of Avian Flu* (The New Press, 2005).

De Jong, *et al.* A pandemic warning? *Nature.* 389, 554 (09 October 1997); doi: 10.1038/39218 (http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/8808804/) ¹⁶ Sipress, Alan. Indonesia Neglected Bird Flu Until Too Late, Experts Say. *Washington Post Foreign Service*. October 20, 2005. (http://www.washingtonpost.com/wpdyn/content/article/2005/10/19/AR20051019021 47_pf.html)

^{1'} bird flu `could kill 150m people.' *BBC News.* 30 September 2005. (http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/asia-pacific/4292426.stm)

¹⁰ Lowy Institute. Global Macroeconomic Consequences of Pandemic Influenza. The Australian National University. February 2006. (http://www.brookings.edu/views/papers/mckibbin/200602.pdf)

¹Stalin. (http://www.worldofquotes.com/topic/Death-_Immortality/3/index.html)

Hallam, Kristen. Bird Flu Death Toll Rises to 82 Out of 151 Infected, WHO Says. *Bloomberg.com.* Jan. 23, 2006. (http://www.bloomberg.com/apps/news?pid=10000080&sid= ayy3pkAo6oew&refer=asia)

Associated Press. U.S. health secretary warns of future bird flu pandemic. *USA Today*. 10/10/2005.

(http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/2005-10-10-leavitt_x.htm)

Esguerra, Christian V. Filipinos in denial over bird flu, says health official. *INQ7express.* November 28, 2005. (http://news.inq7.net/express/html_output/20051128-58009.xml.html)

Redeker, Bill. Migrating Flocks Not Carrying Bird Flu to Europe. *ABC News.* May 11, 2006. (http://abcnews.go.com/Health/story?id= 1950444&page=1)

²⁴WHO. Avian influenza – situation in Indonesia – update 11. 8 May 2006. (http://www.who.int/csr/don/2006_05_08/en/index.html)

http://www.who.int/csr/don/2006_05_19/en/index.html

26

Sipress, Alan. WHO Probes Bird Flu Cluster. *The Washington Post*. May 19, 2006; page A17.

(http://www.washingtonpost.com/wpdyn/content/article/2006/05/18/AR20060518004 37.html) 27

¹ McNeil, Jr., Donald G. Bird Flu Case May Be First Double Jump. The New York Times. May 24, 2006. (http://www.nytimes.com/2006/ 05/24/world/asia/24birdflu.html)

²⁰ McNeil, Jr., Donald G. Human Flu Transfers May Exceed Reports. *The New York Times.* June 4, 2006. (http://www.nytimes.com/2006/ 06/04/world/asia/04flu.html)

III. How Pandemic Influenzas Appear

There is only one influenza A species. There are many variants within this species, actual and possible. There are other influenza species, but only this one causes deadly human pandemics. These ancient organisms are still on Earth because they can morph into new forms faster than forces against them work. They exhibit evolution at its finest, or worst, depending on the perspective. Some viruses even infect bacteria. They are not independently alive. They are a combination of protein and genetic material that must hijack the mechanisms inside cells to reproduce.¹ Long after the last humans have vanished viruses of every type will be robustly reproducing wherever and whenever they can.

We humans are not without resources to combat viruses. Yes, a perfectly targeted vaccine that also proportionately stimulates T-cells is best. However, there are other tools we can employ. One of the strongest tools is sheer knowledge of our natural adversary. In this chapter we will learn enough to appreciate their power, and start to see ways we can manage, not defeat, them in our lives.

One of the best sources of information is the 2005 *HHS Pandemic Influenza Plan*.² Here is a portion of Appendix B:

"Pandemics of influenza are extreme infectious disease outbreaks. Although many infectious disease outbreaks (e.g. Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome [SARS], Ebola, HIV, or West Nile Virus) can cause devastation, these infections are typically limited in their spread to either localized areas or regions, or to at-risk populations. Pandemic influenza, by contrast, is an explosive global event in which most, if not all, populations worldwide are at risk for infection and illness. In past pandemics, influenza viruses have spread worldwide within months and are expected to spread even more quickly today given modern travel patterns.

It is the sheer scope of influenza pandemics, with their potential to rapidly spread and overwhelm societies and cause illnesses and deaths among all age groups, which distinguishes pandemic influenza from other emerging infectious disease threats and makes pandemic influenza one of the most feared emerging infectious disease threats.

A. Influenza viruses

The agent of pandemic influenza is the influenza virus, which is also responsible for causing seasonal influenza, known by most persons as the flu. Seasonal influenza, a common disease characterized by symptoms such as fever, fatigue, body pain, headache, dry cough, and sore throat, affects large numbers of people each year. Although most people infected with flu recover, it is still responsible for approximately 36,000 deaths³ and 226,000 hospitalizations each year in the U.S."

Seasonal influenza is underrated. Only because we are accustomed to its regular appearance do we tolerate its deadly toll. Its carnage is typically about 10,000 below the annual carnage on our highways.

The big difference is that anybody of any age can perish instantly in a car wreck, whereas seasonal "human" flu takes more people who are very old or already sick. Vehicle wrecks can be gory, but passing away in the hospital looks more normal.

Seasonal influenzas come in like regular tides. Pandemics can come in like awesome tidal waves. The total number of seasonal influenza deaths since 1920 would rival or exceed the body count now from a nasty pandemic of bird flu – but that's comparing 86 years to one year. The HHS pandemic background document continues:

"Influenza viruses are negative-stranded RNA viruses that have been classified taxonomically as orthomyxoviruses; they are divided into two types: "A" and "B" viruses. Influenza type C is not known to cause disease in humans and so is not applicable to this discussion. The remarkable variation of influenza strains—particularly type A—and their ability to cause annual epidemics of respiratory illness of varying intensity and severity, continue to be the focus of intense investigation. Only type A viruses are known to cause pandemics. Type A viruses are further divided into subtypes based on the specific hemagglutinin (H) and neuraminidase (N) proteins on the virus surface. Currently, two subtypes of A viruses are in worldwide circulation in humans: H3N2 and H1N1. The emergence of both of these subtypes in the 20th century led to separate pandemics. For example, the 1918 pandemic resulted from the emergence and spread of the H1N1 virus while the 1968 pandemic was associated with the H3N2 virus. The 1957 pandemic was associated with the emergence and spread of the H2N2 virus; however, this virus subtype stopped circulating in 1968. Influenza pandemics are believed to have occurred for at least 300 years at unpredictable intervals.

B. Why influenza pandemics occur

1. Drift and shift

An important feature of influenza viruses that helps to explain much of their epidemiological patterns is the ability and propensity of these viruses to modify (drift)

or replace (shift) two key viral proteins, hemagglutinin and neuraminidase, on the viral surface. Because these proteins are the main targets for the immune system, changes in these proteins can have minor to profound effects on the antigenicity of influenza viruses.

a) Drift

Influenza viruses can change through antigenic drift, which is a process in which mutations to the virus genome produce changes in the viral H or N. Drift is a continuous ongoing process that results in the emergence of new strain variants. The amount of change can be subtle or dramatic, but eventually one of the new variant strains becomes dominant, usually for a few years, until a new variant emerges and replaces it. In essence, drift affects the influenza viruses that are already in worldwide circulation. This process allows influenza viruses to change and re-infect people repeatedly through their lifetime and is the reason the influenza virus strains in vaccine must be updated each year.

b) Shift

In contrast to drift, pandemic viruses arise through a process known as antigenic shift. In this process, the surface existing viral H and N proteins are not modified, but are replaced by significantly different H and Ns. Since influenza A viruses that bear new (or novel) H or H/N combinations are perceived by immune systems as new, most people do not have pre-existing antibody protection to these novel viruses. This is one of the reasons that pandemic viruses can have such severe impact on the health of populations."

Left to their own devices in an abstract world unrelated to their hosts, influenza viruses (if they existed at all) would never mutate. They would exist as particles frozen in limbo between not-life and life. It is because they are actively interacting with their living hosts, and with each other, that these viruses mutate.

Birds are more distantly related to humans than mammals, so it may be harder for the right combination to emerge from birds to humans without any intermediaries. This is why a mammalian mixing bowl can establish a dominant strain that can transfer from human to human easily. It has been suggested that the alpha case of the 1918 flu began with a man who was reported cleaning hog pens prior to his infection.⁴

Here is more of the same HHS document:

"Novel influenza viruses occasionally emerge among humans as part of the natural ecology and biology of influenza viruses. Wild birds are considered the reservoir for influenza viruses because more influenza A subtypes (15) circulate among wild birds than humans or other animal species. Normally, animal influenza viruses do not infect

humans. However, avian influenza viruses can sometimes cross this barrier and directly infect humans. This was demonstrated in 1997, when an outbreak of avian influenza A (H5N1) viruses infected both domestic poultry and humans in Hong Kong, leading to 18 hospitalizations and 6 deaths. Since then, other outbreaks of avian viruses (such as H9N2 in 1999, H7N2 in 2002, H7N7 in 2003, and H5N1 again in 2004) have occurred and been found to directly infect people. Fortunately, these avian viruses lacked the ability to spread easily from person-to-person and therefore did not precipitate larger outbreaks or a pandemic.

Pandemic viruses can also arise when some of the genes from animal influenza viruses mix or reassort with some of the genes from human influenza viruses to create a new hybrid influenza virus. This can occur when a single animal (for example, a pig or possibly a person) is simultaneously co-infected by both a human influenza virus and an avian influenza virus. In this situation, genes from the human and avian viruses can reassort and create a virus with the surface proteins derived from the avian virus (hence, creating a new subtype) and the internal proteins derived from the human virus, enhancing the transmissibility of the hybrid virus. The process of reassortment is not theoretical. Reassorted viruses have been frequently identified and are thought to have been responsible for the 1957 and 1968 pandemic viruses."

This mixing bowl concept is amplified by the observations of Dr. Robert G. Webster, when he notes:⁵

"Swine have been considered a logical intermediate for the re-assortment of influenza viruses, for they can serve as hosts for viruses from either birds or humans. Additionally, pigs have receptors for both avian and human influenza viruses, and are susceptible to infection with all of the avian subtypes so far tested (H1 – H13)."

Because genetic drifting and shifting is essentially random, it is also a numbers game. It's like buying lottery tickets. The number you pick is random, and the winning number is random. The more tickets you buy, the greater your chance of winning. Therefore, the more opportunity a lethal avian virus has to become a human-adapted pandemic virus, the greater the probability for success.

China had in 1968 (when the most recent pandemic broke out) a human population of 790 million, a swine population of 5.2 million, and a poultry population of 12.3 million. Just thirty-eight years later, China offers spectacularly more genetic opportunities for a "winning combination" of human-to-human transmissibility to occur. There are an estimated 1.3 billion people there, with 508 million swine, and 13 billion poultry. Similar changes have occurred elsewhere in Southeast Asia.⁶ If you were a gambler, would you bet against those new odds? I continue this chapter tutorial on influenza viruses with a selection from the "Pandemic Influenza" essay published by the Infectious Diseases Society of America.⁷ Pay close attention to the end discussion regarding the physical characteristics of influenza A viruses, because here is part of the answer for how we can defend against them:

"• Family: Orthomyxoviridae

Enveloped virions are 80 to 120 nm in diameter, 200 to 300 nm long, and may be filamentous.

They consist of spike-shaped surface proteins, a partially host-derived lipid-rich envelope, and matrix (M) proteins surrounding a helical segmented nucleocapsid (6 to 8 segments).

The family contains five genera, classified by variations in nucleoprotein (NP and M) antigens: influenza A, influenza B, influenza C, thogotovirus, and isavirus.

• Genus: Influenzavirus A

Consists of a single species: influenza A virus.

Influenza A viruses are a major cause of influenza in humans.

All past influenza pandemics have been caused by influenza A viruses.

The multipartite genome is encapsidated, with each segment in a separate nucleocapsid. Eight different segments of negative-sense single-stranded RNA are present; this allows for genetic reassortment in single cells infected with more than one virus and may result in multiple strains that are different from the initial ones. The genome consists of 10 genes encoding transcriptases (PB2, PB1, and PA), surface glycoproteins (hemagglutinin [HA] and neuraminidase [NA]), nonstructural proteins (NS1 and NS2), matrix proteins (M1 and M2), and a nucleocapsid protein (NP). The virus envelope glycoproteins (HA and NA) are distributed evenly over the virion surface, forming characteristic spike-shaped structures. Antigenic variation in these proteins is used as part of

the influenza A virus subtype definition (but not used for influenza B or C viruses).

• Influenza A virus subtypes

There are 16 different HA antigens (H1 to H16) and nine different NA antigens (N1 to N9) for influenza A. Until recently, 15 HA types had been recognized, but a new type (H16) was isolated from black-headed gulls caught in Sweden and the Netherlands in 1999 and reported in the literature in 2005.

Human disease historically has been caused by three subtypes of HA (H1, H2, and H3) and two subtypes of NA (N1 and N2).

More recently, human disease has been recognized to be caused by additional HA subtypes, including H5, H7, and H9.

All known subtypes of influenza A can be found in birds, and feral aquatic birds are the major reservoir for influenza A viruses. Feral birds generally do not develop severe disease from influenza.

Two subtypes (H5 and H7) have caused severe outbreaks of disease in domestic bird populations (referred to as highly pathogenic avian influenza [HPAI]).

Influenza A viruses have traditionally been known to also cause disease in horses, pigs, whales, and seals; however, the range of several influenza A subtypes is

expanding to different mammalian species. H5N1 influenza A recently has been shown to infect cats, leopards, and tigers. Cases of canine influenza have been recognized in the United States and are being caused by H3N8 influenza A, a subtype traditionally found in horses.

• Influenza A virus subtype strains

Antigenic strain nomenclature is based on: (1) host of origin (if other than human), (2) geographic origin, (3) strain number, (4) year of isolation, and (5) HA and NA type. (Examples are as follows: A/Hong Kong/03/68[H3N2],

A/swine/Iowa/15/30[H1N1].)

H5N1 strains have been differentiated into genetic clades, with nonoverlapping case distributions. All human H5N1 strains are grouped in clade 1.

• Classification of influenza A strains by pandemic potential

Strains from past pandemics: "Noncontemporary" strains are those from previous pandemics that pose some degree of risk to the public owing to decreased immunity in the current population. The term is currently used to describe strains from the Asian flu (H2N2) but could be applied to strains from the earlier Spanish flu pandemic (H1N1).

Nonpandemic strains: These include recent and current circulating strains belonging to H1N1, H3N2, and H1N2 subtypes.

Potential pandemic strains: Potential pandemic strains must have

the following features: (1) have an antigenic makeup to which the population is immunologically na•ve, (2) be able to replicate in humans, and (3) efficiently transmit from human to human. Because of homosubtypic immunity, new pandemic strains are most likely to be of subtypes not previously recognized in human populations. Currently, strains of H5 and H7 subtypes are of greatest concern.

Animal pandemic strains: Animal strains such as avian influenza (H5N1) are not considered human pandemic strains unless the above criteria are met, but they have significant potential to evolve into new human pandemic strains through the process of genetic reassortment.

• Physical characteristics of influenza A viruses

Strains are sensitive to lipid solvents, nonionic detergents, formaldehyde, and oxidizing agents.

They are inactivated by ionizing radiation, pH extremes (>9 or <5), and temperatures greater than 50 iC.

Viruses remain infectious after 24 to 48 hours on nonporous environmental surfaces, and less than 12 hours on porous surfaces."

It is tempting to place all of the above into a textbook framework, mostly theoretical and historical. However, today's avian events will lead to tomorrow's human drama. Consider this evolving news report out of Vietnam:

Reuters reported in November of 2005 that the director of Vietnam's center on bird flu research revealed that 24 samples of virus taken from poultry and humans showed significant changes in surface proteins, the

HA and NA molecules. These changes can result in the appearance of pandemic viruses. Their tests revealed that the PB2 gene in a virus sample from a patient who died earlier this year had mutated in a way that allows more effective breeding of the virus in mammals.[®]

Consider this more recent evolving news report in January 2006 from Turkey:

"The World Health Organization confirmed that the H5N1 strain of the virus that infected Turkey's fowl and its human victims is a more infectious version than most that have cropped up in East Asia. *In at least one case, the virus was able to bind more easily to human cells than cells in birds, WHO reported.* The agency compared the strain to others found in Hong Kong in 2003 and Vietnam in 2005."

1918 and 2006

There were three pandemics in the 20° century. The ones in 1957 and 1968 were "wimps" relative to the first one. There is another great difference between the first one and the last two – how the pandemic viruses were assembled.

The 1957 virus came from a reassortment between two viruses. The 1957 variant probably involved an infected human or pig, whereby an avian H2N2 influenza virus combined with a human H1N1 virus.

In 1968 this virus was replaced by another reassortment event involving both human and avian strains, yielding H3N2. Descendants of that virus afflict us today, and five of today's H3N2 genes have their origin in the 1918 pandemic. A version of H3N2 has been the dominant strain during the winter of 2005-2006.

New pandemic influenza viruses don't need to combine with other variants. The recently reconstructed Spanish Flu strain was a pure avian strain that adapted to humans.¹⁰ One speculation says H1N1 may have been active in military Europe two years before it became a pandemic. If so, that H1N1 strain was gradually acquiring the ability to attack humans, and then it quickly completed the final pandemic metamorphosis. That scenario, if true, would parallel what seems to be happening now with avian H5N1.

We should not be thinking that just because something has been primarily a bird flu, that it never will adapt enough to also become a human flu. 1918 proved otherwise. In Turkey during 2006 H5N1 has shown it is already starting to move our way.

Comparing Colds to Influenza

Everybody has had a series of colds. How do these pesky viruses stack up against influenza viruses? Because there are so many people getting infected with colds, the sheer numbers look like a "pandemic" every year. This is an illusion, because each genuine pandemic involves basically one very contagious pathogen that races around the world, with some modification in its genes over the course of the pandemic. In contrast, there are many viruses that yield typical cold symptoms during any one season, none of which achieves pandemic status. There are some similarities in their many varieties, and similar precautions are advised to avoid and manage both colds and influenza.

Here is some of what the National Institutes of Health says about the all-too-common cold:¹¹

"In the course of a year, people in the United States suffer 1 billion colds, according to some estimates.

Children have about 6 to 10 colds a year. One important reason why colds are so common in children is because they are often in close contact with each other in daycare centers and schools. In families with children in school, the number of colds per child can be as high as 12 a year. Adults average about 2 to 4 colds a year, although the range varies widely. Women, especially those aged 20 to 30 years, have more colds than men, possibly because of their closer contact with children. On average, people older than 60 have fewer than one cold a year.

More than 200 different viruses are known to cause the symptoms of the common cold. Some, such as the rhinoviruses, seldom produce serious illnesses. Others, such as parainfluenza and respiratory syncytial virus, produce mild infections in adults but can precipitate severe lower respiratory infections in young children. Rhinoviruses (from the Greek *rhin*, meaning "nose") cause an estimated 30 to 35 percent of all adult colds, and are most active in early fall, spring, and summer. More than 110 distinct rhinovirus types have been identified. These agents grow best at temperatures of about 91 degrees Fahrenheit, the temperature inside the human nose.

Scientists think coronaviruses cause a large percentage of all adult colds. They bring on colds primarily in the winter and early spring. Of the more than 30 kinds, three or four infect humans. The importance of coronaviruses as a cause of colds is hard to assess because, unlike rhinoviruses, they are difficult to grow in the laboratory.

Approximately 10 to 15 percent of adult colds are caused by viruses also responsible for other, more severe illnesses: adenoviruses, coxsackieviruses, echoviruses, orthomyxoviruses (including influenza A and B viruses, which cause flu), paramyxoviruses (including several parainfluenza viruses), respiratory syncytial virus, and enteroviruses.

The causes of 30 to 50 percent of adult colds, presumed to be viral, remain unidentified. The same viruses that produce colds in adults appear to cause colds in children. The relative importance of various viruses in pediatric colds, however, is unclear because it's difficult to isolate the precise cause of symptoms in studies of children with colds.

The weather

There is no evidence that you can get a cold from exposure to cold weather or from getting chilled or overheated.

Other factors

There is also no evidence that your chances of getting a cold are related to factors such as exercise, diet, or enlarged tonsils or adenoids. On the other hand, research suggests that psychological stress and allergic diseases affecting your nose or throat may have an impact on your chances of getting infected by cold viruses.

THE COLD SEASON

In the United States, most colds occur during the fall and winter. Beginning in late August or early September, the rate of colds increases slowly for a few weeks and remains high until March or April, when it declines. The seasonal variation may relate to the opening of schools and to cold weather, which prompt people to spend more time indoors and increase the chances that viruses will spread to you from someone else.

Seasonal changes in relative humidity also may affect the prevalence of colds. The most common cold-causing viruses survive better when humidity is low, the colder months of the year. Cold weather also may make the inside lining of your nose drier and more vulnerable to viral infection.

SYMPTOMS

Symptoms of the common cold usually begin 2 to 3 days after infection and often include

- * Mucus buildup in your nose
- * Difficulty breathing through your nose
- * Swelling of your sinuses

- * Sneezing
- * Sore throat
- * Cough
- * Headache

Fever is usually slight but can climb to 102 degrees Fahrenheit in infants and young children. Cold symptoms can last from 2 to 14 days, but like most people, you'll probably recover in a week. If symptoms occur often or last much longer than 2 weeks, you might have an allergy rather than a cold.

Colds occasionally can lead to bacterial infections of your middle ear or sinuses, requiring treatment with antibiotics. High fever, significantly swollen glands, severe sinus pain, and a cough that produces mucus, may indicate a complication or more serious illness requiring a visit to your healthcare provider.

TRANSMISSION

You can get infected by cold viruses by either of these methods.

* Touching your skin or environmental surfaces, such as telephones and stair rails, that have cold germs on them and then touching your eyes or nose

* Inhaling drops of mucus full of cold germs from the air TREATMENT

There is no cure for the common cold, but you can get relief from your cold symptoms by

- * Resting in bed
- * Drinking plenty of fluids

* Gargling with warm salt water or using throat sprays or lozenges for a scratchy or sore throat

- * Using petroleum jelly for a raw nose
- * Taking aspirin or acetaminophen, Tylenol, for example, for headache or fever

A word of caution: Several studies have linked aspirin use to the development of Reye's syndrome in children recovering from flu or chickenpox. Reye's syndrome is a rare but serious illness that usually occurs in children between the ages of 3 and 12 years. It can affect all organs of the body but most often the brain and liver. While most children who survive an episode of Reye's syndrome do not suffer any lasting consequences, the illness can lead to permanent brain damage or death. The American Academy of Pediatrics recommends children and teenagers not be given aspirin or medicine containing aspirin when they have any viral illness such as the common cold.

Over-the-counter cold medicines

Nonprescription cold remedies, including decongestants and cough suppressants, may relieve some of your cold symptoms, but will not prevent or even shorten the
length of your cold. Moreover, because most of these medicines have some side effects, such as drowsiness, dizziness, insomnia, or upset stomach, you should take them with care.

Over-the counter-antihistamines

Nonprescription antihistamines may give you some relief from symptoms such as runny nose and watery eyes, which are commonly associated with colds.

Antibiotics

Never take antibiotics to treat a cold because antibiotics do not kill viruses. You should use these prescription medicines only if you have a rare bacterial complication, such as sinusitis or ear infections. In addition, you should not use antibiotics "just in case" because they will not prevent bacterial infections.

Steam

Although inhaling steam may temporarily relieve symptoms of congestion, health experts have found that this approach is not an effective treatment.

PREVENTION

There are several ways you can keep yourself from getting a cold or passing one on to others.

* Because cold germs on your hands can enter through your eyes and nose, keep your hands away from those areas of your body

- * If possible, avoid being close to people who have colds
- * If you have a cold, avoid being close to people
- * If you sneeze or cough, cover your nose or mouth.

Handwashing

Handwashing with soap and water is the simplest and one of the most effective ways to keep from getting colds or giving them to others. During cold season, you should wash your hands often and teach your children to do the same. When water isn't available, CDC recommends using alcohol-based products made for washing hands.

Disinfecting

Rhinoviruses can live up to 3 hours on your skin. They also can survive up to 3 hours on objects such as telephones and stair railings. Cleaning environmental surfaces with a virus-killing disinfectant might help prevent spread of infection.

Vaccine

Because so many different viruses can cause the common cold, the outlook for developing a vaccine that will prevent transmission of all of them is dim. RESEARCH

Thanks to basic research, scientists know more about the rhinovirus than almost any other virus, and have powerful new tools for developing antiviral drugs. Although the common cold may never be uncommon, further investigations offer the hope of reducing the huge burden of this universal problem.

Much of the research on the transmission of the common cold has been done with rhinoviruses, which are shed in the highest concentration in nasal secretions. Studies suggest a person is most likely to transmit rhinoviruses in the second to fourth day of infection, when the amount of virus in nasal secretions is highest.

Researchers also have shown that using aspirin to treat colds increases the amount of virus in nasal secretions, possibly making the cold sufferer more of a hazard to others."

Two Recent Discoveries

(1) Early in 2006 scientists using 3-D electron microscopy reported that they now basically understand how all influenza A viruses, including H5N1, replicate inside our cells.¹² Anytime we understand a critical reproductive link there is an opportunity to disrupt that link. A chain is only as strong as its weakest link – so too the replication of viruses inside our cells may have a similarly weak link.

Researchers need to discover and test something that will disrupt that intra-cellular gene link. Time is not on our side. Basic science could be a decade away from delivering anything to your doctor's office. Here is great science today for the grateful doctors and patients of tomorrow.

(2) Dual reports in March of 2006 related to lung receptor sites where H5N1 attacks. Unlike seasonal flu, the killer variant prefers to lock onto cells deep in the lungs. Upper respiratory infections can spread more easily by coughing. That one difference mostly explains why, so far, humans have not been easily infected other humans.

The March 23, 2006 article in *The New York Times* explained the second discovery with a cheery headline suggesting a pandemic is not imminent. However, buried in the article were these sobering words of caution:¹³

"The H5 strain of avian flu has so far failed to develop a pandemic form. Some virologists fear it may need only better transmissibility. The new findings suggest that the virus could acquire such a property by switching its preference from the cell

receptor found in the lower lung, known as alpha 2-3, to the receptor found on cells in the upper airways, known as alpha 2-6.

A team of scientists at the Scripps Research Institute reported in *Science* last week that only a couple of mutations might be needed to enable the H5 virus to make this switch to the alpha 2-6 receptor. This is the about same number of mutations made by the H1, H2 and H3 viruses when they adapted to infect people. Since viruses mutate fast, a two-mutation step is not such a big hurdle.

Because the H5 virus has killed about half of the 187 people it has infected, 'a lot of its genes are already optimized for virulence,' said James C. Paulson, a member of the Scripps team. For H5 to become pandemic, 'the key gene that needs to be mutated is the HA gene,' he said, referring to the hemagglutinin gene that makes the protein probe used by the virus to latch onto a cell's receptor sites."

How Bad Gets Worse

One of the key events in the Spanish Flu era was how the virus started out less lethal than it later became. Indeed, the second wave in early fall of 1918 was the great killer. Logically, one might think that a less-lethal virus should have better survival potential than a more-lethal variant, since victims of the less severe strain would survive longer to transmit that strain. Pandemic influenza may challenge this old model, since its attack rate (infectivity) is so high in modern, mobile society. On the other hand, the model is somewhat confirmed in that the third wave in the winter of 1918-1919 was less lethal than the second.

Research at the University of North Carolina points to cellular oxidation as a stimulus for viral mutations. The RNA-based influenza viruses are notoriously unstable. Anything, such as a diet deficient in antioxidants, that enhances their tendency to mutate while replicating could lead to more lethal strains. Here is part of what these researchers found:¹⁴

"Our laboratory has shown, using a mouse model of coxsackievirusinduced myocarditis, that a host deficiency in either selenium or vitamin E leads to a change in viral phenotype, such that an avirulent strain of the virus becomes virulent and a virulent strain becomes more virulent. The change in phenotype was shown to be due to point mutations in the viral genome. Once the mutations occur, the phenotype change is stable and can now be expressed even in mice of normal nutriture."

More recent research from the same group, using influenza virus, found that such mutations occurred not in the usual suspects, the HA, NA, or M2 genes, but in the M1 matrix protein genes, previously thought to be more stable. Here is part of their conclusion:¹⁵

"Selenium is a component of the peroxide-destroying enzyme glutathione peroxidase, and a dietary deficiency in Se leads to increased oxidative stress in the host due to a loss of this antioxidant protection. Because a host Se deficiency had been shown earlier to increase the mutation rate of a Picornavirus, coxsackievirus B3, we theorized that a decrease in host Se status might do the same for the influenza virus. If the oxidative stress status of the host altered the genome of a virus outside the Picornavirus family, this would suggest that RNA viruses in general may be susceptible to oxidative damage. This could provide a novel mechanism for the emergence of viral diseases."

Because H5N1 is now spreading into rural Africa and India, as well as into other poor areas, it will encounter a huge number of human "mixing bowls" deficient in dietary selenium.

What we don't see with our own eyes is much more complex than what we do see. The human body is a dynamic system of systems, with trillions of components, some of which are working against our continued existence. Other components will die to protect our existence. Our internal universe is just as fascinating as the external Universe.

¹Cosmic Ancestry. Viruses and Other Gene Transfer Mechanisms. (http://www.panspermia.org/virus.htm)

²U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *HHS Pandemic Influenza Plan*. Appendix B: pandemic influenza background. B-3. November 2005. (http://www.hhs.gov/pandemicflu/plan/pdf/AppB.pdf)

³ Flu Information: How Does Seasonal Flu Differ From Pandemic Flu?

U.S. Dept. of H.H.S.

(http://www.hhs.gov/flu/season_or_pandemic.html)

⁴Hollenbeck, James E. An Avian Connection as a Catalyst to the 1918-1919 Influenza Pandemic. *International Journal of Medica*l *Sciences.* 2005; 2(2): 87-90. Published online 2005 May 15. (http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1145139)

⁵Webster, Robert G. The importance of animal influenza for human disease. *Vaccine* 20 (2002) S16-S20. (http://cmbi.bjmu.edu.cn/ news/report/2005/flu/86.pdf)

⁶Osterholm, Michael T. Preparing for the Next Pandemic. *New England Journal of Medicine.* 352:18. May 5, 2005. (http://www.nejm.org)

⁷ Infectious Diseases Society of America. Pandemic Influenza. Updated November 17, 2005. (http://www.cidrap.umn.edu/idsa/ influenza/panflu/biofacts/panflu.html)

⁸Reuters. Bird flu mutating, Vietnamese study finds: Scientists say

virus is becoming more resistant to some anti-flu agents. *MSNBC*. November 13, 2005. (http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/10020499/)

⁹Williams, Daniel. Bird Flu Fears Rattle Turkey's Chicken Capital. *Washington Post*. January 16, 2006, Page A11. (http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2006/ 01/15/AR2006011500833.html?sub=AR)

¹⁰Belshe, R. B. The Origins of Pandemic Influenza – Lessons from the 1918 Virus. *The New England Journal of Medicine*. Vol. 353:22092211. Nov. 24, 2005. Number 21. (http://content.nejm.org/cgi/ content/full/353/21/2209)

¹¹The Common Cold. *Health Matters.* December 2004. National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, NIH, U.S. Dept. of HHS.

(http://www.niaid.nih.gov/factsheets/cold.htm)

¹²Reuters. Scientists discover how flu viruses replicate. *MSNBC*. January 25, 2006. (http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/11022516/ from/RS.1/)

¹³Wade, Nicholas. Studies Suggest Avian Flu Pandemic Isn't Imminent. *The New York Times.* March 23, 2006. (http://www.nytimes.com/2006/03/23/science/23flu.html)

¹⁴Beck, Melinda A. Increased Virulence of Coxsackievirus B3 in Mice Due to Vitamin E or Selenium Deficiency. *The Journal of Nutrition.* Vol. 127, No.5. May 1997, pp. 9665-9705. (http://www.nutrition. org/cgi/content/full/127/5/966S#SEC4)

¹⁵Nelson, H. K., *et al.* Host nutritional selenium status as a driving force for influenza virus mutations. *The FASEB Journal.* 2001; 15: 1846-1848. (http://www.fasebj.org/cgi/content/full/15/10/1846)

IV. Brief History of Pandemics

Before Humans

Viruses and bacteria are among the most ancient and durable creatures in the universe. One theory has early Earth being seeded by microbe-laden Martian meteorites ejected from the surface of Mars by large meteor strikes. This scenario could have happened more than once during the era of Mars' being warmer and wetter than it is now.¹

It is also possible that comets or other distant bodies have delivered primitive microbes to early Earth, or at least the organic molecules needed for their construction.² A variant of this theory is called **panspermia**. Under panspermia, whenever microbial life forms it does not die off, just spreads from one hospitable location to another, such as Earth. This means our microbial ancestors could have been "aliens."

We don't need to get tangled up with unanswerable questions of first cause, intelligent design, or Darwinian natural selection⁴ to appreciate the elegant fact that viruses have long been on this planet, have always been with us humans, and will be here well after our delicate species has joined the long list of extinct species.⁵

Birds are closely related to the giant feathered dinosaur species such as T-Rex.⁶ Birds are actually avian dinosaurs. Aquatic birds such as wild ducks are typical carriers and natural reservoirs of many types of influenza virus. Every now and then a truly nasty variant of the influenza virus takes down even wild birds, such as the current avian pandemic caused by H5N1, which has killed untold millions of them.

Why then couldn't individual herds of dinosaurs have been decimated by **dinoviruses**, just as tiny microbes killed off H. G. Wells' giant Martian invaders in *The War of The Worlds*? Evidence clearly points to that great Yucatan asteroid as the primary culprit in their final extinction,⁷ but what

effect did ongoing dinovirus pressure have on all those magnificent beasts?

Any social animal on land or in the sea is potentially prone to viral infection, which could weaken its species viability. Less than one percent of all species that have ever lived on Earth are here with us today.[®] Over ninety-nine percent have vanished. I am clearly not blaming viruses and bacteria for killing off all these species, but pathogenic microbes should be considered as part of natural selection.

Were many earlier pandemics partially the result of weakened immune systems brought about by stressful global environmental changes? Or were some prehistoric pandemics alone sufficient to tip the balance to where one species totally loses out to its competitors? Sometimes what we don't see can be worse than what we do see.

The Black Death

The story of plagues in Europe is important, because it helps show what works and what doesn't work in the face of such threats. It also points to how societies sometimes change their cultural paths after such events. Although there have been episodes of the plague in Asia before it came to Europe, the European experience is more educational for our modern era. We can learn when and why it started, and we can learn what worked and what did not work to combat this long lasting pandemic. It is interesting to note that during the mid-fourteenth century the word, *influenza*, was coined.[°] It has an Italian origin, and relates to the idea of a disease being influenced by outside forces, such as the stars or fate.

Otherwise intelligent humans are quick to attribute the unknown in nature to the supernatural. The Islamic world suffered at least five plague epidemics before this disease devastated Europe. Muslim theory said the plague was not a punishment from God, but an opportunity for martyrdom from a compassionate and merciful God. Conversely, Christians in Europe theorized that the plague was a stern punishment from God for the sins of all Christians.¹⁰

Bacteria and viruses were unknown as such until very recently, even though Dr. Jenner's discovery of smallpox vaccinations in 1796 pointed there. It wasn't until the nineteenth century that Pasteur advanced his *germ theory of disease*. Note that it took from 1796 until the end of the twentieth century to eradicate viral smallpox – and this is a disease that only lives in humans.

Even as late as the American Civil War physicians typically did not wash their septic/dirty hands when treating battlefield wounds. They were so arrogant that they thought they would not spread disease like lower class health workers could do.¹¹ Two-thirds of all Civil War military deaths were caused by infectious diseases, many of which could have been prevented by *basic antiseptic practices*.¹²

An event within the population of rodent species reportedly preceded the arrival of the Black Death in medieval Europe. The southern black rat was muscled out by the more aggressive Norway rat, our ubiquitous gray rat. The black rat did not like to cozy up to humankind, but the gray rat found itself right at home with us. The coincidental arrival of the Little Ice Age in Europe intensified this cohabitation in winter. On the backs of these rats rode the flea population infected with plague. Even today the bubonic plague reappears now and then in remote areas of New Mexico, typically brought to humans by field rodents and their fleas.

Sometimes cause and effect is warped by prejudice. The ancient Egyptians had worshipped cats. The medieval Europeans hated cats, especially black cats, which they saw as associates of witches, the natural healers of their day. House cats repel and eat rats around the house. If more cats had been welcomed during the medieval period in Europe, possibly plagues would have been fewer and less severe. Then again, possibly not:

There is a strong argument that the great plague era from 1347 to 1670 in Europe was actually caused by directly infectious plague, a *hemorrhagic plague*, not a bacterium spread only by fleas riding on rats. Did the plague simply evolve to where it could be passed in the air from lung to lung? There are multiple arguments to support the theory that classical bubonic plague was not THE plague that took the lives of nearly forty percent of the population in 14th century Europe, and more lives in subsequent waves, even though ordinary bubonic plague was also part of the scene.¹³

The arrival of plague in Europe dates from a fleet of Genoese merchant galleys packed with infected rats and sailors that unintentionally brought the pestilence to Sicily from the Crimea in autumn of 1347. Militant Genoese Christian merchants had been attacked by Muslims in the Crimea. Because the Christians were well entrenched behind fortress walls, the Muslim army could not penetrate those defenses. At the same time there was plague in the attackers' camp. The attackers hit on the idea of catapulting corpses into the Christian fortress. It worked to infect the citizenry and their defenders. Soon the Christians and their fleas were in their galleys and fleeing back to Europe, where they brought this pestilence to an Italy totally unprepared for what was to come. Within months it was in remote areas of Scandinavia.

Most cities suffered a terrible death toll. However, Milan did not. The town leaders couldn't know what it was, but they figured out that it traveled within families, and then spread to other families. They simply and cruelly locked up entire households inside their own houses when the first member got sick. Weeks later they opened the doors to a dead household. The disease hardly spread. Lives overall were saved in Milan, however cruelly, by this social distancing and total quarantine.¹⁴

The late medieval plagues were a major reason an entire social order fell in the fourteenth century. Before then, nobility and serfs knew their place. After massive and widespread deaths rural nobility were forced to sweeten the deal to repopulate farmlands. Also, the rise of cities competed with estates, offering former serfs an entrepreneurial future. Cities and industry became enriched by new thought focused more on science, and less on divine providence, helping to spark the great Renaissance of the fifteenth century.

Another factor in the transformation of society was the abrupt shift in climate and extended period of cold rain after 1315, when the medieval warm era was followed in Europe by the Little Ice Age, which generally lasted until the middle of the nineteenth century.¹⁵ The average temperature during this time of radical climate change was only a few degrees lower than before. The Earth is very sensitive to small changes in climate. What will happen with global warming in the later 21st century? What would happen to Europe if global warming melts the Arctic and Greenland ice, and stops the Gulf Stream, leading to another localized ice age?¹⁶ It's not nice to fool with Mother Nature, either on a very large or very small scale.

A lesson in limits is here for the 21st century. Offensive defenses can in certain situations be effective, as the Milanese discovered. The recent success containing SARS shows that aggressive containment can make a difference.

Problem is, flu can travel with the speed of jet airplanes, mutating always into more or less severe strains. SARS was from a malicious coronavirus, but the much more infectious flu virus travels among a populace that is used to seasonal flu. Locking families in their houses won't stop influenza. Ordinary flu strains, even Type A influenza, kill only a small percentage of those they infect, mostly among the elderly. The emerging bird flu could make ill thirty percent or more of our population, even with public hygiene in place. With no strong vaccine, and precious little antiviral medicine that works, a *ten percent* death rate among those clinically infected is possible. That would kill nine million Americans. Spread the numbers worldwide, and you have something on the scale of a limited nuclear war, without radiation.

No terrorist attack could do this much damage – unless, of course, they got access to certain pathogens now being created for surreal reasons by "anti-terrorist" government labs. Or maybe they got a vial of the recently recreated Spanish Flu virus!¹⁷ You can appreciate the massive irony: It's like World War One being called the "war to end wars." Or the infamous Vietnam War justification for the My Lai massacre: "In order to save the village, we had to destroy it."¹⁸ If rogue Muslim terrorists going after the "Great Satan" America manage to destroy most of humankind with purloined pathogenic bugs, including millions in their own Muslim countries, how many virgins will be awaiting those jihadists in heaven?

Europeans and American Indians

When Columbus "discovered" America he was at least 15,000 years too late. An estimated seventy-five million aboriginal Americans in a mosaic of cultures already inhabited the entire western hemisphere. Columbus' motives were complex, but those who followed him were mostly interested in gold, land, and power. The problem was, Europeans were few, and the proud Indians warriors were many. Also, there wasn't much superiority of European weaponry over tribal Indian, except for the warhorse. Even the horse could be brought down by Indian weapons such as arrows and spears. So why were the cocky Conquistadors so quickly able to conquer vast lands teeming with warriors?

They had a weapon of mass destruction, their own wretched diseases. First and foremost was smallpox, which was well known to Europeans, but totally unknown to the Indians, much as the H5N1 virus is unknown to everybody in today's world, including Europeans. With no aboriginal American defense against the European diseases, all classes of Indians dropped like bug-sprayed flies.

*By 1619, an estimated 90 percent to 95 percent of the Mesoamerican Indian population levels of 1519 had been killed by European diseases.*¹⁹ When a population, however organized, loses ninety percent of itself, including most of its leaders, that population and its culture are shattered. Into that cultural vacuum rode the gold-crazed, disease-bearing Spanish conquistadors, with God and Pope on their side.

Up north, the 17th century English were at first restricted to the coast, due to the overwhelming power of native society, such as the Powhatan Confederacy. English weaponry was hardly better than Spanish. Inside the forest Indian warriors were fighting on their home turf, and willing to use highly effective guerrilla tactics against the few white invaders.

Alas, the English shared the pathogenic "nuclear option" so readily used by their fellow Europeans. In New England they thinned the heathen herd in the 18th century (including women and children) by giving neighboring Indians blankets that had been wrapped around smallpox victims.²⁰ By the late eighteenth century there were few healthy North American aboriginals in this region standing in the way of so-called Manifest Destiny.

From the Spanish Flu Until Today

Coming into the 20th century science was ascendant. We thought that Darwin, Pasteur, Bell, and other brilliant scientists were leading us into the promised land of rational technology, where mankind would be free from the fickle forces of nature. High on this list of self-praise was the idea of triumphant bacteriology. Success achieved in identifying pathogenic agents of horrible diseases such as cholera, plague, syphilis and anthrax lent credence to the idea that vaccinations would soon sweep away the scourge of disease. One supposed disease organism was the imaginary influenza bacterium, *Haemophilus influenzae*, as postulated by the famous German bacteriologist, Richard Pfeiffer, in 1892.²¹

At the turn of the 20th century the idea of a world war was also outside their consciousness. Simply contrast the image of happy bourgeoisie seen in impressionistic paintings at the turn of the century with the insane reality of life in World War One trenches. At a time when we in America are aghast at the "barbarism" of the Muslim jihad warriors, we need only look at the barbarism of the so-called flower of Western Civilization during that era. More than ten million would-be civilized Christian Europeans died for absolutely nothing other than cultural lunacy. This era was a classic example of highly educated naked apes acting like raving lunatics. In contrast, viruses and bacteria are quite logical and methodical. They simply eat us, multiply, and move on.

While we are casting stones inside our glass house, let's look at one coincidental reason for the end of WWI. The war ended when both sides ran out of healthy bodies to throw against the mustard gas, machine guns, and tanks. The war's end was accelerated by what came to be known as the Spanish Flu.

The **Spanish Flu** was unlike anything else, because it killed at least 2.5 percent of all people infected, and in some age groups as much as ten percent. It became a worldwide pandemic killing 50 million (maybe 100 million) people. In America about 650,000 were killed over two years.²² Unlike the prolonged Black Death era in Europe, which eventually killed tens of millions, this flu epidemic did its worst over two months.

Very often, a previously healthy young person would wake up in the morning feeling fine, and be dead by that night from what we now know was a **cytokine storm**. My unremarkable hometown in America has a mass burial pit into which deceased flu victims were tossed and quickly covered with dirt. There's still plenty of fresh ground remaining for another round of mass burial pits, and three times as many bodies on this planet to slay.

The so-called Spanish Flu was possibly a mutated avian influenza from Asia, or even from the WWI battlefields, but also likely a mutated avian flu variant from Kansas or the American east coast. There is uncertainty as to its origin, because modern science wasn't tracking that epidemic to its source. Many different influenza strains circulate at any one time, with many mutations, leading to the possibility that a formerly benign variant could mutate into a potent killer.²³

The 1918 killer virus has just been brilliantly reconstructed with a zeal befitting Disney's sorcerer's apprentice,²⁴ and it's not a very close relative of H5N1, the looming threat from Asia.²⁵ The Spanish Flu virus was a particularly lethal variant of H1N1.²⁶ Today, less lethal variants of H1N1 are included in seasonal vaccines. There are other candidates for the next flu pandemic "out there," such as H7N1, which is not now as bad as H5N1, though still highly deadly in relation to most other infections.

Even if the currently dominant Asian strain of H5N1 doesn't evolve into THE killer, there are many other potentially devastating flu variants waiting for their turn. One thing we now know is that H5N1 and the original H1N1 are both directly of avian origin. They are not partially "human" flu viruses like those that killed "only" one million each in the Hong Kong and the Asian flu epidemics.

Murphy's Law of Influenza Pandemics assures us of disaster. The only epidemiological question is when, not if. Will we be prepared, or not? My best-guess prediction of 2007 being "the" year may be off somewhat in either direction, but the thrust of my argument remains intact. It's not if, but when. When may be long before science and technology are fully prepared to effectively respond globally.

Another unknown is the killing power of the mutated strain. It could be an "ordinary pandemic," but so far the mutating H5N1 has eerie similarities to the Spanish Flu in how it over stimulates our own defenses, triggering the lethal cytokine storm.²⁷

In 1918 it was noticed that some people beyond a certain age were more able to ward off the lethality of the Spanish Flu. That flu, like the one to come, struck with lethal ferocity among otherwise very healthy young adults and children. It killed directly, not indirectly from opportunistic bacterial infections. Younger adults often developed a *cytokine storm*, as the victim's immune system desperately tried to fight the viral invasion, leading to *acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS)* and rapid death.

Older people had survived similar, but less virulent, influenza attacks in the 1850s and in 1889. So the older generation may have had some minimal immunity before the Spanish Flu hit, reducing their death rate.

What about H5N1? There is no accidental vaccination history by H5N1 variants for the modern world. There is no history of similar infection for the elderly to take comfort in. We are all like the young people who perished early in the 20th century, totally unprepared for the swift viral attack. Let's hope we don't become even remotely like the Inca infected by Europe's germ warfare. Few of these proud Indians survived, and their empire crumbled.

With the newly developed H5N1 vaccines slow in coming, there could be only a few million vaccinations available. After the rich and powerful seize their supplies, what will be left for the rest of us?

Annual flu kills the elderly disproportionately, but pandemics can strike particularly hard at younger age groups. Only a few months before the global 1918 pandemic struck, a round of as-yet-unidentified flu hit New York City, killing 3,000 children. In the winter of 1977-1978, the so-called **Russian Flu** killed large numbers of children, starting in Russia, but few adults, as it was identical to an earlier strain that adults had encountered in 1950. Since the flu readily mutates, I suspect that preserved virus from Soviet-era germ warfare experiments escaped back into the population.

Another way of saying the above is that seasonal influenza epidemics exhibit a "U'' curve in death rates, with the very young and the very old experiencing the greatest mortality. Pandemics can exhibit a "W'' curve, with young and healthy adults perishing at rates equal to or higher than death rates for children and the elderly. This "W'' curve was strikingly evident in the Spanish Flu, and also evident to a lesser degree in the first wave of the **Asian flu during 1957**.

In the **Hong Kong Flu of 1968-1969** the very elderly enjoyed some protection from an earlier variant that circulated at the turn of the century. This is one reason why the Hong Kong Flu pandemic was less lethal worldwide than the Asian flu. That pandemic in the late sixties was a relative wimp. By comparison, there have been zero H5 variants in human circulation within the lifetimes of anybody alive today, which seriously increases our vulnerability.

Will health care policy makers this time give preference to the elderly who would need double doses of the current killed-virus vaccine to prepare their less-vigorous immune systems? Or will the precious vaccine go to grandchildren who would otherwise be defenseless outside a few million globally available doses of Tamiflu and Relenza providing short-term protection and relief, leaving the majority of young people still totally unprotected? How about the young parents of the youngest children who could die at a high rate, turning their children into orphans? Even those receiving a timely weeklong course of medicine would only be helped during the time of ingestion. Influenza pandemics can reappear in waves for months. *Triaging* among age groups is truly a lose-lose dilemma. America and the world can do much better! But we won't, at least for several years.

Lessons of SARS, Ebola, West Nile, AIDS, and Malaria

SARS, Ebola, West Nile, and AIDS offer us different insights into what the real threat is, and how we might best prepare to defend ourselves. Technically, none of these diseases qualifies as an acute pandemic, even though AIDS/HIV has infected millions of people since the first Cameroon chimp infected a hunter in 1959.²⁸ AIDS/HIV is not a classical aerosol pandemic, because it is not as easy to catch as an aerosol virus, and is thereby restricted even in areas where it is widespread. Ebola and SARS never have gotten beyond localized terrors. West Nile and malaria, while widespread in warmer climates, require intermediary mosquitoes, restricting their footprints.

SARS came from rural China. **Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome** was recognized in 2002, and it killed 774 people worldwide before being brought under control by quarantine and restricted travel. SARS is characterized by severe and rapid damage to the alveoli, tiny air sacs in the lungs that directly exchange blood oxygen and carbon dioxide. In this way SARS is similar to the worst effects of killer flu, because both attack the lungs' vital capacity. (In the case of the Spanish Flu lungs often filled with blood, as the victims' skin turned from pink to near black, like in the Black Death. Doctors at the front in WWI sometimes couldn't tell the difference between black and white soldiers at their death. Oh, what a lovely way to go.)

Fortunately, SARS is a *coronavirus* that did not rapidly mutate into even more lethal forms,²⁹ and a vaccine has recently been invented. Only a few hundred died from this acute respiratory disease that quickly turns young, healthy lungs into a semblance of terminal emphysema lungs. SARS was contained with Herculean effort, but what would such an effort yield with a pandemic flu strain?

The key point to remember is that infection with influenza yields a person who is shedding virus particles only **two days** after exposure. In critical contrast, the deadly SARS coronavirus that emerged from China in 2003 took up to **ten days** before the victim could spread it to others. This gave public health workers more time to identify and isolate their contacts, stopping a SARS pandemic before it could start.³⁰

Economically, diseases can affect the economic health of regions or nations. Canada had only about 40 SARS deaths. However, the SARS outbreak caused a 14-week emergency in Toronto, and 30,000 people were quarantined at home or in hospitals. The city lost nine conventions and 12,000 jobs. The economy lost \$1 billion, and took two years to fully recover. In strictly public health terms the city's response was a nearly unqualified success, and globally SARS was a bullet dodged.³¹

If the successful SARS containment model is applied when the bird flu breaks bad, the end result will only be to waste the small stocks of Tamiflu and vaccine. SARS contained was the paper tiger preceding the real tiger — uncontained, human-adapted H5N1.³²

The world's respiratory inhalers and decontamination equipment are primarily made in America. A widespread attack on lungs from a vicious strain of influenza would quickly overwhelm our hospital bed capacity, remembering that "regular" illnesses would continue as before. Supplies of breathing machines and decontamination equipment could not be ramped up fast enough to keep up with spiking demand. Even worse, a pandemic would immediately paralyze world trade, so that many of the components of respiratory therapy equipment would be unavailable to the end-product manufacturers.

Efforts are now underway to develop an injectable form of Relenza. How long will it take for this to appear? And even when it does, how many doctors and nurses will be available to administer such doses? This noble effort to contain the flu virus will yield only marginal benefit worldwide, and only if the pandemic starts years into the future.

Ebola is an African disease, the continent where AIDS also began. Both may be related to the venerable African tradition of eating "bush meat." The latest evidence for Ebola points to fruit bats that harbor evidence of benign Ebola infections; however, other candidate species remain in the bush.³³

Bush meat is anything you can catch and kill, such as monkeys and chimpanzees, and fruit bats. Africans prefer the taste of bush meat to domestic meat, which I learned from locals during my three months in southern Nigeria. Chimps and humans share about 99% of their genes, so any disease affecting the great apes is a prime candidate for infecting the naked ape. **Ebola hemorrhagic fever** is caused by infection with Ebola virus, named after a river in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (formerly Zaire) in Africa, where it was first recognized. The virus is one of two members of a family of RNA viruses called the Filoviridae.³⁴ Most people with Ebola quickly die from hemorrhaging and other dire symptoms before they can spread the pestilence. Most of those who catch it are exposed to victims' secretions. Even a simple handshake can kill.

Ebola hasn't spread widely in part because it has an extremely high kill rate, and more likely because tasty fruit bats aren't everywhere. Ebola apparently does not exhibit the rapid shape shifting behavior of the influenza virus, which could allow for its mutation into human-to-human variants, making moot the African location of an original host. Ebola also is likely to be contained within a defensive ring over the next decade by vaccines under development.³⁵

Ebola's 50% to 90% mortality contrasts with the Spanish Flu, which had an estimated three percent kill rate, but also with death rates approaching ten percent among those 15 to 35. With a much lower kill rate, the Spanish Flu virus was much more deadly to our global species than Ebola could be, primarily because it spread everywhere more rapidly and more easily. If you die quickly, you can't spread it far. If you live longer, you can infect more people. Even people who will die from avian flu live long enough to possibly infect several others.

Those who hopefully anticipate H5N1's weakening after it becomes able to easily transfer from human to human are wrongly optimistic. It will be precisely when the disease has a lower human kill rate than the almost 50 percent it now inflicts that the bird flu will be most dangerous. Lower mortality yields more tolerance of *infective latency*, leading to higher *morbidity* (infection rates), and thus to more deaths in total. Some people may even become infectious carriers. This is a formula for global disaster where both people and their bugs travel far and fast. Let's be grateful that hemorrhagic Ebola has not spread and adapted like the flu bug does.

West Nile disease is another exotic viral import from Africa. It is brought to us by mosquitoes, as are several other highly disagreeable pathogens. Wild birds such as crows and robins seem to be its preferred path of spreading.³⁶ The disease has now spread all across America, and indeed through much of the world. Most humans who contract West Nile virus recover, and some hardly know they had the infection. However, a substantial and random percent suffer chronic neurological disabilities,

making this a very serious disease, even though it only kills a few Americans each year³⁷.

The disease does not mutate rapidly like a flu virus, but years after its first appearance no vaccine is available for us humans. Horses have a vaccine! Why not humans? If there is ever a human vaccine for West Nile, it may take a decade or more for it to be available from your doctor. Let's thank our over-protective medical bureaucrats for this delay.

The horse vaccine for West Nile has lessons for us when it comes to understanding why we the ordinary people will not see any bird flu vaccine for years to come.³⁸ Basically, veterinary medicines are not as strictly regulated as human medicines. Laboratory development of an equine vaccine led to its swift approval to protect valuable property, such as thoroughbred racehorses, which have about thirty percent mortality when symptoms bloom. Human bodies don't have such industrial value, and the FDA is reluctant to approve anything with the remotest possibility of not being both safe and effective.

The chain of loops and hoops to approve a totally novel human vaccine takes years of layered trials to complete. In the case of bird flu, the bureaucrats are now saying that the bird flu vaccine is just like any other flu vaccine in its mode of production. This previously traveled path has reduced the time needed for approved general use from many years to many months. Will that be enough time? Place your bets at your nearest horse track.

I want to mention something about **the time line of H5N1:** According to the World Health Organization, highly pathogenic H5N1 was isolated on a farm in China in 1996.³⁹ That's TEN YEARS AGO! In 1997 outbreaks occurred in Hong Kong, with one third of those infected dying. There was little response from the flu vaccine manufacturers, or from President Clinton and other world leaders. At the very least, vaccine production capacity could have been greatly increased globally. The world was given precious time to prepare, but nobody in power responded.

After undocumented outbreaks began through East Asia in 2003, Viet Nam in January of 2004 identified H5N1 as the source of death among several people. By March of 2004 eight out of 12 Thai victims were dead, despite receiving hospital treatment; and 16 out of 23 cases were fatal in Viet Nam. Incredibly, there still was no defensive battle plan from President Bush, no rush to increase vaccine production capacity. *It was* only in late 2005, after the Katrina debacle and a plunge in his poll numbers, that President Bush stepped out front on this issue – nine years after the warning sirens in China first sounded.

Imagine what we humans could have done to prepare to protect ourselves during that wasted decade, if only wisdom, not politics as usual, had prevailed.

AIDS is a viral disease that may eventually kill more people than the forthcoming bird flu pandemic. Some parts of the world, such as equatorial Africa, are more infected and affected than others.⁴⁰ In contrast, the bird flu will impact nearly all parts of the world with equal ferocity. Untreated HIV in a community is not initially fierce among those who host it. The HIV virus can be somewhat controlled inside the bodies of individuals by expensive medication, if you or your government have the money. For most patients in the First World HIV infection is a chronic condition managed by multiple medications, not a death sentence. Flu acts far too fast for this type of pill-popping strategy to work, especially in Third World environments.

Both diseases are transmitted from human to human, involving individuals who don't initially know who is infected. Unlike Ebola, where entire African villages are nearly wiped from the map in a flash, both HIV and influenza hide in bodies long enough for transmission to occur. HIV is notorious for hiding for years before symptoms appear. Both cold and flu viruses render their host infectious for a number of hours before symptoms appear. That's enough time for geometric transmission within our highly social species. Additionally, whereas HIV is generally transmitted by unsafe sexual activity, the flu virus only needs mere proximity by air or casual contact. Virgins are just as likely to be infected by influenza, as are the sexually careless. A strategy that works best against HIV may not work at all against avian flu.

Malaria is a perennial plague for the tropical world. It is the greatest single cause of debilitation and death throughout large areas of the world. Decades ago Malaria was effectively removed from the southern U.S.A. with intensive mosquito eradication. Today, vast areas of the so-called Third World still struggle with it. Malaria is an acute or chronic disease caused by *sporozoan parasites of the genus Plasmodium* in the red blood cells, and is transmitted from an infected to an uninfected individual by the bite of *anopheline mosquitoes*. Those afflicted have periodic attacks of

chills and fever that coincide with mass destruction of blood cells and the release of toxic substances by the parasite at the end of each reproductive cycle. Malaria is not a universal pestilence, as would be a pandemic influenza. For example, when I was in Lagos, Nigeria the locally dominant mosquito did not carry malaria; but other areas to the east suffered greatly from the bite of another species of mosquito.

Today's best hope against malaria comes from an herbal derivative called **artemisinin**. Chinese wormwood, *Artemisia annua*, has long been used by herbalists to treat malaria.⁴¹ The clinically used form has recently been overprescribed as a single remedy – while at the same time it has been under-prescribed in terms of doses needed for a cure! Widespread abuse of this gift from nature has led to the specter of the world losing its lone "magic bullet" against the worst infectious disease. The World Health Organization was alarmed in January 2006, warning drug companies against improper use of this drug as a stand-alone therapy.⁴²

Just as humans undergoing basic training at a Marine boot camp can learn to adapt to harsh conditions, so too can the lowest forms of life adapt. Everything tiny "down there," from parasites, to bacteria, to viruses, can adjust to hostile conditions as long as a few survive our best shot. This is microevolution in all its horror and glory. The survivors are stronger for the ordeal, and they pass on that resistance to their offspring. It's part of the natural order of survival of the fittest – "fittest" being defined as any organism that can best reproduce and survive. If we haughty humans continue to disregard microevolution, we do so at our own peril.

The past as future: When we tally diseases that have jumped from animals to humans, we are also pointing to future alien pestilences. Humans always risk being overrun by new microbes that are ever on the look for food sources.

Over the past twenty-five years thirty-eight new illnesses have burst into the human restaurant.⁴³ At that sickening rate – which may be increasing as humans crowd into previously pristine ecosystems, and as global warming allows formerly tropical diseases to expand – we are anticipating nearly 150 new diseases attacking us every century. Add to that sickening number all the new variants of existing diseases we must fight off.

Without heroic scientists and medical professionals, our future paradise could become a pair of dice.

¹ David, Leonard. Life-Swapping Scenarios for Earth and Mars. *Space.com.* December 13, 2004.

(http://www.space.com/scienceastronomy/mars_life_041213.html)

Cosmic Ancestry: Comets: The Delivery System. (http://www.panspermia.org/comets.htm)

Britt, Robert R. Are We All Aliens? The New Case for Panspermia. Space.com. 30 October 2000. (http://www.space.com/searchforlife/ aliens_all_001027-1.html)

⁴ Vedantam, S. Eden and Evolution. *Washington Post.* February 5, 2006; W08. (http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/ article/2006/02/03/AR2006020300822_pf.html)

5

Cosmic Ancestry: Viruses and Other Gene Transfer Mechanisms. (http://www.panspermia.org/virus.htm)

⁶ Carey, Bjorn. T. rex's weird-looking ancestor found. *LiveScience*. Feb. 8, 2006. (<u>http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/11236682/</u>)

7

Dinosaur Extinction Page. (<u>http://web.ukonline.co.uk/a.buckley/dino.htm</u>)

8

[°] Dinosaurs: Extinction. American Museum of Natural History. May 14, 2005 – January 8, 2006. (http://www.amnh.org/exhibitions/dinosaurs/extinction/mass.php)

⁹Adams, Mike. Bird flu timeline: A history of influenza from 412 BC – AD 2006. *News Target.* February 06, 2006. (http://www.newstarget.com/017503.html)

¹⁰ The Applied History Research Group. The Islamic World to 1600: The Black Death. University of Calgary. (http://www.ucalgary.

ca/applied_history/tutor/islam/mongols/blackDeath.html)

11

Civil War Medicine: An Overview of Medicine. (http://ehistory.osu.

edu/uscw/features/medicine/cwsurgeon/introduction.cfm)

¹² Civil War Medicine and The Battle of Cold Harbor. Collect Medical Antiques. (http://www.collectmedicalantiques.com/civilwar.html)

13

Duncan, Christopher, and Scott, Susan. The History of the Black Death. (<u>http://www.firstscience.com/SITE/ARTICLES/history-of-theblack-death.asp</u>)

¹⁴ Knox, E. L. Efforts to Stop the Plague.

(http://www.insectainspecta.com/fleas/bdeath/Stop.html)

¹⁵ Wikipedia. Little Ice Age. (http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/ Little_Ice_Age)

¹⁶ Hartmann, Thom. How Global Warming May Cause the Next Ice Age. *CommonDreams.org.* January 30, 2004. (http://www.commondreams.org/views04/0130-11.htm)

(http://www.commondreams.org/views04/0130-11.htm)

¹⁷ Shreeve, Jamie. Why Revive a Deadly Flu Virus? *The New York Times.* January 29, 2006. (http://www.nytimes.com/2006/01/29/ magazine/29flu.html? r=2&pagewanted=print&oref=slogin)

18 http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Peter_Arnett

19

¹ Keoke, Emory D., and Porterfield, Kay M. Timeline of European Disease Epidemics Among American Indians. *American Indian Contributions to the World.* Checkmark Books. August, 2003. ISBN: 0816053677.

(http://www.kporterfield.com/aicttw/articles/disease.html)

²⁰ Jeffrey Amherst and Smallpox Blankets.

(http://www.nativeweb.org/pages/legal/amherst/lord_jeff.html)

21

²¹ Tognotti, Eugenia. Scientific Triumphalism and Learning from Facts: Bacteriology and the 'Spanish Flu' Challenge of 1918. Society for the Social History of Medicine. *Social History of Medicine 2003.* 16(1): 97-110; doi: 10.1093/shm/16.1.97.

22

Hollenbeck, James E. An Avian Connection as a Catalyst to the 1918-1919 Influenza Pandemic. *International Journal of Medical Sciences.* 2005; 2(2): 87-90. Published online 2005 May 15.

(http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1145139)

23

Pandemic Influenza. Infectious Diseases Society of America. November 17, 2005. Excellent for details about influenza viruses, historical events, and about how to control infection. (http://www.

cidrap.umn.edu/idsa/influenza/panflu/biofacts/panflu.html)

²⁴ Mickey Mouse. *Disney Online.* (http://disney.go.com/vault/ archives/characterstandard/mickey/feature/feature.html)

25

Brown, David. Avian Flu Virus Growing Similar to Lethal 'Spanish Flu': Researchers Have Reconstructed the 1918 Virus. *Washington Post.* October 5, 2005. (http://www.washingtonpost.com/wpdyn/content/article/2005/10/05/AR20051005015 65.html)

²⁶ Researchers Determine Reason for Deadly Spread of 1918 Influenza. *HHMI News.* Howard Hughes Medical Institute. February 5, 2004. (http://www.hhmi.org/news/1918flu.html)

27

Lab study supports idea of "cytokine storm" in H5N1 flu. *CIDRAP News*. November 16, 2005. (http://www.cidrap.umn.edu/ cidrap/content/influenza/avianflu/news/nov1605cytokine.html)

cidrap/content/influenza/avianflu/news/nov1605cytokine.html)

²⁸ Associated Press. HIV's ancestry traced to wild chimps in Cameroon. USA Today.
5/25/2006. (http://www.usatoday.com/
news/health/2006-05-25-hiv-cameroon_x.htm)

29

Bird flu seen as bigger threat than SARS: Avian virus not yet contained, Chinese medical experts say. *Reuters.* August 26, 2005. (http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/9084774/)

30

Gibbs, W. W., and Soares, C. Preparing for a Pandemic. *Scientific American.* October 24, 2005. (http://www.sciam.com/print_version.

```
cfm?articleID=000DCB5A-9CC7-134E-9CC783414B7F0000)
```

³¹ Brown, David. Business Plan for a Pandemic? *Washington Post.* May 2, 2006; pg. D01. (http://www.washingtonpost.com/wpdyn/content/article/ 2006/05/01/AR2006050101608_2.html)

³² Allen, Arthur. The Last Big Virus: SARS–a fire drill for the avian flu? *Slate*, November 22, 2005 (<u>http://www.slate.com/id/2130908</u>)

33

Fruit Bats may carry Ebola virus. *BBC News.* 1 December 2005. (<u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/health/4484494.stm</u>)

34

³⁴ Special Pathogens Branch. CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, HHS). Ebola Hemorrhagic Fever.

(http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dvrd/spb/mnpages/dispages/ebola.htm)

35 BBC News. Human testing for Ebola vaccine. Nov. 19, 2003. (http://africanhistory.about.com/gi/dynamic/offsite.htm?site=http://n ews.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/health/3282381.stm)

36

Associated Press. Robins, not crows, may spread West Nile. CNN. August 9, 2005. (http://www.cnn.com/2005/HEALTH/07/29/ westnile.robins.ap/index.html)

37

Oglesby, Christy. West Nile virus a North American fixture. *CNN.* June 6, 2005. (<u>http://www.cnn.com/2005/HEALTH/06/06/wnv.location/index.html</u>)

38

[°] Koerner, Brendan I. Horses Have a West Nile Vaccine; So Why Don't We? *Slate* Aug. 14, 2002. (<u>http://www.slate.com/id/2069386</u>)

39

[°]World Health Organization. H5N1 avian influenza: timeline. 28 October 2005. (http://www.who.int/csr/disease/avian_influenza/ Timeline_28_10a.pdf)

⁴⁰ World HIV & AIDS Statistics. *AVERT.* (http://www.avert.org/ worldstats.htm)

⁴¹ http://www.phytotherapies.org/monograph_detail.cfm?id=38

⁴² Brown, David. Firms Are Asked to Stop One-Drug Malaria Therapy. *Washington Post.* January 20, 2006, Page A08. (http://www.

washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2006/01/19/ AR2006011903092.html?sub=AR)

⁴³ Associated Press. Bird flu may become the latest disease to jump to humans. USA Today. 2/19/06. (http://www.usatoday.com/news/ health/2006-02-19-animal-diseases_x.htm) V.

Will Vaccines Save Us?

In early August of 2005 the world's news media excitedly announced the arrival of an effective bird flu vaccine.¹ This was great news, or was it?

Using established vaccine construction protocols, Dr. Robert Webster of St. Jude Children's Research Hospital (Memphis, TN) and his colleagues combined key components of the incredibly lethal *Z*+ *variant of the H5N1 virus* with another benign virus that grows well in eggs. Straight H5N1 virus will kill all incubating chicken eggs, just as it kills infected adult chickens. They used reverse genetics to remove the egg-killing aspect of the H5N1 virus, leaving intact enough to stimulate resistance. The newly designed virus vaccine is not a killer for birds or humans.

That's the good news. And now for the really bad news: What's worse than having no vaccine? Having a vaccine you will never get — or one that, if you get it, hardly works. If there were no vaccine in the pipeline more people might take this threat extremely seriously. Having some number of doses available allows everyday people to procrastinate, believing they will receive an effective shot in the nick of time, and that life will proceed as normal. Delusions kill. We are not talking about a bad case of "the stomach flu."

To date there have been eight million doses of vaccine ordered by our government, over two million of which are going to the military.² Tests were conducted to determine who can benefit, and how much they need. Unlike regular annual flu vaccines, which are like customized booster shots, the H5N1 vaccine is primary protection for a body with no antibody reference to this very different variant.

Seniors need a double dose of this "killed" type vaccine administered in two separate injections for a robust immune response to follow. Eight million doses are only good for four million seniors receiving a double dose. Logistics of administering two doses in separate sessions to millions of seniors will slow down the response of public health authorities when the viral tidal wave hits. Factor in the nearly instant societal collapse and widespread panic that WILL occur in a worst case scenario to see the real obstacles involved in protecting even these *four million* people already sitting in death's waiting room, out of a growing worldwide population of more than *six billion*.

Of course, not all of those shots will be reserved for seniors. In addition to the military personnel who will get a quarter of them up front, there is a priority list for first responders, medical professionals, vaccine manufacturers, and others, leaving precious little for the general population in the near term. A couple years from now there might be a lot more vaccine for most Americans and Europeans, especially if immune stimulating adjuvants are included. Even the Australians are gearing up to make influenza vaccine for Americans.³

The catch is: By that time the virus makes its fateful mutation it may have changed so much that today's vaccine will be worthless, or virtually worthless. Dr. Webster himself, who has tried to outwit viruses for fifty years, was quoted on CNN as follows: "I think the vaccine would give you partial protection. It would probably protect you from death," Webster speculated. "You would probably get very sick but not die."⁴ So, if you are one of the lucky few recipients of the vaccine that our government is gathering in small quantities, you should get VERY sick, but not die. Comforting thought. As they say in Texas, this beats a poke in the eye with a sharp stick.

In March of 2006 the federal government essentially admitted that the original vaccine made from a 2004 strain of H5N1 from Vietnam is sub-optimal, since mutating virus is a moving target. Secretary of HHS Mike Leavitt said the government is ordering a second H5N1 vaccine from a different strain.⁵ This news is semi-good, because the next formula might be more effective, if you receive any. The question of timely and adequate supply is still unanswered.

Remember the production farce of 2004 for ordinary flu vaccine? The same companies producing, or not producing, regular flu vaccine were assigned the task of producing bird flu vaccine, starting after they finished producing 2005's batch of regular vaccine. In 2004 Chiron's British plant was shut down for sanitation reasons. In 2005 Chiron's German plant was shut down for sanitation reasons. What will happen in 2006 and 2007? A bad track record points to an uncertain future. Let's not forget that we are literally placing all our eggs into one basket, a basket of chicken eggs. The very producers of eggs for the medium in which we grow our vaccine are themselves killed at a 100% rate by the wild virus that has swept around

the world, and which likely will be brought by wild birds to North America in 2006. Now that's real security.

Assuming civilization has a decade to prepare, it would be possible for enough potent bird flu vaccine to be produced worldwide with new technology to save untold millions of lives. We assume in this happier scenario that the virus doesn't mutate so much that stored vaccine has minimal or no protective effect against a first wave. Even a futuristic production technology couldn't produce enough for a surprise first wave, but it could be ramped up fast enough to help stop a second wave, and prevent a third wave.

If the virus progressively adapts to our species in 2006, there will be virtually no vaccine for anybody outside the key groups identified by government who are unable to pay black market prices. Given enough time, production could be ramped up with current technology over the next three years to check, but not checkmate, the unseen assassin. Regrettably, what is possible is not likely.

Recall how Dr. Fleming serendipitously discovered **penicillin** in 1928 – but even at the start of WWII drug companies were reluctant to invest heavily in anything they did not patent. It was left to the wartime Rockefeller Foundation to persuade a few drug companies to help discover how to make volume production practical, assisted by a legal blanket of protection from liability given to them by the eager WWII government.⁶

Only in 1943 was a way found to produce cheap and potent penicillin, and not by the drug company laboratories. An obscure research office of the U. S. Dept. of Agriculture, in Peoria, Illinois, did that.⁷ Happily, penicillin was there for the D-Day troops. *Only in 1945* was penicillin sufficiently plentiful to be made available to the general public.⁸ *Alas, by 1952* ordinary *Staphylococcus* bacteria already were adapting to original penicillin.

Both viruses and bacteria learn to adapt to new challenges from antivirals and antibiotics. Influenza viruses are more nimble, but given enough time even bacteria can do the same disappearing trick through natural selection, making themselves appear invisible or benign to our defenses.

In today's world there is an emerging threat from several species of drug resistant bacteria, most notably a *staph variant known as* **MRSA**. Only the

very strongest antibiotics still work, such as Vancomycin. How much longer even this antibiotic will work is unknown. There is nothing special about any antibiotic, since super bugs will learn to deal with them all. Currently a cocktail of drugs is thrown against super bugs. We are just buying time without a clear future strategy for defeating super pathogens.

There are precious few new antibiotics in the development pipeline because, unlike with highly profitable drugs for chronic diseases, a cure is a cure – and the patient and his money walk away in a matter of days.[°] If you were a bean counting drug company executive, would you put your investment millions into a miracle antibiotic that would work only a few years, but save countless lives? Or would you invest your millions of dollars into another patented me-too cholesterol-reducing drug for obese seniors with government insurance, resulting in strong and steady cash flow to your stockholders for decades to come?

The financial logic against antivirals is the same as that against new antibiotics. In 2003 the global market for all vaccines – from polio to measles to hepatitis to influenza – was just \$5.4 billion.¹⁰ That's less than two percent of the 2003 audited global drug market of \$466.3 billion. Indeed, **Lipitor** (atorvastatin), the leading drug for cholesterol and triglyceride reduction among those who live large at the dinner table, by itself had 2003 sales of \$10.3 billion.¹¹

Bruce G. Gellin, coordinator for U.S. pandemic planning as head of the National Vaccine Program Office at the U.S. Department of HHS, put it bluntly: "We really don't see the pandemic itself as a market opportunity."¹²

The stage is set for underwhelming action, when massive action is immediately mandated. If the H5N1 virus looked under the microscope like tiny Osama bin Ladens, the Congress and President would both declare a war on this extremist bug, and adequately fund the war. In the post-Katrina world executive politicians don't want to see their popularity plummet, so they are rapidly scurrying about with nice paper plans and international meetings to deal with the threat. That way, when the disaster develops they can bleat out how much they tried to help.

Consider that the DAILY deaths of Americans during the height of a possible super-flu pandemic, going on in waves for many weeks or months, could exceed five or ten times the total death count of 9/11, or of Pearl Harbor. But we can't point a tank or gun at a virus. Besides, a weird

and invisible microscopic ball with spikes doesn't look so bad in a world seemingly dominated by huge humans and their mighty war machines.

The national governments of the world know how to increase capacity for production of avian flu vaccine, even with the old egg technology. Extra production surge capacity, and storage, could partially protect many millions more of us by late 2007, but they won't spend the money. In America our guardians loudly proclaim how much they are doing to protect us from all types of evildoers, when in fact they are not acting on the huge SCALE needed to protect us against the very smallest of evildoers. Our guardians are also still stumbling four years later against the type of threat that the perverted human 9/11 evildoers generated.¹³

Production in 2005 of bird flu vaccine didn't start until September, after the regular seasonal flu vaccine was produced, and it's not very good.¹⁴ The U.S. government is planning on buying eight million doses of dubious potency. Let's see, that's enough for four million people receiving the required double dose. And what's the total population of the U.S.A.? And what's the population of the world? And how many of those precious doses might be foolishly rushed to alpha areas after the fatal human-to-human mutation has begun, leaving precious little for the sitting ducks in this country? Do the ghoulish math.

More "good news": The anti-flu drug sold as **Relenza** probably works against bird flu. So far, it is the ONLY approved prescription drug that attacks this virus without current resistance, perhaps because it has been so rarely used. This expensive drug must be inhaled, and is not easily stockpiled. It is not a realistic option for most of the world's population. If it were, then the H5N1 virus most likely would quickly develop resistance to it too, leaving us with ZERO prescription drugs for our defense. We lose if we don't use it; and we lose if we do use it.

Let's look more closely at vaccinations, past, present and future:

A. Vaccines from the past

Humans are a curious and adaptable lot, fortunately. *We are the only species with a civilized brain that can go against the forces of microevolution.* We can take much of what is given to us, both good and bad, and change it for our future needs. Among the bad is illness, and for millennia healers have pondered causes and treatments. Earliest and

easiest was simply to attribute illness to fate and divine displeasure. In Western medicine a huge advance on this karmic fatalism was the theory of the four humors, advocated by the great *Hippocrates* (ca. 460-377 B.C.). At least these humors were in a dimension that healers could directly deal with.

Another great step toward understanding was taken by the controversial physician, *Paracelsus* (1493-1541), who radically suggested the cause of illness is outside agents attacking the body. It was only in the 19th century that his ideas were proven by *Pasteur* (1822-1985) and *Koch* (18431910). Dr. *Joseph Lister* (1827-1912) was a pioneer in establishing antiseptic conditions for surgery, a key to how we can partially control the threat of avian influenza without an effective vaccine.¹⁵

In 1796 Dr. *Edward Jenner* found an effective vaccine for **smallpox**. He noticed that milk maidens didn't get smallpox, but they did contract the fairly benign and apparently related cowpox. He decided to try scratching into a boy's skin a small quantity of liquid from cowpox pustules, and it worked to protect him against smallpox itself. "Vaccination" is the word Dr. Jenner used in 1798 to describe his radical treatment (from the Latin, *vacca*,a cow). Pasteur used it while describing his own theory of immunization against any disease.¹⁶

Dr. Jenner's elegant discovery was initially met with skepticism. Other doctors were using a self-defeating Turkish method of skin inoculation by smallpox itself, a crude method brought to England in 1721. In that era nobody knew what a bacterium was, much less a virus that can only be seen with an electron microscope. Two hundred years passed before viral smallpox was eradicated from the world, two hundred years after the vaccine cure was found.

It helped that smallpox has been found exclusively among humans, so there are no replenishing animal reservoirs such as with avian influenza. It also helps that natural smallpox does not wildly mutate. Nevertheless, it would today be possible for rabidly anarchistic bioterrorists to re-engineer the smallpox virus as something even worse, and then release it back into the world as a new threat. Today's prime psycho candidates don't have the technology to do it; but the world's military-supported scientists do, and maybe already have some on hand. If so, then all it would take is for some of that evil brew to be stolen and released. I have visions of Walt Disney's sorcerer's apprentice; but smallpox is not a Mickey Mouse threat. Even laboratory accidents happen. The 1997 re-emergence of H1N1, which had been absent from humanity since 1957, caused a worldwide epidemic, but not so much among those who had been alive twenty years earlier. Because only young people were affected, this so-called Russian Flu outbreak is not classified as a pandemic. H1N1 strains collected in 1957 and 1997 were nearly identical, both antigenically and genetically, which is most suspicious for a virus that mutates so often.¹⁷

B. Swine Flu in 1976, and H5N1 Bird Flu in 2006

In January 1976 an event occurred that politically affects us in 2006. Private David Lewis staggered through a forced march during basic training at Fort Dix. He soon died of swine flu. Although no other soldiers at the fort died, *President Ford* bravely summoned all resources to fight what he and CDC scientists feared was the next Spanish Flu. The secretary of HEW declared: "The projections are that this virus will kill one million Americans in 1976." President Ford went on national TV and said: "I am asking Congress to appropriate \$135 million, prior to the April recess, for the production of sufficient vaccine to inoculate every man, woman, and child in the United States."¹⁸

In 1976 President Ford was determined to look presidential. He had become president only after Nixon was driven from the Oval Office. There were jokes about him playing football without a helmet. He nevertheless acted from bad scientific advice, setting up a chain of events that stains the much more rational defense against H5N1 today.

On March 11, 1918 one private came down with the real Spanish Flu before breakfast. By noon that day the camp's hospital had dealt with over 100 ill soldiers. By week's end the number jumped to five hundred at the camp.¹⁹ Here's how a real pandemic starts, not with one isolated case of a poorly human-adapted virus that does not spread.

President Ford's quick request for money to make vaccine did get action from Congress. There were many more domestic vaccine manufacturers in 1976 than now, with much more surge capability. Eventually large numbers of Americans got vaccinated, but not people around the world. A few recipients later developed the nerve disease *Guillain-Barre syndrome*, most likely from endotoxins in the vaccine itself, and the government ended up paying claimants around \$90 million. More significantly, Congress needed to be persuaded to indemnify the several vaccine makers from liability, to get production started without delay. The head of the CDC was sacked, and President Ford did not boost his popularity with Congress and the nation.

I personally think that *Gerald Ford was a great but tragic hero in that moment*, because he at least acted boldly and without delay, which is more than our timid legislators have been willing to do thereafter. Likewise, I applaud President Bush for his proposed \$7.1 billion multi-year program, issued in November 2005 under the Homeland Security Council – even if it is belated, bureaucratic, and likely wasting much money on some ineffective medicines.²⁰ At least the current president is being guided by better science, and prodded by a much greater and real emerging threat.

Even with a more robust national vaccine production capacity, President Ford's swine flu vaccine arrived too slowly to stop the first phase of a real pandemic, if it had started with that one unlucky soldier. We got lucky as a nation in that sense.

President Bush's \$7.1 billion multi-year prescription realizes that the nation cannot be immediately and fully protected, so his plan is multifaceted and looks to the next decade for science to finally catch up with the nimble influenza virus, while doing the best we can in the near term.

C. Adjuvants

Adjuvants are a wild card in the fight against pathogens. They are *substances added to vaccines that potentize them*, allowing more vaccinations to come from a smaller quantity of vaccine serum. As with most things, adjuvants and other vaccine additives are not a black and white issue.

Over eighty years ago an experimenter mixed tapioca with inactivated tetanus toxin, and found that it served as a more effective vaccine than did the toxin itself. Several years later, aluminum salts, or alum, were tried with inactivated tetanus toxin, increasing its potency. Today, alum is still the only approved adjuvant in America, even though there are others of high potency approved in Europe.

Vaccines contain a number of substances that can be divided into the following three groups:²¹

(1) Micro-organisms, either bacteria or viruses. These are whole-cell proteins, or just broken-cell protein envelopes, and are called antigens.

(2) Adjuvants.

(3) Chemical substances which act as preservatives and tissue fixatives, to halt any further chemical reactions and putrefaction (decomposition or multiplication) of the live or attenuated (or killed) biological constituents of the vaccine.

All these constituents of vaccines are toxic, and their toxicity may vary, as a rule, from one batch of vaccine to another.

The chemical nature of adjuvants, their mode of action and their reactions are highly variable. Some of the side effects can be ascribed to an unintentional stimulation of different mechanisms of the immune system, whereas others may reflect general adverse pharmacological reactions.²²

Old-fashioned vaccines that used weakened pathogens did not generally need adjuvants to stimulate the desired immunity. Newer vaccines that use killed pathogens, or genetic fragments, are much more likely to require an adjuvant to optimize immune response. The Webster vaccine falls into this newer fragmented group.

Only in 2004 was it finally understood how adjuvants work. Alum provokes a previously unrecognized group of immune-system cells to secrete the protein interleukin-4, which primes B cells for a better response to the vaccine.²³ Another idea is that alum salts stick to the vaccine antigens, allowing more opportunity for our targeted antibodies to develop.

Today's challenge is to find a way to stretch the pathetically limited production capabilities of the vaccine industry to better meet the surge in demand from a pandemic. In the near term the goal is not to vaccinate everybody, but at least to vaccinate many more people, including the key people responsible for holding together society's fabric. Alum enhanced influenza vaccine might provide a bonus, but not for a couple of years. H5N1 has shown that large amounts of serum are needed to provide protection; but the purpose for using alum is to use much smaller amounts of serum. Research is ongoing, but this modest extra supply of vaccine won't begin to be ready until late 2006, or later.

A significant summary article in the February 12, 2006 edition of the

Washington Post examined the status of adjuvant research for H5N1.²⁴ As a baseline, the first study completed of an H5N1 vaccine with an alum adjuvant revealed little benefit. An even more recent report appeared in the May 11, 2006 early online edition of The Lancet. As reported in WebMD,²⁵ the human safety study of Sanofi Pasteur's experimental flu vaccine showed that alum, the only adjuvant approved for human use, only slightly improves vaccine efficiency. At high doses, given twice, immune response improved from 52% to 67%. However, the alum did not boost response at lower doses, which is the real hope for adjuvants. More advanced adjuvants exist, including the patented Chiron shark-liver oil MF59. Really advanced adjuvant technology would place antigen elements into microscopic envelopes to act as artificial viruses. Using whole-killed vaccines with adjuvants has proved to be better than fragmented vaccines; but vaccine manufacturers know that whole-killed vaccines are more painful, and they would need to alter their manufacturing methods.

Even toxic *E. coli* was tried, but pulled from research after subjects got higher rates of Bell's palsy facial paralysis. In the rush to have a super vaccine ready for today's super virus, we need to remember the several hundred victims of Guillain-Barre syndrome that followed the rush to produce a vaccine against the swine flu.²⁶ Another way of using *E. coli* shows more promise, but has not been tested with influenza viruses. *E. coli* are placed into a skin patch that is applied over a vaccination site, rather than applying the usual bandage. This method could localize the irritating bacteria, activating skin immunity both to the bacteria and to the vaccine, which should benefit the entire body.²⁷

Even in an ideal adjuvant scenario, we are looking at two years to identify and start production of a synergistic match that would matter. When I say "matter" I am pointing back at the lower number of people who would be helped without an adjuvant – not pointing forward at the billions who still would never see anything remotely resembling an effective vaccine, even with an adjuvant. It's numbers, pure and simple. In the eternal battle against killer viruses there is still no short cut to a global panacea that is free of potential consequences.

In any adjuvant scenario, there will remain core liability and compensation issues that must be addressed by Congress before the big pharmaceutical companies will do whatever they can, as fast as they can: Do world governments give the manufacturers full immunity, or partial immunity? Do we reimburse the unintended victims of toxins in the serum? If so, who reimburses victims, and for how much? Will reimbursements come from general taxes, or will they be attached by anticipation to the cost of each vaccination? These and other questions must be clearly resolved before there is any serious increase in vaccine production.²⁸ The manufacturers are properly terrified of lawyers and angry juries. We the recipients of serum also must feel OK about what's in the shots.

Vaccines with live, but weakened, pathogens work best to stimulate immune response, even without adjuvants. However, here are questions both in production and public acceptance. This looks at first like a good idea; but it won't change the big picture, because of delivery issues, and especially because this new/old technology also uses the same chicken egg production technology.²⁹

Another reason for not looking for salvation in weakened live virus vaccines is the perverse possibility that elements of the weakened pandemic strain may be able to combine with another influenza virus from seasonal flu inside a human, leading to the creation of a new monster pandemic strain.

D. Future Vaccines

Twenty-first century biotechnology can compress research that used to take decades, if it could be done at all, into years. Nevertheless, we are still talking about a few more years before everybody in America has timely and affordable access to the latest and greatest, even if exciting ideas and laboratory experiments are already underway.

In today's pre-pandemic world there are a tiny number of antiviral "haves," and a vast number of vulnerable "have nots," including most of us in America. Hopefully, in several years emerging technology will greatly expand the number of "haves" to include even most of the so-called Third World.

In the very near term – meaning from now until the end of 2007 – there is little more that can normally be done on a macro scale than is already being done. At best, more focused energy on the part of governments and giant pharmaceutical companies can save more lives, but not affect the overall impact of a global pandemic.

Whether or not a pandemic occurs within the next few years, research will

proceed independently. Ironically, the early appearance of a pandemic bug would accelerate academic research, because a clear menace will be here to examine in real time. Currently, scientists are examining viral strains from the past to present, especially the 2004 Vietnam killer, which will not be THE pandemic strain. Researchers are also dealing in what-if scenarios with a host of sub-micron-sized candidates, any one of which could shape shift and become the next killer.

The protective response from today's vaccines comes from viral **hemagglutinin (HA)** and **neuraminidase (NA)** antigens. The idea is to grow enough antigens in eleven-week-old fertilized eggs from chickens, and then purify and distribute the serum in a timely fashion. Timely is the key word, because the first and possibly the second waves of an influenza pandemic will have ravaged our species before these old school vaccines are ready even in limited quantity.

The ultimate goal is to find a way to (1) identify the viral target, and (2) produce enough effective serum, (3) soon enough, to (4) stop the pandemic with enough surge capacity for everybody in the world who needs vaccine. Time aside, today's old technology could do all this, if enough additional plants were brought on line, and if egg-laying chickens were isolated from infection.

Regarding the seasonal flu, we have just enough time to guess ahead one year as to what will likely hit us. With the seasonal flu perfection doesn't matter as much, since we are dealing with variants of viruses our species has already experienced. Even if the mix is less than a perfect match, the seasonal flu vaccine usually helps somewhat anyway.

The 2005-2006 seasonal flu vaccine was overall a very good match for the majority of Influenza A infections. That led to a milder than normal flu season. For many Americans it was almost as if the flu took a year off. If we don't even have to worry about seasonal flu, who needs to seriously worry about the hypothetical bird flu? This easy thought is a dangerous thought, tempting one into a dangerous lack of preparation. Dr. Roland Levandowski, of the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, said in April 2006: "I hope people would not judge what might be coming in the future based on what's happened this year."³⁰

Regarding avian H5N1, success against this fast-moving, fast-morphing mega-killer is all about the speed and quality of our response. We need to fight fire with fire, not fire with slowly rubbing two sticks together.

One of the near-future technologies that could somewhat shorten the time between emerging threat and need involves bypassing chicken eggs completely. **Cell-culture manufacturing technology** is described in the *HHS Pandemic Influenza Plan* as follows:

"In this system, viruses are grown in closed systems such as bioreactors containing a large number of cells in growth media rather than eggs. The surge capacity afforded by cell-based technology is insensitive to seasons and can be adjusted to vaccine demand, as capacity can be increased or decreased by the number of bioreactors or the volume used within a bioreactor."³¹

Both Chiron³² and Sanofi-Aventis³³ have received contracts from our government to proceed with cell-based research. Sanofi-Aventis' press release referenced herein also says:

"sanofi pasteur will deliver to the HHS a feasibility plan for the construction of a U.S.-based and licensed cell-culture production plant for supplying up to 300 million monovalent influenza vaccine doses annually. This would add substantial capacity in the event of a pandemic. The HHS contract does not encompass the actual construction of the facility."

It's good to crawl before we walk; but how soon do we run after the super-influenza? Both of these leaders in antiviral production are just testing their technology, with no actual production imminent. Even the proposed production plant has not been funded, much less built. There will need to be built about twenty such plants to cover the world. If one hasn't been funded, which governments will fund the others?

Finally, it is true that even cell-based technology won't be that much faster into the field than today's technology, allowing a fast-moving killer time to slay tens of millions ahead of the troops. Nevertheless, this next stage of technology is an advance over what we have in place today, and an opportunity to scale up production worldwide without relying on the very birds this virus can kill.

In the period of time beyond five years a truly radical improvement will be made over what we have now: **plasmid DNA vaccines**. Instead of relying on either weakened or killed whole antigens, the new technology will rely on DNA instructions for our bodies to build antigens. This technology promises custom vaccines quickly and affordably produced for all the world's people.

Gareth Forde, writing in 2005 for *Nature Biotechnology*, summarized the promise:³⁴
"In a typical DNA vaccination protocol, an individual is not given the protein antigen, but DNA encoding the antigen. The DNA segment that encodes the protein antigen is incorporated into plasmid DNA that may be administered in the same way as conventional vaccines. The plasmid is taken up by the relevant cell types (usually dendritic cells in skin or muscle), where it is capable of replicating independently of chromosomal DNA and can transcribe the gene encoding the antigen of interest."

It's not all pie-in-the-sky either. More like bird-in-the-sky. Already a plasmid DNA vaccine has been produced that saved the last 200 California condors from extinction by the West Nile Virus.³⁵ Not one of them has died from West Nile, the immune response has been excellent, and the side effects of this unique treatment have been undetectable.³⁶ I wonder what protection we'll have ready for these "saved" condors when the bird flu makes its way into America.

The thing that makes DNA vaccines so exciting is their timely production, reducing today's four to nine months lag down to just one month. Also, no living chicken eggs are involved.

Regular vaccines have been around since possibly as early as the 10^{th} century in China. DNA technology was only demonstrated fifteen years ago, and has never been used in a human vaccine. This novelty has put regulators into an extreme caution mode. There are other reasons they are cautious, not wanting to put application ahead of science.

One of the ongoing research areas is the poor translation from mouse models, where DNA vaccines that produce strong immune responses in mice don't do as well in primates. Another concern is the possibility that DNA vaccines could stimulate antibodies not to their encoded antigens, but to the double-stranded DNA molecules themselves, creating autoimmune diseases.

There are even more concerns delaying development, but most concerns are clear, and the way past them seems clear. Still, it will take years – time that we in the here and now may not have. Bottom line: Survive long enough to enjoy plasmid DNA vaccines after 2010.

Then again, maybe just survive until 2008...

Has the Perfect Vaccine Been Discovered?

In January of 2006, clever scientists at the University of Pittsburg, not

researchers in any pharmaceutical company, announced that they had devised a vaccine that stopped H5N1 both in chickens and in mice. Eventual production would not require using chicken eggs. Genetic analysis of the antigen and assembly of the vaccine takes about one month, not the current several months.

Their discovery may be an answer to our prayers! But is it THE answer? If the mutating H5N1 politely holds off until about 2008, then **the Pittsburg vaccine** may be ready to save us. This is two years closer to a viral prophylactic than with unproven DNA vaccines. Nevertheless, if bird flu becomes "too friendly" with us humans late in 2006, or even into 2007, we are all in for big trouble. Right now, the Pittsburg technology is at the Petri-dish stage, and no drug company is lined up to make it.

Let's look first at the abstract of the February 2006 journal article:³⁷ A version of the common adenovirus was the starting point, then researchers added key elements of H5N1 from the lethal 2004 strain in Vietnam. In their words:

"We expressed different portions of HA from a recombinant replication-incompetent adenoviral vector, achieving vaccine production within 36 days of acquiring the virus sequence. BALB/c mice were immunized with a prime-boost vaccine and exposed to a lethal intranasal dose of VN/1203/04 H5N1 virus 70 days later. Vaccination induced both HA-specific antibodies and cellular immunity likely to provide heterotypic immunity. Mice vaccinated with full-length HA were fully protected from challenge with VN/1203/04."

Helping achieve that perfect score was the perfect match between what the vaccine was made of, and what actually challenged the mice and chickens. I'm excited about the "fully protected" phrase used for the mice, but not too happy with scientists waiting for 70 days after primary and booster vaccination before the mice were challenged. Seventy days is enough time for an entire wave of pandemic to circle the globe. But here we are talking about basic research, not production. The good news is that they were able to start laboratory production within 36 days of acquiring the virus sequence.

The abstract continues:

"A single subcutaneous immunization completely protected chickens from an intranasal challenge 21 days later with VN/1203/04, which proved lethal to all control-vaccinated chickens within 2 days. These data indicate that the rapid production and subsequent administration of recombinant adenovirus-based vaccines to both birds and high-risk individuals in the face of an outbreak may serve to control

the pandemic spread of lethal avian influenza."

Could vaccinating all domestic poultry in the world stop the wild bird link to humans? It could work, except that you need to come up with a \$1 vaccine for chickens, not a \$10 vaccine – and you need to ensure that all vaccines in the field are genuine and of high quality, a situation that appears not to be the case in China.³⁸ Vaccinating some chickens, even billions of them, will not necessarily eliminate the multiple variations of H5N1 that are already out there, soon to be nearly everywhere. Just because a chicken is vaccinated, that is no guarantee that an asymptomatic chicken won't pass on viruses anyway.³⁹ Also, pigs are ideal influenza mixing bowls, and nobody is vaccinating them.

Another and obvious point: After vaccinating hundreds of millions of chickens, most get eaten. This necessitates additional rounds of vaccinations for domestic poultry, because H5N1 will not disappear from wild birds.

At the end of the report on this vaccination discovery is a sobering reality check: 40

"Dr. David S. Fedson, a former adviser to several international vaccine advisory committees, said that even if the vaccine worked for humans, production would remain a limiting factor.

'These things are fast to do if you are in laboratory and you grow it in a petri dish — but to commercialize is a different story. It takes years,' he said. 'Like so much interesting biology, it will be difficult to get this new technology established in the market place.'"

Market place? *There is no vaccine market place.* The entire vaccine industry is entangled like a plate full of spaghetti with issues of legality, profitability, technology, cultural politics, religion, and a host of other negative intangibles. Global vaccine manufacturing is only half as big as Lipitor alone. Because of the politics of vaccines there is no HIV vaccine, so that 25 million have already perished, and another 40 million so far are waiting to die an early death. Even though a worst-case avian influenza pandemic could quickly slaughter a quarter of a billion people globally, there is no urgency in the "market place."

Here is a slightly more hopeful status report from WebMD:⁴¹ Human safety tests are poised to start in four to six months. However, even though testing will start in 2006, Dr. John Treanor, of the Univ. of Rochester,

cautions:

"This is not going to have as big an effect on the time to make a vaccine as you might think," he says. "It is generating the [ingredients needed to produce vaccine], it is the processing time, it is the putting-things-in-vials time, and all the other steps involved in making a vaccine," he says. "Growing a virus is one thing, but not the only thing. A process like this where you clone the gene into something would be faster. You shave time off the growth of the product, but there are other components that would still pose a time barrier." If the Pittsburg vaccine technology proves both safe and effective in humans – and if the H5N1 virus politely avoids humans until late 2007, or 2008 – there may indeed be an excellent vaccine for doctors to give to their patients, as long as timid pharmaceutical companies actually make enough of it to save the world.

Taking off the rose-colored glasses, if the new Pittsburg vaccine technology is not made ready and widely soon, then the recent and sober comments of Robert Webster should be taken to heart.⁴² He created the first H5N1 vaccine available in America. Doctor Webster was interviewed by *ABC News* in March of 2006.

In that interview he scientifically said there is a 50:50 chance that H5N1 will transform itself into a human strain, but that he personally believes it will happen. He is storing a three-month supply of food and water at his home. "Society just can't accept the idea that 50 percent of the population could die. And I think we have to face that possibility," Webster said. "I'm sorry if I'm making people a little frightened, but I feel it's my role."

- ²Gillis, Justin. U. S. Builds Stockpile of Vaccine for Flu Pandemic.
- Washington Post. November 30, 2005; Page A01.

- ³Lauerman, John. CSL Says It Plans to Introduce Flu Vaccine in U.S. *Bloomberg.* Feb. 7, 2006. (http://www.bloomberg.com/apps/news? pid=10000081&sid=ah_yrcGNrSnM&refer=Australia)
- ⁴ Hellerman, Caleb. bird flu vaccine eggs all in one basket. *CNN*. December 10, 2005.
- (http://www.cnn.com/2005/HEALTH/conditions/12/08/pdg.bird.flu.vac cine/index.html)
- ⁵Associated Press. Leavitt: Second bird flu vaccine in works. USA Today. 3/6/2006.

¹Tests show promise for bird flu vaccine in humans. *USA Today*. 8/7/2005. (http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/2005-08-06-birdflu_x.htm)

⁽http://www.washingtonpost.com/wpdyn/content/article/2005/11/29/AR20051129018 49.html)

(http://www.usatoday.com/news/washington/ 2006-03-06-bird-flu-vaccine_x.htm)

⁶Monnet, Dominique L. Antibiotic development and the changing role of the pharmaceutical industry. The Global Threat of Antibiotic Resistance: Exploring Roads towards Concerted Action. Meeting at the Dag Hammarskjold Foundation. Uppsala, Sweden. 5-7 May 2004.

⁷Fogel, Robert, and Rogers, Patricia. Penicillin: the first miracle drug. Fun Facts About Fungi. Utah State University Intermountain Herbarium. (<u>http://herbarium.usu.edu/fungi/FunFacts/penicillin.htm</u>)

⁸Marton, Tanya. Medical Innovations and War: WWII and the Miracle of Penicillin. (<u>http://www.mcatmaster.com/medicine&war/penicillin.htm</u>)

⁹Manning, Anita. 'Superbugs' infiltrate hospitals, communities. *USA Today.* 12/18/2005.

(http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/200512-18-superbugs-scientists x.htm)

¹⁰Garrett, Laurie. The Next Pandemic? *Foreign Affairs*, July/August 2005. (<u>http://www.foreignaffairs.org</u>)

¹¹Lipitor Leads the Way in 2003. *IMS World Review 2004.* IMS Health Incorporated. (http://www.imshealth.com/web/content/0,3148,64576068_63872702 _70260998_70960214,00.html)

¹²Gibbs, W. W., and Soares, C. Preparing for a Pandemic. *Scientific American.* October 24, 2005. (http://www.sciam.com/print_version. cfm?articleID=000DCB5A-9CC7-134E-9CC783414B7F0000)

¹³Trust for America's Health. Ready or Not? Protecting the Public's Health from Disease, Disasters, and Bioterrorism, 2005. (http://healthyamericans.org/reports/bioterror05/)

¹⁴Stemberg, Steve. Avian flu vaccine produces limited success. *USA Today*. 3/29/2006.

(http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/200603-29-bird-flu-vaccine x.htm)

¹⁵Schoolscience. History of Medicine: biographies. (http://www.schoolscience.co.uk/content/4/biology/abpi/history/biogr aphy.html#jenn)

¹⁶Scott, P. and Pierce, J. A. Edward Jenner and the Discovery of Vaccination. Thomas Cooper Library, Univ. of South Carolina. Spring 1996. (<u>http://www.sc.edu/library/spcoll/nathist/jenner.html</u>)

¹⁷Earn, David J. D., Dushoff, Jonathan, and Levin Simon A. Ecology and evolution of the flu. *TRENDS in Ecology & Evolution*. Vol. 17, No. 7. July 2002.

¹⁸Garrett, Laurie. The Next Pandemic? *Foreign Affairs.* July/August 2005.

¹⁹Spanish Flu 1918-1919. (http://www.geo.arizona.edu/Antevs/ nats104/00lect24spanishflu.html)

²⁰Homeland Security Council. *National Strategy for Pandemic Influenza.* November 2005.

²¹Scheibner, Viera. Adverse Effects of Adjuvants in Vaccines. *Nexus*. Dec. 2000 (Vol. 8, No. 1) & Feb. 2001 (Vol. 8, Number 2) (http://www.whale.to/vaccine/adjuvants.html)

²²Gupta, R.K., *et al.*, 1993. Adjuvants -a balance between toxicity and adjuvanticity. *Vaccine* 11(4).

²³Allstetter, William. Scientists Learn How Adjuvant Makes Vaccines Effective. *Medical News Today.* 18 June 2004.

(http://www.medicalnewstoday.com/medicalnews.php?newsid=9615)

²⁴Brown, David. Researchers Race to Boost Supply of Bird Flu Vaccine. *Washington Post.* February 12, 2006; A03. (http://www. washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2006/02/11/ AR2006021100839.html)

²⁵ DeNoon, Daniel. French Bird Flu Vaccine No Panacea. *WebMD*. May 10, 2006. (http://www.webmd.com/content/article/122/114526)

²⁶Laitin, Elissa A., and Pelletier, Elise M. The Influenza A/New Jersey (Swine Flu) Vaccine and Guillain-Barre Syndrome: The Arguments for a Causal Association. Harvard School of Public Health: Drugs and Devices Information Line. 1997.

(http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/Organizations/DDIL/swineflu.html) ²⁷ Fox, Maggie. Skin patch may strengthen flu vaccine. *Reuters*. May

10, 2006. (http://news.yahoo.com/s/nm/20060510/hl_nm/ birdflu_vaccine_dc_2)

²⁸Stone, Andrea. Senate provision would inoculate vaccine makers. USA Today 12/14/2005.

(http://www.usatoday.com/news/washington/2005-12-14-vaccineprotection_x.htm)

²⁹Associated Press. U.S. testing live virus vaccines against bird flu: Nasal spray could provide more effective protection against illnesses. *MSNBC.* Dec. 19, 2005. (http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/10530202/)

³⁰ http://www.cnn.com/2006/HEALTH/04/28/mild.fluseason.ap/ index.html

³¹U.S. Dept of HHS. *HHS Pandemic Influenza Plan.* Appendix F: Current HHS Activities. F-38. *2005*.

(http://www.hhs.gov/pandemicflu/plan/appendixf.html)

³²Chiron Corportion. Chiron Initiates U.S. Phase I/II Study of Influenza Cell Culture Vaccine. Press release: October 25, 2005.

³³Sanofi Aventis Corporation. Sanofi Pasteur awarded \$97 million HHS contract to accelerate cell-culture pandemic influenza vaccine development. Press release: April 1, 2005.

³⁴ Forde, Gareth M. Rapid-response vaccines-does DNA offer a

solution? *Nature Biotechnology*. 23, 1059-1062 (2005) doi:10.1038/nbt0905-1059.

(http://www.nature.com/nbt/journal/v23/n9/full/nbt0905-1059.html)

³⁵Bouchie, A. DNA vaccine deployed for endangered condors. *Nature Biotechnology.* 21, 9-11 (2003) doi:10.1038/nbt0103-9. (http://www.nature.com/nbt/journal/v21/n1/full/nbt0103-9.html)

³⁶Weiss, R. West Nile's widening toll. *Washington Post.* (p. A01, 28 December 2002).

³⁷Gao, Wentao, *et al.* Protection of Mice and Poultry from Lethal H5N1 Avian Influenza Virus through Adenovirus-Based Immunization. *Journal of Virology.* February 2006, p. 1959-1964., Vol. 80, No. 4. 022-538X/06/\$08.00+0. doi:10.1128/JVI.80.4.1959-1964.2006. (http://jvi.asm.org/cgi/content/abstract/80/4/1959)

³⁸Agence France Presse. Poor vaccines seen hampering bird flu efforts. *Asia Pacific News.* December 9, 2005. (http://www. channelnewsasia.com/stories/afp_asiapacific/view/182712/1/.html)

³⁹Reuters. Bird flu kills Chinese girl. March 8, 2006. (http://www. cnn.com/2006/HEALTH/03/08/birdflu.wrap.reut/index.html)

⁴⁰*ABC News.* January 27, 2006. (http://abcnews.go.com/Health/ story?id=1548603)

⁴¹ DeNoon, Daniel. DNA-Based Vaccine Could Be Ready Fast if Flu Pandemic Hits. *WebMD.* January 30, 2006. (http://www.webmd. com/content/Article/118/112846.htm)

⁴² Avila, Jim, and Ramsey, Meredith. Renowned Bird Flu Expert Warns: Be Prepared. *ABC News.* March 14, 2006. (http://abcnews. go.com/WNT/AvianFlu/story?id=1724801&page=1)

VI. Will Tamiflu Save Us?

OK, if we can't get a "shot," then the drug store surely has something to carry us over, right? Wrong. There is nothing we will be able to buy over the counter or on the black market that will absolutely stop the bird flu. There also is nothing your doctor can prescribe that will absolutely stop the bird flu. Even the recommendations I make in this book will not absolutely stop the bird flu. The goal is not to "beat" this virus, but to avoid or survive it.

Symptomatic relief is fine for ordinary flu and the common cold. Avian flu has shown it can swiftly overwhelm the entire body, even making its way into vital organs and the brain. If the pattern of 1918 repeats, there can be blood pouring from some victims' eyes, ears, nose, and elsewhere. You could be dead long before your body has time to mount an effective defense. Indeed, your body's defenses might even accelerate your demise with an overreaction, leading to a cytokine storm that fills your lungs. How good is a codeine cough suppressant in that case?

Tamiflu (oseltamivir) has been shown to be effective against both the A and B types of flu. This drug recently was tested on mice injected with H5N1. Laboratory mice are mammals genetically much closer to us than birds, and have long been used as animal models to estimate what would happen among humans. The drug was shown to be effective against bird flu, but *how effective?* Here is what the study's abstract itself says:¹

"Oseltamivir produced a dose-dependent antiviral effect against VN1203/04 in vivo (P<.01). The 5-day regimen at 10 mg/kg/day protected 50% of mice; deaths in this treatment group were delayed and indicated the replication of residual virus after the completion of treatment. Eight-day regimens improved oseltamivir efficacy, and dosages of 1 and 10 mg/kg/day significantly reduced virus titers in organs and provided 60% and 80% survival rates, respectively (P<.05). Overall, the efficacy of the 5-and 8-day regimens differed significantly (death hazard ratio, 2.658; P<.01). The new H5N1 antigenic variant VN1203/04 was more pathogenic in mice than was A/HK/156/97 virus, and a prolonged and higher-dose oseltamivir regimen may be required for the most beneficial antiviral effect."

In plain English, when mice were given the five-day amount of dose that humans are recommended to take, adjusted for body size, only HALF survived! And that's under controlled laboratory conditions with a viral strain still sensitive to the medicine. Going with eight days of treatment, the survival rate went up to 60% and 80%, meaning twenty to forty percent still perished with careful administration of this hyped-by-the-media wonder drug. It is now assumed that a ten-day regimen might have been better for the rodents.

Among the laboratory mice tested there was no adaptive resistance shown by the infecting H5N1 virus to oseltamivir, something that may already be happening among humans out in the real world.² There is an inverse relationship between a virus' adapting to a medicine and that medicine's effectiveness, up to the point where it doesn't even help to administer the drug at all.

In China chickens have received an estimated 2.6 billion doses of the affordable and formerly reliable antiviral drug, **amantadine**. Careless and widespread overuse among poultry has led to significant resistance by several highly pathogenic variants of H5N1 to this drug, robbing humans of a potentially helpful medicine.³

There is a similar drug, **rimantadine**,⁴ like amantadine a derivative of adamantine, which likewise seems to work against the virus M2 ion channel. We don't know how effective, if at all, it will be against a pandemic virus, or for how long.⁵ Indications are that, although it was effective against the early 1997 version of H5N1, it is not effective against the 2004 version, suggesting neither rimantadine nor amantadine will help us at all.⁶ Certain newly emerged variants of H5N1, as in Turkey, have somewhat responded to amantadine, but for how long?

Despite evidence that rimantadine may not be effective against H5N1, the U.S. government is including it anyway in the Strategic National Stockpile (SNS). As of October 2005, the SNS contained 2.26 million treatment regimens of oseltamivir, 5 million of rimantadine, and 84,000 treatment regimens of **zanamivir (Relenza)**.⁷

The government's March 13, 2006 update for its pandemic flu plan indicates that state and federal governments may have on hand 81 million antiviral courses for lucky recipients by the end of 2008. Certain

optimistic assumptions are built into this scenario, such as state funding, actual product delivery, and product effectiveness. Given this much time, our national defenses should be slightly better.

More supplies of these few antivirals are continually being added to the stockpile, but the total is still far below what any near term demand would be in a pandemic, assuming any of these antivirals helped much. Until total supplies become very plentiful, you and your healthy family will be out of luck under the government's Antiviral Drug Priority Group Recommendations.⁹

In January 2006 the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) went public with their latest findings on the prevalent seasonal flu, H3N2 afflicting large areas of the nation.¹⁰ The formerly reliable, and cheap, amantadine and rimantadine were found to have become 91 percent ineffective against this seasonal strain. Nobody knows exactly how or when this resistance happened. Doctors are now advised to not prescribe either medicine for this strain. These older drugs were effective against the 1997 variant of H5N1, but no longer effective in 2004. So we are left with the more expensive Tamiflu (oseltamivir), and the less common and harder to administer Relenza (zanamivir). These are the best two drugs that have been stockpiled for pandemic flu – stocks of both now being substantially diminished to treat seasonal flu.

Let's assume that Tamiflu will save some human lives. So, how many? There are some four million "duration doses" of Tamiflu in America, or about enough medicine to help two percent of the population for one week. By 2007 there may be enough Tamiflu to protect as many as five percent of the population for one week during the first wave of a pandemic. These numbers will apply as long as the U.S. government doesn't foolishly rush reserve Tamiflu stock overseas to try to quell the alpha outbreak – or deplete stocks to treat seasonal flu, which they are already doing.

Remember the critical difference between a drug and a vaccine: A drug does not by itself give post-administration protection, unlike a vaccine. If you have any lasting benefit from a drug, it is due to your body's own defenses having had time to build up a firewall against future attacks during an infection that occurs when you are being protected by the drug. Pandemics can appear in waves over one or two years. After the small stocks of antivirals are exhausted in the first wave, what will we have left in the official pharmacy for protection thereafter? It looks like some in the lucky minority could be out of luck when the next viral waves arrive.

Consider too that the ever-adapting bird flu may find ways to more efficiently "get around" Tamiflu's effects by the time it returns a few months later, assuming there is any of this medicine left. Finally, after hospitals and institutions are supplied, how many doses will be made available for the general public outside the inevitable black market? If we send most of our supplies overseas in a failed effort to quarantine this flu shortly after it mutates, there might not be much genuine Tamiflu left even for the very wealthy and their inevitable black market. My guess is that there will be plenty of counterfeit Tamiflu to buy, providing a placebo effect.

It is logical to ask why there isn't more Tamiflu anyway. After all, production isn't restricted by a 1950s chicken egg technology. One of the world's largest pharmaceutical companies, Roche, makes it. So, what's the bottleneck? Actually, there are several bottlenecks, none of which can be instantly resolved. First, the multi-step process of manufacturing Tamiflu takes almost a year (shades of belated chicken egg vaccines), and involves ten stages, including one stage that uses an explosive. Not just any company can set up shop to make this medicine overnight.¹¹

There is a second bottleneck of most interesting origin: The primary source for a starting ingredient in Tamiflu is herbal. The plant of origin is the **Chinese star anise (Illicium verum)**. The highly toxic Japanese star anise (*Illicium anisatum*) is never used. The Chinese tree fruit is a bountiful source of **shikimic acid**, which is one of the key starting elements for Tamiflu.¹²

This plant is notoriously difficult and slow to cultivate. It only grows in a few areas of Vietnam and China. It only begins to flower after six years. Most of the world's supply of star anise has already been purchased by Roche. Scientists have estimated it would take ten more years to gather enough to produce a quantity of Tamiflu that could treat for about one week a fifth of the world's population.¹³ At that rate it would take fifty years to produce enough Tamiflu to treat today's world numbers just one week.

Although star anise has an anise-like flavor, and has been used for colic and rheumatism, it has not been traditionally used in China for treating influenza. (Anise itself is an annual, aromatic Mediterranean plant, *Pimpinella anisum,* in the parsley family.) Within some Tibetan prescriptions the Chinese star anise is used for this purpose.¹⁴ Tamiflu is not just concentrated Chinese star anise, having long lost its natural traits after so many manufacturing steps; but it is interesting and somewhat ironic to note its humble herbal source. Taking Chinese star anise by itself will not protect you from H5N1, nor from any other strain of pandemic flu.

Recently, more available supplies of shikimic acid have been located in the needles of pine, spruce and fir trees. A small Canadian company, Biolyse Pharma Corp., is now processing some discarded trees to retrieve the acid.¹⁵ This new business is fairly good news, if they can produce enough shikimic acid to help globally. The primary bottleneck remains, which is the complexity and long time involved in going from shikimic acid to Tamiflu itself. Still, it's good news finding another source beyond star anise.

Imitation can be a strange form of flattery. If you are an entrepreneur with zero moral scruples lusting for easy profits from the gullible, then you don't care if your imitation is bogus, even possibly harmful. Throw in the law of tight supply with soaring inelastic demand, and it is inevitable that fake "generic" Tamiflu will find its way onto our shores. Already at the end of 2005 the first shipments of placebos have been intercepted by U.S. Customs. The first fake Tamiflu has as its best ingredient vitamin C.¹⁶

Nature abhors a vacuum. Counterfeit product will continue to fill the growing gap between radically increasing demand for effective bird flu pharmaceuticals, and the scarce supply of what little we do have that works. Ironically, even though authentic Tamiflu is somewhat effective today, sometime in the future it may also become a placebo against pandemic bird flu. At that point it might not matter whether you are taking genuine or fake Tamiflu.

Are you still hoping that Tamiflu will save you, if only you can have some ready for use? When you get sick you could have the regular flu, or some other infection with flu-like symptoms; but you must take your Tamiflu very early in the infection for it to work against the bird flu. Do you risk possibly wasting the scarce medicine on a milder problem, or do you wait to see if more severe complications occur? What do you and your doctor quickly decide when given that puzzle?

Ok, let's assume you are exactly right in your guess, and you even start

your precious Tamiflu therapy at the start of your bird flu infection. Will that set things right?

A highly disturbing report out of Vietnam at the end of 2005 revealed that two girls with bird flu died despite receiving early and aggressive treatment with Tamiflu, and at the recommended doses.¹⁷ Previous reports in October 2005 of resistance involved people who had taken low doses.

Nearly all of the documented victims of H5N1 eventually received intensive hospital care, including Tamiflu. Still, their death rate has been around one in two. What will be the global death rate when all the hospitals are filled, and when medicines and ventilators are not available, with most people left caring for loved ones in their homes?

A Ray of Hope for the Lucky Few

There is a new/old drug that could be rushed into production sometime in 2006 under the government's Emergency Use Authorization (EUA) authority. It is called **peramivir**.¹⁸ Basically, it works against viruses like Tamiflu, but it hasn't been used in the field against viruses, so there is currently no resistance to it. The bad guy bugs will likely find a way to mutate around peramivir too, but not at first.

Peramivir was tested orally in the late 1990s, but found to be poorly bioavailable and expensive. Now a new round of tests is under way, using it in injectable form, bypassing the gut. As long as you can get to a doctor or hospital, and they have some available for you, peramivir might work, and for a great reason: One treatment stays in the system for ten days! (Remember that it takes eight days of continuous Tamiflu treatment to help significantly, if at all.) Again, this medicine has never been tested on H5N1, so we can only guess as to its effectiveness. I suppose that it will work very well initially, at least for those who aren't too sick when treatment begins.

The government hasn't yet ordered any for the national stockpile, but likely will. It can't be worse than some of the dubious pharmaceuticals already ordered. Peramivir's manufacturer, BioCryst Pharmaceuticals, Inc., says they can produce 8 million doses soon, and a half-year later as much as ten million doses per month. That sounds like a great number, but placed against worldwide demand it still isn't that much. Even producing at that rate, we are talking about the end of 2008 before there will be enough to treat a population of ill people on this planet equal to the population of America. Peramivir will be especially valuable for ill people who cannot take oral medications, and it appears to have a fast onset of action. On the other hand, precisely because peramivir cannot be administered orally this medication is only for some of the lucky "haves" in this world with access to modern parenteral drug administration technology.

The AWOL Life Saving Discovery

There is yet another exciting drug maybe in development, truly awesome in its potential for stopping a gruesome and rapid death. In the 1918 outbreak, and also recently in Vietnam and China, many victims have directly succumbed to the virus as a result of their body's overreaction to the invading army. The resultant "cytokine storm" saw T-cells clogging up the very breathing passages they were trying to defend. Many pandemic influenza victims in 1918 died in one day from bleeding and sheer inability to breathe.

In 2003 British scientists found a modified protein that can stop cytokine storms. A study carried out by researchers from Imperial College London, and published in the *Journal of Experimental Medicine*,¹⁹ developed a way of stopping cytokine storms during infection, by reducing the response of active T white blood cells by one third. *The key thing they did – unlike other drugs that depress the immune system, leaving the body unable to attack the virus – was to inhibit signaling signals called OX40.*

OX40 sends out a survival message telling T cells to remain in the lungs to fight the infection. But too much of a good thing can be a bad thing. The cure becomes worse than the disease. The researchers were able to inhibit, or down-regulate, this signal with a fusion protein called OX40:Ig. This protein, which was supplied by the pharmaceutical company Xenova Research,²⁰ allowed T cells to vacate the lungs of test subjects earlier without stopping an adequate immune response. Six days after infection with flu, the subjects treated with OX40:Ig were indistinguishable from uninfected controls!

Sounds GREAT, right? Wrong. The subjects were mice. Months and possibly years of required testing with other animals and humans would be needed. A patented wonder drug from this discovery could have been in development, and possibly even ready for us humans about now. It is three years later. Where is this drug?

¹Yen, Hui-Ling, *et al.* Virulence May Determine the Necessary Duration and Dosage of Oseltamivir Treatment for Highly Pathogenic A/Vietnam/1203/04 Influenza Virus in Mice. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases.* Vol. 192 (2005), pages 665-672. DOI: 10.1086/432008. PubMed ID: 16028136.

(http://www.journals.uchicago.edu/cgibin/resolve?id=doi:10.1086/432008)

²Commentary. Emerging H5N1 Tamiflu Resistance in Northern Vietnam. *Recombinomics.* May 18, 2005.

(http://www.recombinomics.com/News/05180505/H5N1 Emerging Ta miflu Resistance.html)

³Amantadine. *Wikipedia.* (This evolving online encyclopedia has recently been judged by the journal *Nature* to be about as accurate as the *Encyclopedia Britannica* on scientific topics:

http://www.usatoday.com/tech/news/2005-12-14-nature-wiki x.htm)

⁴Rimantadine. *Wikipedia.*

⁵ International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers & Associations. Tamiflu the preferred option for pandemic stockpiling, says EMEA (European Medicines Agency). *SCRIP World Pharmaceutical News.* 11/3/2005.

(http://www.ifpma.org/PressReviewEmail/PressReviewDetail.aspx?nID =3727&SD=ewIYazpfdgddekhloqt51A%3D%3D)

⁶WHO. Avian Influenza A (H5N1) Infection in Humans. *The New England Journal of Medicine.* Vol 353:1374-1385. Number 13. September 29, 20005 (http://content.nejm.org/cgi/content/ full/353/13/1374)

⁷U.S. Dept of HHS. *HHS Pandemic Influenza Plan. 2005.* S7-16.

⁸http://www.pandemicflu.gov/plan/pdf/panflu20060313.pdf

⁹HHS. *HHS Pandemic Influenza Plan.* 2005. D-21.

¹⁰ Falco, Miriam. CDC: Two influenza drugs don't work. Doctors asked to stop prescribing amantadine and rimantadine. *CNN.* January 14, 2006. (http://www.cnn.com/2006/HEALTH/01/14/flu.drugs/ index.html)

¹¹Laurance, Jeremy. Why an exotic fruit is the world's only weapon against bird flu. *The Independent.* Octoer 15, 2005. (http://news.independent.co.uk/uk/health_medical/article319716.ece)

¹² Star anise. *Wikipedia*.

¹³Rhodes, Chloe. Chinese fruit offers hope in bird flu fight. *Health.telegraph.* 10/18/2005. (http://www.telegraph.co.uk/health/main.jhtml?view=DETAILS&grid= P8&xml=/health/2005/10/18/hstar18.xml)

¹⁴Zhuoqiong, Wang. Star anise soars to surprise fame. *China Daily.* November 2, 2005. (http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/english/doc/200511/02/content_489694.htm)

¹⁵Walton, Marsha. O Tamiflu: Turning Christmas trees into flu drug.

CNN. January 23, 2006. (http://www.cnn.com/2006/HEALTH/ conditions/01/20/tamiflu.xmas.trees/index.html)

¹⁶Associated Press. Agents seize first known shipments of fake Tamiflu. *USA Today.* 12/18/2005.

(http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/2005-12-18-faketamiflu_x.htm) ¹⁷Associated Press. Bird flu victims died due to Tamiflu resistance. *MSNBC.* Dec. 21, 2005. (http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/10561923/from/RS.2/)

¹⁸Toner, Eric. Peramivir: Single Dose Prophylaxis for Flu? *Clinicians' Biosecurity Network.* October 12, 2005.

(http://www.upmcbiosecurity.org/avianflu/peramivir.html)

¹⁹Newcomb, Rachel. Cure for flu found? *BUPA investigative news.* 28 October 2003. (http://www.bupa.co.uk/health_information/html/ health_news/281003flu.html) ²⁰ Xenova Group Limited. (http://www.xenova.co.uk/dc_x040.html)

VII. Every Disease Has a Context

All of us eventually die. That's a fact nobody sane disputes, at least as far as our physical bodies are concerned. Thus, the real question is not if, but when and how we physically die. Ideally, we would prefer to arrange the exact time and terms of our own passing away. Few do.

Many societies and religions are quite fatalistic. Our lives are in the hands of God, it is believed, and only He knows when and how we will die. If that were really so, then we all could tempt fate every day, knowing that statistically most people live a long life. I am thinking of Bill Murray's odd weatherman character in *Groundhog Day*.¹ Because of his grumpy karma he was sentenced to repeat the past day for many cycles. Murray's character would always wake up the next morning as he did the last morning. So, he tried creative ways to kill himself, all to no avail. As for me, I freely choose to live *as if* I were only generally influenced by "fate," not micro-managed by string-pulling deities, or by Fates with occult motives.

With reference to any microbial infection, we are simply flesh and blood. Robots and regular machines cannot catch the flu. Machines break, but their parts can be replaced. Humans are more wholes than assemblages of parts. When we break, especially from systemic infections, it is not always possible to insert a working part. The human body is a whole system within the greater ecosystem of systems.

Interestingly, viruses become systems within the systems of our cells. Every system has its feedback logic, the key to its existence and maintenance. The formula for a long and healthy human life includes understanding systems both larger and smaller than our selves. The key to managing viruses involves understanding how their systems relate to our cellular systems. We also need to humble ourselves enough to admit that viruses and bacteria have been around for hundreds of millions of years longer than we have. Tiny microbes are really the big winners in evolution. Humans are a single species briefly passing through this biosphere. Microbes hold us no malice. They are just looking for nutrient soups that will provide them with energy to thrive and multiply. We cannot kill them all off. We can at best only manage those microbes intersecting our lives. By intelligently managing our external and internal ecosystems, we can thereby contain or manage most viral threats.

Denial and Diminishment

I am forever fascinated by the power of human **denial**. Denial is not a river in Africa. It is our primary way of not dealing with threats in their proper context. We hope that denying something bad will give it time to go away on its own. Denial can be great strategy when it works, and disastrous when it doesn't.

A close cousin of denial is **diminishment**. If it's absurd to deny with a straight face something that's in our face, then diminishment works almost as well. Many people diminished in their minds the potential dangers of Hurricane Katrina, to their peril. Some people diminish the real flu by comparing it to so-called stomach flu.

Most potential victims of bird flu will be just as unwilling from denial or ignorance to prepare for weeks and months in advance to fight for their lives. Yes, their unprepared bodies will put up a heroic fight, successful or not, when finally attacked by swarms of pathogens. The outcome of each life-or-death struggle will have less to do with Fate than with our fateful choices, as individuals and societies, months or years in advance.

The greatest clichŽ is, "an ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure." Few people are willing to proactively invest in that "ounce" now to avoid the "pound" later. Coach Bobby Knight said: "Most people have the will to win, few have the will to prepare to win."² Speaking as a licensed life insurance agent who has talked with hundreds of people about their future risk potential, I know the smell of irrational rationalism. Even our nation's federal budget is increasingly built on psychedelic denial and diminishment.

A Gresham's Law of Politics would say, "bad politicians drive out good politicians." Do they really? We good citizens repeatedly vote back into

power the bad politicians who tell us perfumed lies about what they have done to protect us. Where does the buck really stop?

The best attitude we ordinary citizens can have when faced with a bird flu type of threat is a trained military mentality.

(That is not the same as calling in the military. The guns of our military are worthless against a microscopic adversary.) In the military, professional soldiers train well in advance for all expected eventualities. When the battle is on, soldiers rely on their knowledge training, utilizing resources at hand for maximum effectiveness. They do not panic. They think in terms of making it from one individual goal to the next, staying focused on the here and now, and staying rational and objective. This focused strategy helps more soldiers survive. The same trained military mentality is necessary for our civilian society to survive, facing up to several million almost random deaths. Guilty pleasures of denial and procrastination provide no comfort in the heat of battle, and can hasten our demise. Panic can kill our loved ones. It's that simple.

You and I, as long as we enjoy being self-indulgent, are the real reason why the medical profession works inefficiently.

We are unwilling to give up our cigarettes, booze, fatty junk food, stressful workplace activities, and a host of other bad habits. We are unwilling to get enough exercise, sleep enough hours, practice safe sex, drive safely, and show enough kindness to pure strangers. At the same time, we demand expensive, high-tech health care, including the latest drugs – preferably paid for by somebody else.

As long as somebody else (our employer, our government) apparently pays for our expensive medical care today, who cares? Eventually, the medical debt we accumulate today must be paid. Right now, it looks like the survivors among our children and grandchildren will be stuck with our bills. The great investing American economy is morphing into a giant credit card. By 2005 we were spending more than we were investing. This hasn't happened for a full year since 1933.³

I can't make a lifestyle choice for you. Whether or not you agree with all the ideas in this book, you still need to decide where you stand. Will you move more toward taking care of your own future, or will you continue to be passive and fatalistic? Time could be of the essence. How much more time do your loved ones have before viral wolves appear? A CNN/USA Today/Gallup Poll conducted in December of 2005 asked 500 people across America this question: "Which comes closest to your view about the bird flu virus? It will not strike the United States at all. There will be a minor outbreak in the United States. There will be a major outbreak in the United States, but it will not create a crisis. Or, It will strike the United States and create a crisis."⁴

14% said it would not strike the U.S. at all. They are the uninformed ones in blissful denial.

63% said it would be a minor outbreak. They are the under-informed diminishers. They see the currently few numbers of direct bird flu victims, and project likewise when migratory birds bring it to America.

13% said it would be a major outbreak, and 8% said it would be a crisis. They are the scientific realists, or maybe just news junkies.

Only 2% were unsure, an amazingly low percentage for such a complex question.

Time and Opportunity

How many people really believe in germs? Intellectually, most do. Viscerally, most people only believe in what they can see or sense. I once worked as a water pollution control planner. It is known that consumers would choose mildly polluted water that is clear and tasteless, over sanitary hard water with some iron flavor and staining residue.

As previously mentioned, during the ghastly American civil war more soldiers died from wounds that became infected, than directly from the bullets themselves. ⁵Surgeons with blood on their hands did not understand the need for sanitation, a concept that Dr. Joseph Lister promoted just after the civil war. Dirty tools, dirty sponges, and dirty hands all were used. Sanitation between surgeries was rinsing bloody instruments in cold water. It was not until the mid-1870s that antiseptic medicine became the norm. That's about thirty-five years after Edward Jenner's idea of vaccination belatedly became the legal norm in England.⁶

Even in the modern era it is easy to imagine disease as being "dis-ease," literally, being not at ease. It is easy to think of evil humors, of astrological tendencies, of divine disfavor, of karma, of voodoo spells, of witches, or any other fanciful reason beyond those unseen viruses. Without disease and death most religions would have less appeal. Without suffering, the release to Heaven we expect is less joyful. It is death itself that allows for the promise of eternal life in the hereafter. Without death we would live forever, meaning that any day would be an infinitesimal part of the whole, and for practical purposes meaningless. Both birth and death give our days from womb to tomb their meaning.

It will be easy to blame Big Pharma for not producing enough vaccine. They can't/won't even produce enough regular flu vaccine. However, *Big Pharma alone is not ultimately to blame.* Look at the first \$253 million jury award against the Merck analgesic, VIOXX.⁷ There are many additional lawsuits against Merck for this one drug. Litigation, actual and potential, does not encourage stock investors – nor does it encourage drug manufacturers to experiment and innovate, especially in areas that represent a minority of their activities, and yield a minority of their profits. It's much easier, and much more profitable, to come out with another me-too blood pressure reducer, or something for erectile dysfunction.

Flu vaccines with dead viral particles carry some risk. Flu vaccines with disabled, but live, viruses carry greater risk. Any bird flu vaccine sufficiently potent to nearly protect us may carry a lot more legal risk. No bird flu vaccine can totally protect all of its recipients from such a lethal disease. In the global theater there are risks associated with batch contamination, allergies, storage, transportation, and mass administration of doses. Because there are many potential avenues for losing huge lawsuits, Big Pharma is absolutely unwilling to step forward alone and legally naked in today's climate.

Current vaccine manufacturers with their limited production capabilities will produce what they can. However, this rich country, and indeed the world, needs many more production facilities built within the next twelve months, if the will can produce the way. Yes, after the killer virus has learned how to jump from human to human there will be a great cry for vaccines; but by then it will be much too late. Today's vaccine producing technology will be too slow for the first wave of death, but with sufficient standby surge capacity enough vaccine could be produced to save untold millions around the world during recurring waves after the first six months. Yes, a targeted vaccine will be produced when the real virus steps forward; but few on this planet will benefit.

Time lost is opportunity lost. We have had and wasted a ten-year warning for this killer virus. It is imperative that vaccine manufacturers be protected against lawsuits, and equally imperative to also guarantee production of bird flu vaccine on a massive scale. Vaccine is fairly perishable. Furthermore, flu viruses can mutate rapidly to weaken the powers of existing vaccine stocks. Manufacturers will also need to be shielded against losing billions of dollars from unused doses, if we get lucky this time around. Let's pray that we get lucky and waste a lot of money manufacturing vaccine that won't be needed. Praying for luck is about all we have left.

Before 9/11 nobody expected THAT to happen. We didn't see it coming. If we had, we would have acted appropriately to prevent the terror. In 2006 science actually knows what is to come, just not exactly when and in what form it will appear. This is the first time in human history that we can see a pandemic unfolding. Given the history of previous pandemics and plagues, we have a good idea of the quasi-nuclear havoc that could ensue. Still, nobody in power is stepping forward to fund the necessary program. The cost of building more production capacity to protect hundreds of millions more people from a horrible death is about what the U.S. spends over a week or two on Iraq and Afghanistan.

The murderous psychopaths who attacked thousands of innocent civilians on 9/11 believed they were acting with the will of God, and that they would go to Heaven and enjoy the favors of 72 virgins. Their seventh-century attitude is at the extreme end of a continuum of consciousness that pervades most of human society. We humans generally believe our actions are somehow sanctioned, if not guided, by divinity.

I hold that any omniscient divinity would want his special creatures to act with his creative spirit, literally acting "in the image of God."[§] Such enlightened actions would involve rationally responding to every challenge we encounter as creatures of wisdom and compassion. Wisdom means we will approach the threat of bird flu from within our highest capacity as sentient beings in the image of God. We can be inspired in our compassion by the healing ministry of Jesus.

Even if God were not in the picture, the Platonic ideal of a wise and caring god would still be fully there for us to measure ourselves against. Our values don't all have to come from "up there." We should do our best to embrace the whole picture, not just fragments of the picture. Better vision will lead us to better ways to stay alive and prosper. What's good for our whole community is good for our loved ones.

Wholes and Parts

A recent study of the unintended side effects from taking prescription medicine for heartburn illustrates *the danger of overly compartmentalizing* the symphony of our bodies.⁹ Doctors call these effects "iatrogenic". That's a fancy word for the medicine possibly being worse that the disease.

This study of people taking highly advertised, highly profitable, proton pump inhibitors (Prilosec, Prevacid, and Nexium), and H2 blockers (Zantac, Pepcid, and Tagamet), showed greater risk of infection from a potentially dangerous diarrhea bug known as *Clostridium difficile*. Colic from infection is a major problem in nursing homes, where patients are often heavily medicated, and where germs can pass from patient to patient in close proximity.

It is ironic that nature has always had a much more gentle remedy for occasional benign heartburn, and for helping prevent occasional acid reflux. You can even buy it at most grocery store checkouts. However, you will never see it advertised as therapeutic, for legal reasons – nor is it likely that your doctor will prescribe a remedy without millions of dollars of patent-directed research behind it.

That natural aide is none other than herbal **peppermint oil** (*Mentha piperita*) sufficiently present in original peppermint Altoids, which have been in production since 1780. In the nineteenth century these British mints were advertised as relieving intestinal discomfort.¹⁰ You can enjoy Altoids daily for just a few pennies. A bonus from freely eating herbal peppermint is the fresh breath you will enjoy.

My mother's crisis, which I mentioned in this book's preface, did not involve prescription drugs, but she did suffer from a floral imbalance in her intestines. Do the proton pump inhibitors, and to a lesser extent the H2 blockers, help shift the intestinal distribution of species in favor of the "bad" bacteria? My mother's situation involved stomach-tube consumption of sterile food, which means she had no infusion of "good" bacteria to offset the "bad" bacteria we all breathe in and swallow daily. Normalizing her inner environment by adding some "good" bacteria greatly helped, and so should normalizing the inner environment of many suffering from iatrogenic effects of pricy prescription drugs. There are conditions such as ulcers where these expensive new drugs are indicated, rather than peppermint; so your doctor should be consulted first. It could be cancer, and that's another treatment scenario. After you consult with your doctor, and learn that it's just an ordinary ulcer, why not first give raw cabbage juice a try? That's right, ordinary cabbage in your grocery store just might stop that ulcer in two weeks! It's an old European naturopathic therapy. If it doesn't get rid of your chronic ulcer, you can always go with the high-dollar pills.

Just place into a kitchen blender a chunk of uncooked head cabbage sufficient in size to yield a half glass of raw juice. Strain away the pulp, leaving simple juice. Immediately drink it. Do this three times daily on an empty stomach for a few days. It can't hurt you; it's just ordinary cabbage.

An internist in Santa Fe came to me extremely grateful that I had cured his wife's ulcer with raw cabbage juice after he had for months failed to help her. Alas, that was in the 1980s. With today's advanced medicines, maybe you'll just want to pop some pricy pills instead, especially if somebody else is paying for them.

You may be wondering how antacids are related to the bird flu. Directly, they likely are not related. The important lesson here is that if we insist on compartmentalizing our lives into problem spots and simple therapies, reducing our whole into a machine-like collection of parts, we overlook how we really function as an organic symphony. As we increasingly ignore centuries of naturopathic experience, while lusting for the pill companies' latest, we risk losing the harmonic best of our medical heritage. Like it or not, we are part of nature, not above nature.

I believe a *partial* defense against avian influenza can be had from an optimally healthy body. Any time we merely treat local symptoms, generating iatrogenic effects, we leave our whole body less vital, and less able to survive the nearly nuclear attack of a pandemic influenza virus.

The Disease Model

I would like to elaborate on what I mentioned earlier about the "seed and soil" model of understanding viral disease.

My essay in early 1981 related to HIV, which produces AIDS. That model

in modified form could also apply to other viruses. I have noticed that parasites of all types look for easy food. Certainly, we see this patterned behavior among the lions of Africa that seek out the old, the sick, and the young in prey herds. I had a late friend who started to attract biting bugs shortly before he was diagnosed with a form of blood cancer. He and I would go for hikes in the forest, and voracious bugs would dive bomb him, while totally ignoring me.

None of this anecdotal evidence proves anything about the flu, but it is coherent and logical. Even influenza viruses need to safely land on "fertile ground" that will give them the energy they need to thrive. A sub-optimal immune system might allow a critical number of viral particles to get past the cellular defenders. Once safely inside our target cells they will multiply, and then burst out in much greater numbers that can overwhelm our defenses. Given enough time, about a week or so, our humoral defenses will start to develop precise antibodies against the viral antigens. The problem with bird flu is that we may be too ill, or dead, before B-cell antibody defenses have had time to save us.

Antivirals such as Tamiflu and even vaccinations do not attempt to totally protect us against infection. *The strategy is to manage the pathogen invasion for long enough to give our own bodies the time we need to precisely identify the pathogen, craft a targeted defense, and produce enough antibodies to survive.* Drugs ideally buy time by interfering with the activities of viruses. Vaccines ideally prepare and accelerate our precise defensive response. With drugs that cannot be taken continuously over a long period of time, the challenge is to time their administration within a very narrow window for immunity to build. With potent vaccines, timing is not an issue, as long as the vaccination is done several weeks ahead of infection.

If we want to create a nice lawn it is always wise to spread around enough extra seed to feed the birds and bugs that eat grass seeds. A sufficient number of seeds will survive to ensure a rich carpet of new grass. Nature often follows this strategy during reproduction, as when seventeen-year locusts emerge and crawl up trees in vast numbers, too many for the hungry birds to eat. Other examples abound, as with octopi, salmon, and many other species that don't care for their offspring as we do.

If we are blessed with a strong immune system, but inhale several billion pandemic viral particles from each nearby cough, we are still in mortal

danger of coming down with the full disease. It's a numbers and time contest. Can our agile T-cells eat enough invading viruses before a critical number of them sneak into our regular cells to shortly multiply into overwhelming numbers?

This *numbers game* is a primary reason for practicing exquisite hygiene, which can sharply reduce the number of ingested or inhaled viral particles. Even a fairly poor soil will grow something if enough seeds are planted in it. Even a fairly rich soil will grow little if few seeds are planted in it. Here is a reason for wearing a sterile and highly efficient mask, preferably an N95 mask, when our lungs are exposed to an environment rich in airborne viral particles. A good mask may not filter all of the viral particles; but it may capture enough to allow for a natural inoculation, not a devastating infection.

This idea of **natural inoculation** by sub-critical numbers of viral particles is my hypothesis for why some people may later show antibodies for pandemic influenza, without having had it clinically. It is also one theory for why pandemics eventually go away, even though not everybody has gotten sick thereby.

I absolutely do NOT recommend that you consciously attempt to "naturally inoculate" yourself, because you likely will end up with the full-powered disease. There is no way to measure in advance your margin of error.

With the HIV virus the "seed and soil" management model includes modifying the "soil" itself, so that a metaphorically moist and fertile soil becomes, as it were, dry and hostile, even to already growing plants. Changing the "soil" is done in various ways, but they all take time. Only a targeted vaccine against stable elements of HIV would allow us to instantly do this.

With an attacking H5N1 virus we don't have time to adjust "soil" receptivity. We could stop influenza seed this way if we had previously received a perfectly targeted vaccine; but in 2006 and 2007 humanity doesn't have anything but a small supply of poorly targeted serum. Full influenza symptoms can appear rapidly, which is why it is critical to ensure that the "soil" of our body's metabolism starts out sufficiently and immediately "poor." Hopefully we will be attacked by a limited number of invading influenza particles.

Another use for this metaphor is to provide a heuristic framework to explain why killed-virus vaccines (including fractions of viruses) can need adjuvants to work efficiently, whereas attenuated live-virus vaccines need less serum. Briefly, killed vaccines are like poor seed; live vaccines are like better seed. You need more of the inferior germinal seeds to grow the same crop that you would get with vital seed. Without an adjuvant you will likely need larger quantities of killed or fractional viral serum, and a booster shot. Adjuvants work like "fertilizer" for marginal seed, in this case the marginal seed of a killed/fractional vaccine.

This metaphor may also help to explain why many people become clinically infected with pandemic flu, and then recover. They simply escaped a big "dose" of infectious particles, either through luck or applied hygiene. It was within the range for their cellular defenses to slow the initial invasion, allowing time to develop a targeted immunity.

The idea of natural inoculation is a concept that cannot be fully tested in advance of a pandemic. The timing and administration of a viral load sufficient to self-inoculate, yet not get sick, or not get seriously sick, should vary greatly among individuals within a population. Therefore, it is ALWAYS wisest to minimize or eliminate exposure at all times. This cautious recommendation applies even if you have on hand plentiful supplies of Tamiflu or any other recommended defense. The ounce of prevention can be worth a ton of cure.

Pandemics are never neat and tidy. There is the Spanish Flu mystery involving pulmonary cytokine storms that quickly killed so many healthy young adults aged 15 to 35. There is evidence, as reported earlier herein, that the current form of bird flu likewise stimulates cytokine storms. Cytokine storms are not exclusively related to influenza, but are also seen in post-operative situations.¹¹ Unlike the U-shaped death curve associated with seasonal flu, the worst pandemic viruses can generate a W-shaped death curve, with many infants, elderly, and healthy young adults dying. The lowest death rates in the Spanish Flu era were among older preadolescents and pre-senior adults.

If the great *in vivo* discovery of 2003 were not still locked up in private research labs, then hospitals now might have a way to stop cytokine storms. Short of the bullet medicine we tantalizingly cannot have, what can we do? I will try to answer that question with a hygienic strategy and some botanicals that may help lower your risk of a cytokine storm.

There is no panacea for any pandemic, and especially for something as nearly nuclear as the H5N1 virus. A near-term goal will be to reduce the death rate in all ways possible with the tools that we do have. We cannot magically eliminate risk with tools we don't yet have, and may never have. If we keep our eyes on the context of disease, we can optimize the context of our lives.

Groundhog Day. 1993. (http://www.imdb.com/title/tt0107048/)

³Knight, Bobby. *Brainy Quote.* (http://www.brainyquote.)

[°] Crutsinger, Martin. Savings Rate at Lowest Level Since 1933. Associated Press. January 30, 2006. (http://www.washingtonpost. com/wp-dyn/content/article/2006/01/30/AR2006013000262.html)

[°]CNN/USA Today/Gallup Poll. Dec. 9-11, 2005. Nationwide. (http://www.pollingreport.com/health3.htm)

Goellnitz, Jenny. *This Tide of Wounded: An Intro to Civil Wa*r *Medicine.* 2004.

(http://www.civilwarmedicine.aphillcsa.com/generalinfo.html)

[°] Bayne-Jones, Stanhope, M.D. *The Evolution of Preventive Medicine in the United States Army, 1607-1939.* Office of the Surgeon General, Dept. of the Army. Washington, D.C. 1968.

(http://history.amedd.army.mil/booksdocs/misc/evprev/default.htm)

['] Smith, Aaron. Jury: Merck negligent. *CNN/Money*. August 22, 2005. (http://money.cnn.com/2005/08/19/news/fortune500/vioxx/)

Genesis 1:27 (http://www.bibleontheweb.com/Bible.asp)

² Davis, Jeanie L. Heartburn Drugs May Cause Diarrhea: Drugs Stifle Body's Defense Against Diarrhea Bug. *WebMD.* Dec. 20, 2005. (http://www.webmd.com/content/article/116/112226.htm)

Altoids official company site. (http://www.altoids.com/about.do)

¹¹ Chachkhiani, I., *et al.* Cytokines: role in infection, inflammation and early diagnosis of postoperative complications. *Trans-Caucasian Journal of Immunology.* Vol. 1, No. 3. March, 2000. (http://immunology.caucasus.net/con3.html)

VIII. Annuity Medicine

To understand what motivates the pharmaceutical industry is to understand how our political economy really works, financially, legally, and culturally. No modern drug company exists in a cultural vacuum. They are just like any other enterprise, trying to live up to their highest ideals, while trying to maximize their attractiveness to stockholders. Apparently, when altruism conflicts with these economic imperatives, altruism usually must wait.

What has happened to the great discovery published in 2003 regarding successful down-regulation of the precise aspects of our immune system that overreact, causing rapid death from cytokine storms?

As referenced earlier, researchers at Imperial College, London were able to protect mice from the effects of cytokine storms. They used a fusion protein, OX40:Ig, supplied by Xenova Group plc. In 2002 Xenova sold most of the platform rights for down-regulating this process to the large and famous American firm, Genentech, Inc. Only a few rights relating to autoimmune disease were sold to another firm, Celltech.¹ This developmental relationship is confirmed by Genentech's own press release of July 10, 2002.²

Two years later in 2004 Xenova was still trumpeting their legal relationship with Genentech, using these words:³

"OX40 is a platform technology capable of producing multiple drug candidates targeting cancer, autoimmune and other diseases where the immune system is involved. In 2003 Imperial College demonstrated that by blocking the OX40-OX40 ligand (OX40L) interaction (down-regulation), symptoms of influenza could be alleviated without affecting the ability to clear the virus. In contrast, the use of agents such as OX40L-IgG that bind to OX40 and up-regulate the immune response, has been shown to be effective at promoting anti-tumour responses in a number of cancer models. Xenova retains all rights for the use of OX40 in up-regulation."

Searching the literature, I have been unable to find any reference to anti-influenza research and development of the Imperial College findings either by Genentech or anybody else outside the original London group. I have only found an intriguing 2004 study showing how OX40 down-regulation may help prevent rejection of transplanted cardiac mouse tissue.⁴ There is this 2004 recap of research by the same Imperial group:⁵. There is also another 2004 report by the Imperial group:⁶. These scientists are world-class influenza researchers, and their findings cannot be dismissed lightly.

So, what has Genentech effectively done with their golden treasure since 2002? By 2006 we could and should have had one or more phases of human testing, with preliminary development of a targeted medicine that can be massively produced on short notice to save millions of lives from cytokine storms caused by H5N1.

Genentech's own discussion in early 2006 of its product development pipeline makes no mention of this Xenova platform.⁷ There is little in their published pipeline against acute flu, even at Phase I development. However, you will find many annuity drugs in development for rheumatoid arthritis, macular degeneration, various cancers, asthma, foot ulcers, adult atopic dermatitis, and other worthy research projects. I applaud Genentech for working to alleviate several chronic diseases, even though

some of their patented treatment drugs are astonishingly expensive. What happened to their trying to prevent with inexpensive medicine the pulmonary cytokine storms that may swiftly kill tens of millions of people worldwide in the next pandemic?

Let me more fully explain what it takes to make an **annuity drug**. We typically think of annuities as tax-favored insurance company savings plans or lump sum payments, yielding thereafter a long-term cash flow from the insurance company to the annuitant. These payments could last for years, or even a lifetime. Medical annuities share in the key aspect of investment annuities, the long-term cash flow.

In the medical profession an otherwise healthy patient who appears at the clinician's door with an infection and is cured, never to appear again, is not an annuity patient. Emergency room physicians can make a living from accident victims, but average doctors' offices depend a lot on annuity patients. These are patients who are under the doctor's care for the long term. They could be senior citizens, or maybe they would be

HIV-positive patients being cared for by infectious disease specialists.

The issue is not confined to antivirals. Resistant staph infections used to be confined to hospitals and nursing homes. Now, communities are fighting drug resistant strains of *Staphylococcus aureus* even among healthy people. There is little in the drug development pipeline. George Talbot, of the Infectious Diseases Society of America's task force on anti-microbial availability, said:[°]

"In a number of these companies, there were active decisions taken that antibiotic research was not going to be profitable enough to meet their obligation to shareholders. "So they decided to go for drugs that would be taken for a lifetime — drugs for diabetes or high blood pressure — rather than drugs to be taken for a week."

A blockbuster annuity drug is the golden grail of all private pharmaceutical research. Pfizer's Lipitor alone is almost two times richer than the entire global vaccine industry. Having several patented annuity drugs in development helps ensure high value for a company's stock. Genentech is a stellar example of success in this field. Their stock price (NYSE: DNA) during the period of October 21, 2004 to October 21, 2005 ranged from \$41.00 to \$94.99, closing on 10/21/05 at \$85.04. The company had a market cap of \$90.0 billion.¹⁰

How should the corporate lawyers and bean counters at Genentech have seen OX40 down-regulation development for acute, non-annuity illnesses in this light?

An ideal annuity drug has five key components:

- (1) It is patentable.
- (2) It is aimed at long-term treatment, not quick cures.
- (3) There will be a large number of well paying patients.
- (4) Development costs will not be too high.
- (5) Less risk of litigation and judgments.

Any new drug for cytokine storms and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) would likely fail up to four of these five key criteria, with only the patentability remaining intact. That type of risk profile would not be financially appealing for any entrepreneurial, private drug company seeking to attract investment capital. Developing the Xenova platform for pandemic influenza would not yield long-term treatments. There could briefly be a large number of critically ill patients; but there would equally be a worldwide clamor for this drug from many areas that cannot afford to pay much, if anything, diluting overall profits. Development costs could be relatively high for such a medicine that may or may not be used soon. Litigation potentially looms large, even for a \$90 billion company.

I am not prejudiced against Big Pharma, an industry many of us love to hate until we need their products. They have a critical supply role in our society. I consider Genentech to be among the finest companies, at least for now from an employer-employee perspective. They have pioneered many genetically engineered pharmaceuticals. When *Fortune* magazine came out with its 2006 list of the 100 best companies to work for, Genentech was admirably situated at the #1 spot.¹¹ Nevertheless, what therapy will Genentech have ready for its own pandemic-stricken employees and families when their lungs are facing a pandemic influenza cytokine storm?

My real criticism is more fundamental, and transcends issues with any one pharmaceutical company. This same critical perspective is shared by Dr. Edmund Tramont, head of the AIDS research division of the National Institutes of Health. Dr. Tramont recently testified in an employment lawsuit, and he remarkably said:¹²

"If we look at the vaccine, HIV vaccine, we're going to have an HIV vaccine. It's not going to be made by a company. They're dropping out like flies because there's no real incentive for them to do it. We have to do it. They will eventually, if it works, they won't have to make that big investment. And they can make it and sell it and make a profit."

The same Associated Press article also reported:

"The International AIDS Vaccines Initiative, a not-for-profit group that is pushing for an AIDS vaccine, said there are more than 30 vaccine candidates being tested mostly on a small scale in 19 counties, but it acknowledges many are pursuing a similar theory of science that may prove futile. 'If the hypothesis is proven incorrect, the pipeline of candidates now in trials will be rendered mostly irrelevant. Strong alternative hypotheses have been largely neglected,' the group said."

So here we have:

a stable system that poisons corporate altruism because of fears of lawsuits;

• a system that values profits from erectile dysfunction

drugs over life-saving antibiotics;

a system where poor countries cannot afford some of the best medicines; and

a system where it can take several years and many millions of dollars to launch one patent drug.¹³

Where are the wise political leaders who can guide us out of this ink-black darkness?

¹ BioNews. Potential US\$63m (£43.2m) Development and Licence Agreement with Genentech Inc. 23 April, 2002.

(http://investinbiotech.com/pressroom_release.php?id=352)

Genentech. Genentech Reports 28 Percent Increase In Product Sales for Second Quarter. July 10, 2002. (http://www.gene.com/ gene/news/press-releases/display.do?method=detail&id=5227)

Xenova Group plc. Xenova Group PLC – Interim Results for the First Half of 2004. *Primezone*. August 11, 2004. (http://www.primezone .com/newsroom/news_releases.mhtml?d=62239)

Curry, Allison J., *et al.* OX40 (CD134) Blockade Inhibits the Costimulatory Cascade and Promotes Heart Allograft Survival.

Transplantation. 78(6): 807-814. September 27, 2004.

(http://www.transplantjournal.com/pt/re/transplantation/abstract.000 07890-200409270-00004.htm)

Hussell, T. *et al.* Co-stimulation: novel methods for preventing viral-induced lung inflammation. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*. Volume 10, Issue 8, 1 August 2004, pages 379-386. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2004.06.006 (http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science?_ob=ArticleURL&_udi=B6W7J-4CVV532-2&_coverDate= 08%2F01%2F2004&_alid=375168608&_rdoc=1&_fmt=&_orig=search &_qd=1&_cdi=6628&_sort=d&view=c&_acct=C000050221&_version= 1&_urlVersion=0&_userid=10&md5=247e555871a7f4fdf77ce6c58351 5225)

[°]Snelgrove, R., *et al.* Manipulation of immunity to and pathology of respiratory infections. *Expert. Rev. Anti. Infect. Ther.* 2004 June; 2(3): 413-26. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=15482206&query_hl=14&itool=pubmed_docsum

⁸ Development Pipeline. (http://www.gene.com/gene/pipeline/status/) ⁸ Berenson, Alex. A Cancer Drug's Big Price Rise is Cause for

Concern. The New York Times. 3/12/06; amended 3/14/06.

(http://www.nytimes.com/2006/03/12/business/12price.html?hp&ex= 1142139600&en=3bdec083598e50d4&ei=5094&partner=homepage)

Manning, Anita. "Superbugs" spread fear far and wide. USA Today. 5/11/2006. (http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/2006-05-10superbugs-staphylococcus_x.ht)

¹⁰ Investor Fact Sheet. 2005 3rd Qtr. (<u>http://www.gene.com/gene/ir/</u>)

¹¹ <u>http://money.cnn.com/magazines/fortune/bestcompanies/full_list/</u>

12

Associated Press. AIDS expert has theory on vaccine's delay. December 25, 2005. *CNN.* (http://www.cnn.com/2005/HEALTH/ conditions/12/25/aids.vaccine.ap/index.html)

13

¹³ Rosen, Michael. The Complexities, Cost of Midwest Biotech Drug Development. *Wisconsin Technology Network*. 11/24/03. (http://wistechnology.com/article.php?id=377)



In the near term there will be no effective vaccine for you, and most likely no effective official flu medicine generally available for your family. What should we take?

The primary goal is survival for our loved ones. If we don't die, and are not permanently disabled by the ordeal, we may live a long and grateful life. Immediate goals would include a shortened period of illness, less pain and suffering, less contagion, and so forth. It is not currently realistic to expect any medication to fully protect us against being infected. Even good vaccines don't stop us from being infected; they allow us to survive the infection. It is not realistic to expect any avian flu vaccination for the next few years to find our arms and fully protect us against clinical infection.

Things recommended for your consideration in this chapter are hopefully for prevention and amelioration. Some may have value, properly administered, in a home setting (since hospitals will soon be filled with the first victims). There are several other management medicines that your doctor can help you have on hand for taking care of the sick in your home. These care giving elements will be explained later when I reprint a medical doctor's detailed instructions for home care of pandemic flu victims.

Free Enterprise vs. the FDA

Our federal government has "helped" us decide what not to do, bythreatening several advertisers with legal sanctions for promoting their products as effective against the bird flu.¹ I am of two minds about this. On the one hand, I don't like the heavy hand of Big Brother telling me what to do with my own body. On the other hand, maybe Big Brother knows a thing or two that may help me look elsewhere for something that would really be of benefit.

Truth is, Big Brother is not acting from wisdom about the bird flu, only from legal protocol. Any therapeutic claim for any illness that isn't

formally blessed ahead of time by the FDA will be sanctioned as fraudulent. Currently, those blessings for bird flu treatment medications only extend to Tamiflu and to a very few other drugs of dubious benefit. The usual analgesics and other over-the-counter influenza medications are of course legally available for typical flu symptoms – but nothing over-the-counter is approved to protect us against the viral killer itself. The FDA also stands ready to warn sellers of any otherwise approved drugs to not claim that they are effective against the bird flu itself, only possibly against some flu symptoms.

I totally support this advertising restriction, because there would otherwise be hordes of profiteering fraudsters lined up to sell all sorts of bogus bird flu potions on the Internet and in stores to terrified and panicked families. Even with the FDA, we can expect slick spammers to flood our email in-boxes with bogus panaceas. Web pages for shopping can be designed with sophisticated graphics, and they will be very persuasive for the fearful uninformed. Without the heavy foot of the FDA, ordinary consumers would become totally confused about their choices when looking at a blizzard of products, with maybe a few good products mixed in among many other products of dubious therapeutic value. One of the main purposes of this book is to help you identify the few good products.

During the Spanish Flu era, after available remedies failed to stem the disease, "every patent medicine producer in the land changed labels to claim its snake oil would prevent or cure influenza. A cigarette manufacturer advertised that smoking its brand would do the trick."²

Smart manufacturers and retailers on the initial FDA warning list have already revised their promotional literature to remove bird flu therapeutic claims. That is good and proper. Others unwilling to sanitize their claims are simply not selling product to Americans, knowing there is a huge unregulated market for "bird flu cures" outside the U.S.A. But that doesn't stop new herbal hustlers from popping up like mushrooms in an Alabama cow pasture:

Among the more recent and cleverly marketed placebos with patent-drug prices are Avian-Rx³, and avn36⁴. Avian-Rx is now defensively marketed as Defend-Rx⁵ at a web site that touts it as an herbal alternative for Tamiflu. This claim is bolstered by its having some shikimic acid and Star Anise. As we learned earlier, Tamiflu only starts with shikimic acid in a very complicated and lengthy manufacturing process. The real damage
comes when you spend forty to sixty dollars for this placebo, and then believe you don't need to do other things that really might make a difference.

Avn36 is marketed at the outrageously named web site, birdflustopper.com. Its formula is just three cheap herbs and some co-enzyme Q10. This formula has absolutely no curative power against the mighty H5N1. The manufacturer paid pennies for the ingredients in your expensive bottle, whereas you will pay many dollars – and you might even pay with your life if you think these placebo pills will alone protect you. Yes, the site's fine print says they won't protect you, but the web site's overall impression is that avn36 will.

Nevertheless, it is a major error to assume that every officially unproven product would prove to be totally ineffective, simply because the retailer has made unverified claims in advance of the pandemic. In a narrow, legal sense, if you make such an unverified claim, it is a fraudulent claim. The claims issue nevertheless has two sides: On the one side, the FDA says therapeutic proof has not been established for all questioned products. On the other side, therapeutic effect has not been disproved either.

I have examined the ingredients in a number of additional mostly herbal products, usually in capsules. Some formulas have ingredients of minimal value against the main dangers associated with bird flu. Other ingredients may have just enough promise on the margin to help save your life, if their beneficial effects aren't too diluted by placebos inside the capsules. The FDA follows narrow legal rules, as it must. I will share with you my clinical herbalist perspective (backed up with available scientific references), and you can make up your own mind for what to do and take before a panic arrives.

My general recommendations are not designed to diagnose or prescribe for individuals. Consult with your doctor before undertaking any self-medication program, especially if you are already taking medications, have pre-existing conditions, or are pregnant. A product that may be right for one person may not be right for another. A product for an adult may not be right for a small child, or a frail senior. We are all human, but we are all unique.

What follows are *three categories of things to take, or not*. The *first* category are things that I myself would take, or have ready to take. The

second category has things that may or may not be directly beneficial, but seem not to be bad either. The *third* category has things that might do more harm than good for bird flu's main threat, pulmonary cytokine storms, even if they are otherwise good to take.

<u>I am guided by one thought</u>: <u>What effective, abundant, and affordable</u> <u>things can ordinary people around the globe actually get their hands on</u> <u>before the pandemic flu strikes</u>? In this high-stakes treasure hunt there is no moral place for profiteering or elitism.

There are some fine simple herbal tinctures, and even some very interesting Chinese and Ayurvedic formulas, but the average person cannot find them, and probably can't figure out how best to use them without professional guidance. I am also determined to find things that are affordable for the average person, both in America and elsewhere. What good is something if a person can't find it, can't understand it, or can't afford it?

<u>Please note</u>: I am not in the business of selling product. I have no relationship with any seller of product, and will not benefit financially from readers of this book buying anything that I directly or indirectly recommend. My only business is trying to keep you and your loved ones alive.

Category One: Things I Recommend

(1) Concentrated green tea.

Very highly recommended.

Several years ago I was drawn to tea, and especially green tea, by its group of *catechins* that have shown anti-tumor promise through restricting growth of blood cells to cancer tumors, also known as anti-angiogenesis.⁶ There are now emerging several patent medicines that do this on their own very well. However, anti-malignant therapeutic action is not why I am recommending tea compounds for avian flu. When I was looking for things to recommend against cytokine storms, tea catechins did not immediately come to mind. I came to this

recommendation after doing some sleuthing.

One of the more interesting sources I encountered is also one of the nine initial targets of those FDA warning letters. This company is PRB Pharmaceuticals. Their crime was in saying now that their formulas would work against avian influenza, before receiving the official FDA blessing that will never come under the rules of the game. Here is what their web R&D statement says.⁷

"Our research and development focus is on influenza and other emerging viruses. In the United States, our basic research and drug discovery is carried out at PRB Pharmaceuticals biosecurity laboratories in Cypress, California. The early research on our anti-viral fractions was conducted with investigators at the Keck School of Medicine, The University of Southern California.

In recent years, SARS and avian influenza (H5N1) have emerged in Asia to wreck havoc on public health and economic sectors. Since Southern China is postulated as the epicenter of emerging viruses due to its agricultural-based communities and high population density, PRB Pharmaceuticals has positioned itself on the front line of this problem by creating an anti-viral research and development infrastructure in Hong Kong, Taiwan and Vietnam.

This network includes the Prince of Wales Hospital, the Chinese University of Hong Kong, and Lees Pharmaceticals. PRB Pharmaceuticals Asian Research Group is responsible for the development of a broad-spectrum platform technology that has proven to have downstream applications for SARS, influenza, and bird flu (H5N1). Results from our multi-center study showed v38 AMF-1 to be effective in inactivating SARS CoV, Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus pneumonia, human influenza (H3N2), and bird flu (H5N1). This platform is the source material for the development of our ethical pharmaceutical drug candidates.

We are currently in process of conducting a large-scale research project in Hanoi with the Vietnam Department of Animal Health. This includes testing of FluStat against H5N1 in the country's poultry farms."

Their development platform looked promising. I wrote them twice, asking for additional information. They never replied. Silence sometimes is very loud. I next looked for and found their secret from the reference to their patent application. I went directly to their U.S. patent application, and there was exactly what I was looking for![®]Their scientific terms involved what the patent application calls "theaflavins." This is a group of chemicals naturally found in *Camellia sinensis*, or what we call tea. *In plain English, the application says they are effectively using concentrated tea against these pathogens.* I can now understand why PRB is so secretive. They are preparing to research and then market worldwide their Vira38 and other products as patented miracles, and perhaps they may be right.[°] Surely, they could find a way to make millions worldwide beyond the reach of the FDA. As for us ordinary folk in the USA and elsewhere, we don't need to pay a premium for a fancy tea patent.

A sufficient dose of theaflavin catechins may help; but you could still get the highly contagious avian flu with any current medicine, FDA approved or otherwise. However, based on more and other experimental evidence, I feel it is very possible that these natural tea chemicals – in sufficient quantity – may tilt the balance enough to save your life. Here is some of what I found:

Japanese scientists have discovered how tea's components work. *Remember that vaccines and antibodies target the "H" part of a virus used to enter our cells, and that drugs such as Tamiflu target the "N" part of the virus used to help the newly multiplied viruses escape. Tea's components work against the invading "H" part.* Here is one impressive abstract:¹⁰

"(-)Epigallocatechin gallate (EGCg) and theaflavin digallate (TF3) (1-10 microM) inhibited the infectivity of both influenza A virus and influenza B virus in Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells in vitro. Study by electron microscope revealed that EGCg and TF3 (1 mM) agglutinated influenza viruses as well as did antibody, and that they prevented the viruses from adsorbing to MDCK cells. EGCg and TF3 more weakly inhibited adsorption of the viruses to MDCK cells. EGCg and TF3 (1-16 microM) also inhibited haemagglutination by influenza viruses. These findings suggest that tea polyphenols bind to the haemagglutinin of influenza virus, inhibit its adsorption to MDCK cells, and thus block its infectivity."

Here's another Japanese flu-related study:

"The effects of a mixture of tea-seed saponins obtained from the seeds of Camellia sinensis var. sinesis on human influenza viruses types A and B were investigated. At the concentrations of 60, 80, and 100 micrograms/ml, respectively, the mixture inactivated viruses A/Memphis/1/71 (H3N2), B/Lee/40, and A/PR/8/34 (H1N1) almost completely. The mixture also inactivated type A virus A/PR/8/34 after inoculation at concentrations of 1-30 micrograms/ml dose-dependently."

Third is a intriguing Korean study that helps to further explain why humble tea phytochemicals may be such a potent ally:¹²

"Polyphenolic compound catechins ((-)-epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG), (-)-epicatechin gallate (ECG) and (-)-epigallocatechin (EGC)) from green tea were evaluated for their ability to inhibit influenza virus replication in cell culture and for potentially direct virucidal effect. Among the test compounds, the EGCG and ECG were found to be potent inhibitors of influenza virus replication in MDCK cell culture and this effect was observed in all influenza virus subtypes tested, including A/H1N1, A/H3N2 and B virus.... The results, along with the HA type-specific effect, suggest that the antiviral effect of catechins on influenza virus is mediated not only by specific interaction with HA, but altering the physical properties of viral membrane."

Highly recommended: <u>When the avian flu first finds its way into our</u> <u>communities, I suggest taking daily the equivalent of eight or more cups</u> <u>of green tea in concentrated capsule form, spread evenly over the 24</u> <u>hours of each day. To make things simple, you could take one or two</u> <u>capsules every three hours. Don't wait until people around you start to</u> <u>get sick.</u> If someone in your family comes down with the disease, try increasing your intake somewhat. Drinking several cups of green tea to additionally supplement the multiple capsules is OK too. Black tea is fairly good, if you can't find any green tea left on the shelves.

At the same time, I can't emphasize strongly enough that if you think drinking a couple cups of green or black tea daily will even partially protect you against avian influenza, you are extremely off the mark! The minimal therapeutic level appears to be several times that amount.

(2) Resveratrol.

VERY highly recommended.

Resveratrol (3,5,4'-trihydroxystilbene) is a naturally occurring substance in many plants. It is abundantly found in the skins of red wine grapes. It is both anti-inflammatory and antioxidant. Resveratrol is a phytoalexin, a class of antibiotic compounds produced as part of a plant's defense against disease, such as invading fungus.¹³ It also has serious potential against certain human diseases. However, you would need to drink at least a gallon of red wine from northern latitudes to get a seriously therapeutic dosage. Obviously, that much wine daily, or on any day, is not a good recommendation! (Fortunately, there are pills with lots of resveratrol in them, and no alcohol. See Appendix C for sources.)

Resveratrol works in a very different way against influenza. That's one of the reasons it comes highly recommended. Manmade one-trick ponies, such as Tamiflu and other antivirals, can soon be circumvented by cleverly mutating influenza strains. Natural chemical groups that have been protecting their parent plants for millions of years just might be a virus particle's natural antagonists.

Here are the results of two studies showing the power of this natural and abundant chemical:

First is a study showing how resveratrol helps protects patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) against excessive cytokine. Of all adults that may be stricken with the bird flu, this group would be about the most vulnerable. Here is the conclusion of this abstract:¹⁴

"Resveratrol inhibits inflammatory cytokine release from alveolar macrophages in COPD. Resveratrol or similar compounds may be effective pharmacotherapy for macrophage pathophysiology in COPD."

The second study focuses more on viruses, and explains why this chemical could be so valuable in the fight against H5N1. Here is what the astonishing abstract says:¹⁵

"We have previously shown that the life cycles of several viruses are influenced by host-cell redox states. Reports of the antioxidant activities of the plant polyphenol resveratrol (RV) prompted us to investigate its effects on influenza virus replication in vitro and in vivo. We found that RV strongly inhibited the replication of influenza virus in MDCK cells but that this activity was not directly related to glutathione-mediated antioxidant activity. Rather, it involved the blockade of the nuclear-cytoplasmic translocation of viral ribonucleoproteins and reduced expression of late viral proteins seemingly related to the inhibition of protein kinase C activity and its dependent pathways. RV also significantly improved survival and decreased pulmonary viral titers in influenza virus infected mice. No toxic effects were observed in vitro or in vivo. That RV acts by inhibiting a cellular, rather than a viral, function suggests that it could be a particularly valuable anti-influenza drug."

Highly recommended resveratrol is poorly absorbed, and then fairly rapidly metabolized and removed by the liver. Therefore, so that it can be available in the blood for our body's cells, <u>it is recommended</u> <u>when the bird flu is near that this natural chemical be taken every</u> <u>three to six hours in pill form</u>. For simplicity, you could take one resveratrol capsule with one or two green tea capsules every three hours. Yes, and one daily glass of fine red wine just might help us deal with our "flu anxiety."

(3) Vitamin D3

Highly Recommended.

Although all the vitamins are by definition vital for continued good health, vitamin D3 may have a special role in helping to prevent cytokine storms.

Cholecalciferol supplementation (the form of vitamin D in pills) has been recommended at fairly high levels, and a case has been made that the amount we have been officially recommended is much less than what we need. The author of this recommendation is an M.D. who has included 104 references with his article on the relationship between vitamin D and mental illness. Read it and decide for yourself.¹⁶

With reference to the immune system, a very recent German study sheds light on just how the body's immune system is kept from getting out of control. The authors conclude that vitamin D3 is important for controlling the macrophage immune responses, helping to keep our immune system within control:¹⁷

"In conclusion, our data indicate that the production of 1alpha,25(OH)2D3 by IFN-gamma-stimulated macrophages might be an important negative feedback mechanism to control innate and inflammatory responses of activated macrophages."

A short period of time in the summer sun can see our own skin quickly producing 20,000 units of vitamin D. The current daily recommendation of 400 international units (I.U.s) for adults is a historical projection from the minimal amount needed to avoid rickets in children.

Vitamin D at extreme doses is used as a poison for vermin. The doses used work out to the LD50 for male lab rats (the most sensitive mammal tested) being 42 mg/kg. If much larger humans were twice as sensitive, that would work out to 42,000,000 units, or 42,000 capsules, or 168 bottles each containing 250 capsules of 1,000 IU cholecalciferol.¹⁸ Who can swallow 42,000 vitamin D capsules in one sitting?

For these reasons I conclude that <u>a prudent daily vitamin D</u> <u>supplementation during periods we are not out in the sun could be 2,000</u> <u>units (one of the above capsules), and more likely about 3,000 units (two</u> <u>capsules) when the pandemic starts to move toward our homes</u>. (4) Vitamin C

Highly recommended.

Since Linus Pauling, the only winner of two individual Nobels, promoted vitamin C as something of a cure-all, there has been controversy around this essential element that our bodies do not make. I won't go nearly as far as Pauling, but I do feel that cheap, widely available vitamin C does belong in our anti-flu toolkit.

A 1999 study regarding vitamin C and viral symptoms revealed significant benefits from taking one-gram (1000 mg) doses of this vitamin. Their protocol was not exotic, since one-gram tablets are available, and half-gram tablets are common. They noted:¹⁹

"...hourly doses of 1000 mg of Vitamin C [were administered] for the first 6 hours and then 3 times daily thereafter.... RESULTS: Overall, reported flu and cold symptoms in the test group decreased 85% compared with the control group after the administration of megadose Vitamin C."

Another report in 1978 explains how vitamin C may help inhibit neuraminidase (the "N" part of H5N1): 20^{20}

"Several pathogens, both viral and bacterial, employ the enzyme neuraminidase (N-acetylneuraminate glycohydrolase, EC 3.2.1.1.8). The neuraminidase renders ineffective the hemagglutinin inhibitory mucins that confine the pathogens in a coating of host mucins. Sialoresponsin is a receptor "decoy" that inhibits neuraminidase. Several known antiviral agents, including ascorbic acid, inhibit neuraminidase. It is proposed that ascorbic acid may mediate an antiviral effect through the incorporation of ascorbic acid or some derivative of ascorbic acid as a part of the sialoresponsin molecule. Whether ascorbic acid works alone as a pharmacological inhibitor, or is incorporated in sialoresponsin as a physiological inhibitor; it may be useful against pathogens that employ neuraminidase."

<u>I recommend for general health a diet rich in natural vitamin C and</u> <u>associated natural bioflavonoids, supplemented daily with some extra</u> <u>amounts of your choice – such as 250 mg twice daily, ideally in Ester-C</u> <u>form for better availability. I also recommend having on hand significant</u> <u>additional quantities of vitamin C before any flu visits your house.</u> <u>Remember that vitamin C is water-soluble, so you are better off taking</u> <u>moderate amounts every few hours.</u> How about every three hours? If swallowing fairly large pills and tablets would be difficult, you can buy vitamin C in granular form to mix in liquid. Also, this vitamin comes in tasty tablets that dissolve in your mouth.

(5) Quercetin

Highly recommended.

Quercetin is a flavonoid, belonging to a class of plant pigments. It has anti-inflammatory and antihistamine properties, and has traditionally been used for several ailments, including benign prostatitis. It is a potent antioxidant. It is often taken with vitamin C. <u>The optimal dose is</u> *unknown, but some choose to take 200mg to 500mg <u>three times per</u> <u>day, especially when stressed</u>.²¹*

Battling a life-threatening influenza attack is close to the ultimate stressful event. I cannot establish that quercetin has any effect on cytokine storms. However, such viral infections generate oxidative stress. This type of stress is just one more problem that our lung cells must deal with while dealing directly with the pathogens. Because bad things can yield more bad things, it is good to minimize this oxidative stress. That's where quercetin may help.

Scientists at the University of Delhi, in India, have repeatedly examined the benefits of quercetin in this light. Here is part of the abstract of one of their studies:²²

"Influenza virus infection, induced experimentally in mice, was associated with marked changes in lung morphology viz. epithelial damage with focal areas of reactive papillary hyperplasia, infiltration of leukocytes and development of oxidative stress, as evidenced by increased superoxide radical production and lipid peroxidation (LPO) products by alveolar macrophages. These effects were observed on the 5th day after virus instillation.... Supplementation of intranasal viral instillation with the anti-oxidant, Quercetin, given orally, resulted in a significant decrease in the levels of both superoxide radicals and LPO products. There was also a significant decrease in the number of infiltrating cells. A mild to moderate protective effect was observed in lung morphology. Thus, Quercetin may be useful as a drug in reducing the oxidative stress induced by influenza virus infection in the lung, and protect it from the toxic effects of the free radicals."

When white blood cells envelope antigenic viruses they kill them with a respiratory burst of oxygen. However, each burst causes the production of free radicals. In a heavy infestation of pathogens the cellular defense system could be polluted by its initial success in killing antigens. In this light, it is helpful to note that quercetin, as well as the Chinese herb *schizandrin*, has been shown to offset some of the side effects of our own virucidal activities, by scavenging oxygen radicals produced in the respiratory burst. These two natural substances also had other

documented benefits for our fighting cells.²³

(6) Vitamin E

Highly recommended.

Vitamin E is an antioxidant with a checkered reputation. It may however have a sterling role in saving lives threatened by cytokine storms.

Here is part of the abstract of what a major study revealed about Vitamin E:²⁴

"This study compared the effect of vitamin E on the course of influenza infection with that of other antioxidants. (In a previous study we showed that short-term vitamin E supplementation significantly decreased pulmonary viral titer in influenza-infected old mice).... After influenza virus challenge, mice fed vitamin E-supplemented diet had significantly lower pulmonary viral titers compared to those fed the control diet ... and were able to maintain their body weight after infection.... Other antioxidants did not have a significant effect on viral titer or weight loss. There was a significant inverse correlation of weight loss with food intake..., indicating that the observed weight changes were mainly due to decreased food intake.

Pulmonary interleukin (IL)-6, IL-1beta, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha levels increased significantly postinfection. The vitamin E group had lower lung IL-6 and TNF-alpha levels following infection compared to the control group. In addition, there was a significant positive correlation between weight loss and lung ... levels. Because IL-6 and TNF-alpha have been shown to contribute to the anorexic effect of infectious agents, the prevention of weight loss by vitamin E might be due to its reduced production of IL-6 and TNF-alpha following infection.

Thus, among the antioxidants tested, only vitamin E was effective in reducing pulmonary viral titers and preventing an influenza-mediated decrease in food intake and weight loss. Other dietary antioxidant supplementations that reduced one or more measures of oxidative stress (4-hydroxynonenal, malondialdehyde, and hydrogen peroxide) did not have an effect on viral titer, which suggests that, in addition to its antioxidant activity, other mechanisms might be involved in vitamin E's beneficial effect on lowering viral titer and preventing weight loss."

In light of this significant study, <u>it would be prudent to ensure a</u> <u>moderate level of Vitamin E in one's diet, such as 400 IUs daily, both</u> <u>through food and supplementation. Even though Vitamin E can help with</u> <u>short-term use just before infection, this study indicates that long-term</u> <u>Vitamin E is also very beneficial.</u> As with vitamin D, vitamin E is fat soluble, so it doesn't need to be taken every three hours; once daily should be OK. <u>Twice daily, for a total of 800 IUs, is reasonable when the</u> <u>flu reaches your community</u>.

(7) Selenium

Highly recommended.

Based on multi-year research at the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, selenium is an interesting story. It points to the dangers of viral mutation inside bodies that are antioxidant-deficient. It also gives us one more tool to fight against cytokine storms. You will recall from the earlier discussion that selenium adequacy doesn't stop pulmonary infection once influenza viruses mutate elsewhere inside selenium-deficient mouse bodies. It is likely that the same mammalian mechanisms would apply inside humans. Large populations are not receiving sufficient dietary selenium, which would allow RNA-based influenza viruses enhanced opportunities to become more virulent. (Recall how Spanish Flu became more virulent before it stopped killing us.)

Here is part of one UNC study that indicates how selenium in adequate quantities may help reduce the likelihood of cytokine storms:²⁵

"What influence does the deficiency in Se have on the immune response of the host? Infection with myocarditic strains of coxsackievirus induces an inflammatory response in the cardiac tissue. It is this immune response that induces the heart damage, rather than direct viral effects on the heart tissue. Chemokines are chemoattractant molecules that are secreted during an infection in order to attract immune cells to the site of the injury, and have been found to be important for the development of coxsackievirus-induced myocarditis. We found that a deficiency in Se influences the expression of mRNA for the chemokine monocyte chemo-attractant protein-1, which may have implications for the development of myocarditis in the Se-deficient host. Expression of mRNA for interferon-gamma was also greatly decreased in the Se-deficient animal. Thus, a deficiency in Se can have profound effects on the host as well as on the virus itself."

Another study conducted in England backs up the value of selenium in adequate quantities, though not specifically pointing to chemokines. Here is part of what they found.²⁶

"Selenium supplements augmented the cellular immune response through an increased production of interferon gamma and other cytokines, an earlier peak T cell proliferation, and an increase in T helper cells. Humoral immune responses were unaffected. Selenium-supplemented subjects also showed more rapid clearance of the

poliovirus, and the poliovirus reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction products recovered from the feces of the supplemented subjects contained a lower number of mutations. CONCLUSIONS: The data indicate that these subjects had a functional selenium deficit with suboptimal immune status and a deficit in viral handling. They also suggest that the additional 100 microg Se/d may be insufficient to support optimal function."

In light of the research, and in light of what is commonly available in pharmacies, <u>I recommend that 200 micrograms (mcg, or microg) daily of</u> <u>nutritional selenium be part of our diets. You may find this amount is</u> <u>already in your multivitamin and mineral capsule, or you may want to</u> <u>add some more to reach the maximum of 200 mcg. Selenium in</u> <u>excessive quantities is not recommended</u>.

(8) St. John's Wort

Recommended.

St. John's Wort (*Hypericum perforatum*) has achieved wide favor for mild to moderate depression. However, relief of depression is not why this commonly available botanical from America's northwest is on my A-list. It is also an antiviral, and may help directly to stop a cytokine storm.

One of the body's own cytokines stimulated by H5N1 is cytokine interleukin-6 (IL-6).²⁷ One study, while exploring its anti-depressive effects, discovered the ability of this "wort" (weed) to help control IL-6. The authors observed: "A massive suppression of the interleukin-6 release was found for PHA-stimulated hypericum extract."²⁸

It's easy to locate this herb in capsule or tincture form. I recommend keeping some tincture bottles with built-in droppers handy, whether you are depressed or not. <u>You can put it into any juice, or simply</u> squirt one or two droppers into your mouth at the first sign of flu. Use another dropper every few hours.

<u>Note</u>: If you are on other medications, it is advised that you check with your doctor and/or pharmacist to see if St. Johns Wort will interfere with any of them. Remember, you don't need to do all of my recommendations in this chapter for benefit, just enough of the ones you can gather together. You can safely do without this recommended herb.

(9) Cranberry juice

Very highly recommended.

There are several juices, such as *apple juice*, that have some modest anti-flu activity.²⁹ However, cranberry juice seems to be the best of all. It is cheap and available, and we need to drink lots of liquid anyway to avoid dehydration when ill with flu. Also, it is sold in grocery stores mixed with apple or grape juice.

Cranberry juice is widely used, especially by women, for mild bacterial infections of the bladder. Unwelcome bacteria seem to have more difficulty adhering to the bladder wall following consumption of cranberry juice. A scientific study of cranberry juice in 2005 revealed more about cranberry juice's powers. Here is a portion of this study's abstract:³⁰

"Cranberry juice contains high molecular weight materials (NDM) that inhibit bacterial adhesion to host cells as well as the co-aggregation of many oral bacteria. Because of its broad-spectrum activity, we investigated NDM's potential for inhibiting influenza virus adhesion to cells, and subsequent infectivity. Hemagglutination (HA) of red blood cells (RBC) caused by representatives of both influenza virus A subtypes (H1N1) and H3N2) and the B type was inhibited by NDM at concentrations of 125 microg/ml or lower, which is at least 20-fold lower than that usually found in cranberry juice. A dose-response effect of NDM on HA was demonstrated. The effect was most pronounced when NDM was added several times to the infected MDCK cells. Our cumulative findings indicate that the inhibitory effect of NDM on influenza virus adhesion and infectivity may have a therapeutic potential."

I recommend drinking cranberry juice whenever you want a change of pace during ordinary times. <u>When the avian flu is on its way I recommend</u> <u>that you stock up on cranberry juice and drink it often</u>. You get more benefit from equal volumes of straight cranberry juice than from diluted variants. Any of the store-bought combinations can't hurt, and may make a difference. Consider cranberry juice concentrate, which you can buy at most health food stores. You can make your own drink from concentrate according to taste.

(10) Curcumin (Tumeric)

Recommended.

Curcumin is the yellow pigment in Tumeric (*Curcuma longa*), a widely

used spice in South Asian cooking. Curcumin gives curry its color and flavor. It is reputed to have multiple therapeutic benefits.³¹ It is usually sold in capsules as Tumeric, containing curcumin.

This substance has curried modest favor with me because of its ability to help down-regulate some cytokines. Whether or not this effect would be sufficient to stop a cytokine storm, alone or in conjunction with other substances, is an open question. Lacking definitive studies, I personally would not rely on curcumin or any other substance alone.

An exceptionally detailed analysis of the biochemistry of these interactions is found in a recent study.³² It mentions that *curry is neither highly toxic, nor mutagenic. However, it needs to be used with piperine (black pepper) to increase its bioavailability. <u>It is best to take</u> <i>curcumin-and-pepper with food, to avoid intestinal irritation. Health food stores commonly carry this combination. Do not exceed the recommended doses. Here is a tiny portion of that study:*

"NF-{kappa}B plays a critical role in the transcriptional regulation of proinflammatory gene expression in various cells.... We conclude that curcumin potently inhibits cytokine-mediated NF-{kappa}B activation by blocking a signal leading to IKK activity."

Do not imagine that if you eat a lot of food with curry you will escape the worst of pandemic flu. In the Spanish Flu era more people died in India than anywhere else. The amount of curcumin in a dish of curried food is probably well below what is needed for any therapeutic effect. There were several unrelated reasons for the high death toll last century in India, but here is another example where less is truly less beneficial.

(11) Tea tree oil (and Eucalyptus oil)

Highly recommended.

For thousands of years tea trees have been used by Australian aboriginals, and the modern name is associated with Capt. John Cook. Only one species of the genus has the medicinal oils, namely, *Melaleuca alternifolia*. This plant's essential oil has several components, some of which are water-soluble.

There are a number of scientific studies regarding this versatile and inexpensive botanical, and a list of them is at this reference:³³. Two of

these studies focus on immune regulation. One of them is especially relevant to our quest for a shield against cytokine storms. The Hart study suggests water-soluble components of tea tree oil may help control inflammation. Here is part of the abstract:³⁴

"Objective and Design: To evaluate potential antiinflammatory properties of tea tree oil, the essential oil steam distilled from the Australian native plant, Melaleuca alternifolia. Material and Methods: The ability of tea tree oil to reduce the production in vitro of tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF alpha), interleukin (IL)-1 beta, IL-8, IL-10 and prostaglandin E-2 (PGE(2)) by lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-activated human peripheral blood monocytes was examined.... When these components were examined individually, only terpinen-4-ol suppressed the production after 40 h of TNF alpha, IL-1 beta, IL-8, IL-10 and PGE, by LPS-activated monocytes. Conclusion: The water-soluble components of tea tree oil can suppress pro-inflammatory mediator production by activated human monocytes."

An important point: Many people don't understand the differences between infusions (such as a tea bag in a tea cup), decoctions (boiling herbs), tinctures, spirits, and oils. Of all these ways to use herbal medications, oils are by far the most potent. **It is NEVER advised to drink any essential oil.** A tincture is much less potent. A spirit can be even less potent than a tincture.

Some constituents are oil-soluble, and will not extract without the help of alcohol, the usual base for tinctures. Water-soluble constituents can be extracted by water or steam. In this case, we are fortunate that the constituents of tea tree oil shown to be most active against inflammation are water-soluble. What we want from the oil can be extracted through steam.

Because the bird flu favors deep infections of the lungs, more so than seasonal flu, it is necessary to keep the tiny alveoli deep in our lungs from filling up with congesting fluids. Mucous-thinning medications, such as guaifenesin,³⁵ are available over the counter at your drug store. (On the other hand, a recent statement by the American College of Chest Physicians advises people not to waste their money on OTC cough syrups or drops.³⁶) There are additionally several natural substances that may benefit distressed lungs.³⁷

<u>Consider adding two (2) DROPS of tea tree oil to a bowl of hot steaming</u> <u>water. Cover your head with a towel to trap the rising fumes. Inhale for</u> <u>five minutes or so. Do this as needed</u>. It should both help to relieve congestion and fight infection. It could also help to protect against a cytokine storm, but I am not sure of it.

You may also add (1) DROP of eucalyptus oil to the same <u>bowl of hot</u> <u>water</u>.³⁸ This is an extremely popular herb known to most people as a key ingredient of many cough drops. The active constituent is known as eucalyptol, or cineole, and is steam extracted from leaves and branch tips. It helps to ease coughs, and facilitates expectoration of mucous.

When doing steam inhalation with volatile oils, it is best to <u>close your</u> <u>eyes</u>, as these oils could irritate them. It is best to close your mouth and breathe through your nostrils, if possible. A commercial steam inhaler may be much easier to use than the steaming-bowl-of-water technique. Buy your inhaler now, because they will vanish from stores early in a pandemic. <u>Another option for dealing with excessive mucous is to drink</u> <u>daily two cups of eucalyptus leaf tea</u>.

Vicks makes two types of personal inhalers, available either at your pharmacy or online.³⁹ These devices should be easier to operate than placing your covered head over a bowl. Also, <u>Vicks inhalers</u> could more easily be employed by the sick who do not have constant attention from care givers. Scent pads are available with the classical menthol and eucalyptus formula used during the Spanish Flu era.

(12) Ginger

Recommended.

Ginger⁴⁰ (*Zingiber officinale*) is the aromatic ingredient in ginger bread cookies. Ginger is native to Asia, and is cultivated in the West Indies. We use the rhizome of this plant. It is found in many Chinese formulas, and should be among your weapons against bird flu. Ginger may have both direct and indirect benefits against H5N1:

Indirectly, it is an expectorant, carminative, demulcent, and diaphoretic. It is indicated for arthritis, impaired circulation, colic, fever, dyspepsia, flatulence, and nausea. Some of these problems, such as colic and nausea, can be part of a serious influenza attack.

It may have direct benefit in preventing a cytokine storm if its anti-inflammatory effects against chemokine expression in arthritis can be transferred to a pulmonary environment.⁴¹

A closer link directly involving rat lungs was seen in a 2004 study in China involving ginger in several formulas. The authors concluded:

"The effects might be related to inhibiting the increase of cytokines as TNF-alpha, IL-1beta, and IL-8 to suppress the activation, infiltration and wandering of leucocytes."

<u>Daily doses of dry herb can range from 0.75 to 3.0 grams. Tincture</u> <u>extract doses should not exceed 20 mL per week</u>. Fresh ginger from the grocery store also makes a marvelous tea with a piece of the rhizome the size of your thumb's last joint. Slice it into slivers, and then simmer for several minutes in several ounces of near-boiling water (decoction) in a stainless steel pot, with a tight lid to keep the volatile oils inside.

(13) Probiotics.

Very highly recommended.

Probiotics is a fancy word for all the beneficial bacteria that inhabit, or should inhabit, our intestines.⁴³ Also called flora, these bacteria have their own ecological universe inside our guts. They can do some amazing things, as I learned when dealing with my mother's life-threatening constipation.⁴⁴

When viral particles initially enter our alimentary canal they soon encounter our mini-universe of bacteria. The H5N1 prefers to set up shop inside our intestines just as easily as it can in our lungs – at least inside some people. Is this choice of primary infection a random preference, a product of putting viral-laden fingers in our mouths, or is some bacterial mediation going on? Again, nobody has done the studies we need, and only after the pandemic has passed might we know for sure. Nevertheless, it is reasonable to hypothesize that the right mix of probiotics from yogurt could help maintain our defenses. You may supplement probiotic food with a many-species probiotic supplement taken daily.

An environmental hypothesis is supported by a very interesting Japanese study from 1999. Here is the abstract:

"Using mice, we found that oral administration of Bifidobacterium breve YIT4064 (B. breve) activated the humoral immune system, augmented anti-rotavirus IgA production or anti-influenza virus (IFV) IgG production and protected against

rotavirus infection or influenza infection, respectively. Furthermore, when the B. breve was given to infants from an infant home, there was a significant reduction of the frequency of rotavirus shedding in stool samples during the administration of the bacteria. It was also found, again using mice, that oral administration of Lactobacillus casei strain Shirota (LcS) stimulated type 1 helper T (Th1) cells, activated the cellular immune system and inhibited incidence of tumors and IgE production. These results demonstrated that these two strains of lactic acid bacteria modulated the different immune systems each in its own way and prevented against various diseases."

The study's reference to helping infants defend against intestinal viruses is extremely valuable, because very little is available to help such young children fight off pandemic flu.

<u>A caution is in order</u> regarding mixing two good things, and coming up with a bad result. Unwanted effects can be had with many self-administered substances. That is why there are warning labels on most over the counter medications. Specifically regarding probiotics, we must be aware that certain otherwise very good substances can interfere with the ability of these good bacteria to thrive. Some natural substances, such as recommended garlic oil, seem to be relatively harsher on the unwanted bacteria than on the probiotics. Other substances, such as antibiotics, seem to slaughter good and bad bacteria equally. If we are relying on probiotics to help defeat H5N1, then we need to exercise caution with what else we take.

A strong example would be *oregano oil*.⁴⁶ This substance works well against fungi and bacteria. Taken externally, it would have no effect on intestinal flora. When we consume this substance we can endanger what we are trying to accomplish against the flu with probiotics. Oregano oil at high concentrations does directly kill influenza viruses – but I would rather have the probiotics intelligently working for me without any side effects, especially since these friendly microbes also stimulate the body to produce antibodies against the virus, which is ultimately our best defense. Don't shy away from the flavor of culinary oregano in your Italian food. There is a big difference between the potency of herb and oil.

We are familiar with what often happens after taking strong antibiotics for several days. Indigestion. The recommended corrective is to wait until after the prescribed bacteria-killing antibiotics are no longer being taken, then supplement the diet with yogurt or other probiotics. It would be tempting to try virucidal oregano oil one day, then probiotics another day. I wouldn't advise this tactic, because flu viruses could weather alternating one-day attacks. I prefer developing a healthy and complex probiotic environment to "greet" invading viruses, and that takes many days to develop.

(14) Garlic.

Highly recommended.

Probiotics, or garlic? That is the question. Both good, but large amounts of garlic can diminish your probiotics, while slaying all sorts of pathogens. My advice is to either go with one or the other – or go with garlic, supplementing your diet with two or three times as many probiotics. Conversely, probiotics will not diminish the effect of garlic. You cannot easily overdose on the helpful bacteria, as they will multiply inside your intestines anyway.

Garlic (*Allium sativum*) is a potent botanical. The bulb is used, broken into cloves. It is consumed either raw or cooked. Garlic was once known as Russian penicillin. During the First World War many European soldiers survived wounds thanks to garlic. Garlic has more than one hundred active chemical constituents, some of which have never been adequately researched. It is commonly thought that the intermediary chemical, allicin, is the key healing component. However, allicin exists only to defend the garlic when it is attacked. It normally does not exist in garlic, and it does not remain in the human body beyond a few minutes. Garlic's healing powers are probably the result of a complex interplay of its many chemical constituents.⁴⁷

Garlic is in the onion family (*Allium*). Garlic has multiple beneficial effects on the body. It has been investigated for its protective effects against stomach and colon cancer, plaque in the arteries, blood clots, hypertension, nasal congestion and sinusitis. Whether or not all of this proves true, garlic is a most intriguing natural substance. It is rich in selenium, potassium, zinc, and vitamins A and C.⁴⁸ Here is some recent laboratory research that may be very important for pandemic influenza infections:

One 2005 study established that garlic oil suppresses many cytokines in stimulated macrophages.⁴⁹ This may be excellent news for helping prevent cytokine storms. The effect is dose dependent, meaning you can't take one garlic oil capsule and expect miracles.

Another study in 2004 points to allicin as a way to stop intestinal inflammation. Pandemic flu can attack more than our lungs. If entry is through the mouth, it can easily hit hard in the intestines early on, or spread there later. Diarrhea and other life-threatening symptoms will ensue. Significant doses of garlic might help reduce swelling, and may be one way we can survive. The 2004 study concluded:⁵⁰ "These observations indicate that allicin exerts an inhibitory immunomodulatory effect on intestinal epithelial cells and suggest that allicin may have the potential to attenuate intestinal inflammation."

(15) Angiotensin-II receptor blocker (ARB)

Very highly recommended.

The Alternative Health News Online is an excellent source of options you may try. This newsletter is one of precious few sources that appreciates the cytokine storm, and how we may possibly manage it. The one item on my recommended list that *will require a prescription* looks good, and below is what they had to say in December of 2005:⁵¹

"A BLOOD-PRESSURE DRUG, known as an angiotensin-II receptor antagonist (blocker), may hold the key to preventing the inflammation that causes the acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) in avian flu patients. Research in Vienna, Toronto and Beijing on the SARS virus, which broke out in China a few years ago, indicates that the virus kills people by boosting levels of a chemical called angiotensin II in the lungs. When excessive angiotensin is released in the lungs, the immune system overreacts and the lungs fail.

The researchers suggest that avian flu may cause the same reaction. Also, the researchers were able to prevent acute lung failure in mice whose lungs were damaged by treating them with extra doses of an enzyme, ACE2, that reduces angiotensin II. For the complete story from the Austrian Institute of Molecular Biotechnology: ⁵². For a medical abstract: ⁵³.

Addendum: Dr. Malik Peiris, a member of the team that discovered the SARS virus, was quoted in *New Scientist* magazine as saying that angiotensin-blocking drugs as well as "an even older class of blood pressure drugs that prevent angiotensin from being made in the first place might save many lives" in a future flu pandemic."

The ARB category⁵⁴ is closely related to the angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitor category⁵⁵ of blood pressure medications. Recent news about the danger of ACE inhibitors during pregnancy⁵⁶ suggests that ARBs should also be avoided to protect the developing embryo or fetus.

If blood pressure medication is right for you, ask your doctor about writing an angiotensin-II (ARB) prescription. Otherwise, if your blood pressure is normal or low, there are more than a dozen other things here to take and do.

(16) Gamma-Linolenic Acid

Very highly recommended.

The same Alternative Health News Online article has this to say about GLA, or gamma-linolenic acid:⁵⁷

"GLA (Gamma-Linolenic Acid) has been shown to cut down on the damage cytokines can cause in the lungs of humans. Although little is available in the diet, it can be obtained from both evening primrose oil and borage oil, both available over the counter.⁵⁸ _{Note: We were} unable to obtain the potencies used in the human study, but in human studies for other inflammatory conditions, as much as 1.5 grams (1,500 milligrams) of GLA a day was given. We suspect the dosage for the avian flu might be even higher. A capsule of evening primrose oil generally contains from 125-130 milligrams of GLA. However, capsules of borage oil contain as much as 300 milligrams.

Also, a study in rats found that cytokine levels were significantly decreased when GLA was administered. ${}^{\rm 59}{\prime\prime}$

Doing the math, this works out to <u>either a dozen evening primrose oil</u> <u>capsules daily, or five borage oil capsules. I would not recommend this</u> <u>much GLA on a daily basis before you are at risk for exposure to this</u> <u>virus. I also would not rely on GLA as your sole protection</u>.

(17) Statins

Statins, such as Lipitor, come highly recommended, because studies after 2006 have indicated that survival for inflammatory infections may be helped by statins. This is NOT an endorsement for statins, because they have their own side effects. Nevertheless, if you are taking statins already before a pandemic arrives, your chances might be a bit better. These are prescription drugs, so consult your doctor.

(18) SPECIAL NOTE:

Chicago's David Miller, M.D., FAAP, L.Ac., Dipl. OM⁶⁰ has graciously shared the following observations regarding the list of herbs above. Please incorporate his wise comments into your survival strategy, as your individual needs apply:

* Concentrated Green Tea: Explain how to make at home and what type of tea to purchase. (People should know that Lipton is relatively useless, as are many grocery available products.) Also, would white tea be as good or better? I understood that it has more antioxidant activity than green, though I don't know anything else about its immunomodulating characteristics. (I suspect they are also significant.) I know you are recommending the pills, but I wonder if making a concentrated decoction might also be effective and more cost efficient.

* *St. John's Wort*: I would not recommend this, since it affects the metabolism of too many other substances. If a patient is on other prescribed medications (such as HIV meds), it could dangerously change their blood levels and lead to compromise. Since many of the people who would be looking to these remedies may already be sick, on Western meds, and seeking alternatives – I'd avoid this one without significant caveats.

* *Tea Tree Oil:* Emphasize again at the beginning of the section that this should not be taken by mouth, but rather by steam. (I could see some individual taking a teaspoon of the oil, which could be toxic.)

* *Turmeric, garlic, and ginger:* These are all very warm herbs. Ginger in general is safe. Garlic and Turmeric particularly affect the blood, and garlic may cause excessive bleeding. I'd use these cautiously. In Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) these would likely be contraindicated in the presence of fever. Turmeric in TCM is contraindicated in pregnancy, and high dose garlic would also be a bad idea for pregnancy.

Category Two: Things That May Help, And Probably Won't Hurt

(1) Natural Antioxidants.

There are numerous natural food sources for antioxidants, and some in capsules. Some are recommended above. There is research to back up the value of antioxidants in fighting viral disease. Here, for example, is one:⁶¹. If free radicals are minimized, and if the capillaries and venules are working at peak efficiency, then maybe the body can better resist starting a cytokine storm, as suggested by research cited above for selenium. Natural antioxidants fall into a generally-good-for-you category,

which is part of being as healthy as possible before you enter into any life and death struggle with the killer virus.

Among the many excellent sources of antioxidants are blueberries, bilberries, strawberries, and fresh colorful vegetables in general. All of the above are part of my diet, with bilberry taken as 1000 mg extract daily in capsule form. I have a special fondness for frozen blueberries added almost daily to my natural cereal. Wild blueberries have even more antioxidants than cultured blueberries. I have noticed over the past decade that my mouth and gum capillaries seem healthier since I have added various sources of antioxidants to my daily diet; and I almost never bruise anywhere on my body. Supplements of this type are many, but I especially like coenzyme Q-10, and alpha lipoic acid.

One liquid that should be in plentiful supply around your house is the old standby, *Welch's Grape Juice*. Get the purple Concord grape variety, with 100% juice. House brands at grocery stores with the same dark grape formula should work as well.

Again, all of these items are available and affordable at your local grocery store and your local pharmacy. Hopefully you have access to a natural foods store with a supplements section. Some excellent suppliers are on the web. Use a Google search to find the best for your needs. Also see my appendix regarding sources.

An interesting and almost funny point: Multi-vitamin pills sometimes tout the latest ingredient in large print on their labels. It's commonly lutein or lycopene. These natural substances are on their own merits highly recommended; but the actual quantities you will get in such pills are a marketing joke. Typically, when the dose should be in milligrams, you will find the dose in micrograms.

Don't let the marketing fluff stop you from buying a generally potent and broad-spectrum formula.⁶² You are free to buy separate lutein and lycopene capsules, for example, even if your "multi" has a token amount of each hyped substance among its long list of ingredients. (On the other hand, some substances, such as selenium, are taken in microgram quantities, not in milligrams.)

(2) Good health habits.

Talking about good health habits fits into our "do as I say, not as I do"

culture. We all talk a good line. Far fewer of us walk that good line. Maybe we should just start by walking for a half-hour daily. *Regular aerobic walking* reduces stress, which reduces stress hormones, which leads to a better immune system. *Getting enough relaxing sleep* every night in this stressful 21st century culture is also imperative for maximum immune efficiency.

I personally believe in *the Confucian golden mean*. We are best getting a steady amount of moderate exercise over the long run. That's been the pattern for our species as we evolved. Exercise fanaticism is fine, but extreme levels can degrade our immune system. Not exercising equally goes against our evolution path. There is no way that becoming a professional couch potato is best for one's overall health.

Moderate exercise can also include vigorous exercise, as long as it does not overtax our bodies. Indeed, there may be extra benefits from a sensibly serious exercise program. Dr. Marian Kohut at Iowa State University found while testing those 62 and older that "adults who exercised regularly and vigorously produced higher levels of anti-influenza IgG and IgM antibodies (key influenza fighters) following flu immunization than those who exercised moderately or who were inactive."⁶³

Part of the mystery of the Spanish Flu pandemic is why so many young adults were stricken, when the older adults fared better. Even pre-teens and early teens did statistically better. The idea is that older adults had some modest protection (whether they exercised or not) from previous epidemics – and that pre-teens do not have a fully developed immune system. I wonder.

Perhaps a cytokine storm is the last resort of anybody's immune system when it senses it cannot otherwise defeat the intruders. I am reminded of that infamous quote from the Vietnam War: "In order to save the village, we had to destroy it."⁶⁴

In the Z-variant of H5N1, Vietnamese victims were often younger children, or teens. The first deaths outside Asia involved children in a Turkish family.⁶⁵ The H5N1 virus is an absolutely bad actor, and it doesn't care how old or young you are. Therefore, it doesn't hurt your survival odds to be as healthy and physically fit as possible whatever your age, because this bug can attack your entire body. Maybe a little more overall resilience will pull you through – if we can tone down the cytokine storm's potential with some of the things to take herein.

You may have wondered why I have included "good health habits" in my "what to take" chapter, and not exclusively in my "what to do" chapter. Adding fresh oil to a rusty car with bad tires won't make it run like a new car. Likewise, adding quality supplements to a self-abused body can only help so much.

Sometimes not doing something is just as important as doing something. When it comes to "not doing," the top thing is to quit smoking. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC):⁶⁶

"* There is a higher mortality rate for smokers than nonsmokers from influenza.

* Smoking is related to chronic coughing and wheezing among adults and children and chronic bronchitis and emphysema among adults.

* Smokers are more likely than nonsmokers to have upper and lower respiratory tract infections, perhaps because smoking suppresses immune function.

* Smoking harms nearly every organ of the body, causing many diseases and reducing the health of smokers. Quitting smoking has immediate, as well as long-term health benefits."

The one mystery surrounding Spanish Flu and the current H5N1 flu which is more confounding than the cytokine storm is the simple numbers game involving who gets exposed, but does not develop a life-threatening illness; and who gets exposed, and does develop it. Is membership in either class a random process, or are there undiscovered reasons?

No reliable statistics involving these two groups are available for the 1918-1919 pandemic era, or for the current evil. Even the most highly monitored country, Vietnam, does not have reliable population statistics. According to a recent WHO report: "The frequencies of human infection have not been determined, and seroprevalence studies are urgently needed."⁶⁷

Even monitoring seasonal flu is not mandated here in America. The CDC does not require states to report influenza cases, or even influenza deaths. Only voluntary reports are now submitted.⁶⁸ Here is a critical gap in our scientific knowledge. I suppose that the next pandemic will yield some ghoulish answers.

Before then, it is reasonable to hypothesize that certain people might be better able to deal with the threat because their cellular immune systems are up to the task of handling a very minimal invasion of viral particles, and also are enabled to not overreact. Keeping the immune system in balance involves what to take, and also what not to take. Keeping the viral invasion of our bodies at a minimum involves what to do.

Category Three: Things That May Help Elsewhere

(1) Black Elderberry and Sambucol.

I'm starting off this odd list with one of the very strongest helpers in our fight against seasonal flu and other viruses. Hippocrates used black elderberry (*Sambucus nigra*). Itis widely used in Europe and elsewhere. In the form of the Israeli product, Sambucol, this herb has a permanent place in my own medicine cabinet. Why then would I NOT clearly recommend such a fine antiviral weapon?

Simply, it might help stimulate a pulmonary cytokine storm in the presence of H5N1.

Two studies by Israeli scientists demonstrate the very strong cytokine-stimulating powers of elderberry, and the less powerful effects of Echinacea and bee propolis, two other ingredients in Sambucol Immune System Syrup. Here is part of the 2001 abstract:⁶⁹

"Sambucol was shown to be effective in vitro against 10 strains of influenza virus. In a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized study, Sambucol reduced the duration of flu symptoms to 3-4 days.... The production of inflammatory cytokines was tested using blood derived monocytes from 12 healthy human donors. Adherent monocytes were separated from PBL and incubated with different Sambucol preparations i.e., Sambucol Elderberry Extract, Sambucol Black Elderberry Syrup, Sambucol Immune System and Sambucol for Kids. Production of inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 beta, TNF-alpha, IL6, IL-8) was significantly increased, mostly by the Sambucol Black Elderberry Extract (2-45 fold), as compared to LPS, a known monocyte activator (3.6-10.7 fold). The most striking increase was noted in TNF-alpha production (44.9 fold). We conclude from this study that, in addition to its antiviral properties, Sambucol Elderberry Extract and its formulations activate the healthy immune system by increasing inflammatory cytokine production."

(2) Echinacea and Bee Propolis.

Pure elderberry extract in the above study had a stronger cytokine effect than mixtures. A 2002 study by the same laboratory included specific reference to Echinacea and bee propolis, part of the formula for Sambucol Immune System Syrup, but tested in the herbal formulas Protec and Chizukit N. Here is part of what they found:⁷⁰

"Protec induced only a moderate production of IL-8 (1.6 fold) and IL10 (2.3 fold) while Chizukit N caused only a moderate increase in IL10 production (1.4 fold). Both Protec and Chizukit N caused moderate decreases in IL-1 beta, TNF alpha and IL-6 production."

What this means for Echinacea and propolis is unclear. Their effects are minimal on cytokines, and generally offset each other. As an herbalist, I have harvested Echinacea in the wild, and processed into tinctures both of these fine substances; but their use is best directed for other purposes. (For example, propolis capsules ameliorate ulcers, but do not cure them.) Echinacea and propolis are not star players in the anti-H5N1 drama, so why spend money on them?

Nevertheless, I do recommend Sambucol formulas for seasonal viral infections of the upper respiratory system. Indeed, the ethical makers of Sambucol only recommend it for upper respiratory conditions.

(3) Polypharmacy herbal formulas.

Part of the "fun" of being a professional herbalist is dazzling others with your knowledge of large numbers of weird and exotic substances that find their way into formulas. The Chinese are especially adept at this polypharmacy game. Popular formulas often combine centuries of good clinical practice with superstition regarding such things as rhino horns, bones of extinct animals, and other weird ingredients too gruesome to mention. Sales are good, and everybody is happy with the placebo effect.

In contrast, many professional formulas are quite excellent, if you know what to buy, and you have a reliable source. In the hands of a trained Chinese healer who understands "chi" you can get help for many different ailments, with unique formulas individually prepared for your ailments. Holistic treatment, including ingredients with medicinal value, can go beyond placebos. However, usually this requires a skilled therapist, someone not available everywhere to everyone.

The opposite approach is using single tinctures, called simples, targeted toward specific ailments. This classical approach is more common in western herbal tradition, where we try to be more scientific. The problem with this approach is that it properly takes an ongoing intervention from an experienced practitioner. On a cottage industry level this is fine, but it is totally out of place for billions of people facing a global pandemic. The people need easy and affordable access to a few simple things that just might give them an edge in this fight.

Another manifestation of polypharmacy is where seniors, most commonly, are taking more medications than they need.⁷¹ Sometimes they are taking medications prescribed by different doctors who haven't been fully informed about what has previously been prescribed. Medications are often prescribed to offset iatrogenic effects from other patent medications. This type of polypharmacy is a pre-existing and separate challenge from the bird flu challenge.

The main reason I am hesitant to recommend generic herbal polypharmacy for bird flu is because you are spending a lot of money for many ingredients of general value. Even if some of them could work against avian influenza, their beneficial activity is compromised when other substances inside the formula's pills or capsules take up space.

Mixing targeted botanicals with placebos means you will be paying a lot of money for diluted therapeutic effect – and that could be fatal when up against the take-no-prisoners H5N1.

(4) Herbal immunostimulants.

Here is a list of immunostimulants, as presented by the clinical herbal research site, *Phytotherapies.org.* Some or all may be great for specific problems unrelated to potential cytokine storms. However, I would consume most of these with caution when fighting bird flu.⁷²

Action: immunostimulant Stimulates one or more aspects of the immune reaction, also calledimmuno-modulating, or immune enhancing.

Monographs: Andrographis paniculata (andrographis) Angelica sinensis (dong quai) Astragalus membranaceus (astragalus) Baptisia tinctoria (wild indigo) Codonopsis pilosula (codonopsis) Echinacea spp. (echinacea) Eleutherococcus senticosus (Siberian ginseng) Ligusticum wallichii (Szechuan lovage root) Paeonia lactiflora (peony) Panax ginseng (Korean ginseng) Phytolacca decandra (poke root) Picrorrhiza kurroa (picrorrhiza) Propolis (propolis) Tabebuia avellanedae (pau d'arco) Thuja occidentalis (thuja) Uncaria tomentosa (cat's claw)

* The following information for this book was given to me by Chicago's David W. Miller, M.D., FAAP, L.Ac., Dipl. OM. He is highly trained both in American and Chinese medicine:

"Action: immunostimulant Stimulates one or more aspects of the immune reaction, also called immuno-modulating, or immune enhancing. Monographs: Andrographis paniculata (andrographis) chuan xin lian Angelica sinensis (dong quai) dang gui Astragalus membranaceus (astragalus) huang qi Baptisia tinctoria (wild indigo) da qing ye (?) Codonopsis pilosula (codonopsis) dang shen Eleutherococcus senticosus (Siberian ginseng) ren shen Ligusticum wallichii (Szechuan lovage root) chuan xiong Paeonia lactiflora (peony) bai shao Panax ginseng (Korean ginseng) ren shen Picrorrhiza kurroa (picrorrhiza) hu huang lian Thuja occidentalis (thuja) ce bai ye

These all have different properties in TCM (Traditional Chinese Medicine), and would in general not be recommended as singles, and are not recommended for general use. Some of these may have opposing actions as well, or may increase the risk of bleeding when combined with other substances. I would not put them out there (from a TCM perspective) as general immunostimulants, even if constituents of them have those properties."

(5) Oscillococcinum.

Oscillococcinum is among the French an extremely popular homeopathic flu and colds prevention/treatment formula. This Boiron formula is here not because it harms, but purely because it only has a documented placebo effect.⁷³ People facing a critical choice among medications may go this way and think they are OK with this alone, only to pay a fatal price. There is no guarantee that any medication, artificial or natural, now available will adequately protect us from H5N1 at its worst fury. However, it is prudent to go with things that at least show some documented evidence of chemical activity. If you will spend money anyway on this popular French product, please take other recommended things listed above.

Boiron does make another homeopathic product that could belong in the second group, then again maybe not.⁷⁴ Called *Influenzinum 9c*, it comes in a tube with eighty beadlets. This product is different from *Oscillococcinum* because it is made differently every year from strains of influenza that the WHO is predicting. When a pandemic is immanent there will be zero production of standard seasonal flu vaccine.

Two years ago, when regular seasonal flu vaccine was not available, I took the homeopathic version produced by the company Boiron has since bought, Dolisos, called *Dolivaxil*. I never got the flu that season. Whether I just "got lucky," or whether that formulation actually worked, I cannot say. At the very least it was a nice placebo. Such could be the pharmacological case with *Influenzinum 9c*. You will be out about \$20. That's not too bad for an exotic placebo. On the other hand, \$20 is a super bargain if it actually works as advertised.

If you choose to try this approach, still do everything else recommended in this chapter and book to protect yourself. Remember, even if a future formulation works somewhat as advertised, it may not be targeted at your variant of H5N1, but at the seasonal variants or an earlier variant of H5N1. Caution is always in order where one mistake could lead to your personal extinction.

A Word About Mind and Body

The mind and body are not separate, but one. We easily acknowledge the physical brain as part of the body, but we are tempted to imagine that the mind is not of our body. Actually, the mind is an emergent from our body's physical properties, and as such the mind and body are one. This is the integrated, holistic perspective.

A study in the May 10, 2006 issue of *JAMA* compared the health of Americans and Britons 55 to 64. Despite spending twice as much as Britons on medical care, American health across the board is much worse, so much that wealthy Americans with access to the very finest medical care have worse health than poor British. This study accounted for all sorts of variables, such as drinking habits, obesity, and smoking. No one reason was clearly found for this strong divergence.

Dr. Michael Marmot, an author of the report, said, "I'm arguing that it's due to the differences in the circumstances in which people live. Work, job insecurity, the nature of communities, residential communities, *et*

cetera — I think that's the place we should try to look."⁷⁵

Dr. Marmot intuitively is onto something very important. America is an increasingly competitive society. Competition stresses the body's immune system. Humans did not evolve in a modern American society. Britain isn't prehistoric, but their culture is less harsh on the psyche. While visiting England, I quickly felt the harmonic difference. *Chronic stress exacts a toll on our overall health*.

What we take into our bodies is not independent of the state of our bodies. Medicines and foods do not act independently of our immune systems. Our ability to recognize and defeat pathogens is partially dependent on the health of our immune system, with or without medicines. This applies both to acute attacks, like influenza, and to all the chronic degenerative diseases that increasingly afflict Americans in disproportionate numbers.⁷⁶

The mind is the highway between ideas, emotions, and chemicals. It is for this reason that placebos can also be helpful in an otherwise positive context. Placebo is from the Latin, "I shall please." Part of the power of the white coat and the ritual of handing out prescriptions is the placebo effect. Indeed, taking anything, even self administered, that we believe will help, usually will help.

¹FDA News. FDA Acts to Protect Public from Fraudulent Avian Flu Therapies. P05-99. December 13, 2005. (http://www.fda.gov/bbs/topics/NEWS/2005/NEW01274.html)

²Mason, Robert. Surviving the Blue Killer, 1918. *The Virginia Quarterly Review.* Spring 1998. (<u>http://www.vqronline</u>.org/ viewmedia.php/prmMID/7833)

³<u>http://www.shop-4-vitamins.com/avian-rx.html</u>

⁴<u>http://www.birdflustopper.com/story.php</u>

⁵Gruber, A. and Kaye, R. FDA: Bird flu 'remedies' not so helpful. May 24, 2006. CNN. (<u>http://www.cnn.com/2006/HEALTH/05/23/birdflu. remedies/index.html</u>)

⁶ Tang, F.Y., *et al.* Green tea catechins inhibit VEGF-induced angiogenesis in vitro through suppression of VE-cadherin phosphorylation and inactivation of Akt molecule. *Int. J. Cancer.* 2003 October 10; 106(6): 871-8.

(http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=Pu bMed&list_uids=12918064&dopt=Citation) ⁷ PRB Pharmaceuticals. Research and Development. (<u>https://prbpharmaceuticals.com/prb_rd.php?i_id=5</u>)

⁸U.S. Patent Application #20050148658. Method for preventing and treating severe acute respiratory syndrome. July 7, 2005. (http://appft1.uspto.gov/netacgi/nph-Parser?Sect1=PTO2&Sect2=

HITOFF&u = %2Fnetahtml%2FPTO%2Fsearch-adv.html&r=1&f=G&l= 50&d=PG01&p=1&S1=20050148658&OS=20050148658&RS=20050148658)

⁹Hensley, C. B., and Li, B. Vira 38: a botanical based, comprehensive treatment for avian influenza (H5N1) in humans. PRB Pharmaceuticals. (<u>https://prbpharmaceuticals.com/prb_vt.php?i_id=42</u>)

¹⁰Nakayama, M., *et al.* Inhibition of the infectivity of influenza virus by tea polyphenols. Dept. of Virology and Rickettsiology, National Institute of Health, Tokyo, Japan. *Antiviral Res.* 1993. Aug;21(4): 289-99. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd= retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=8215301&dopt=Abstract)

¹¹Hayashi, K., *et al.* Inactivation of human type A and B influenza viruses by tea-seed saponins. Central Research Institute, Ito En Ltd., Shizuoka, Japan. *Biosci Biotechnol. Biochem.* 2000 Jan; 64(1): 184-6.

¹²Song, J.M, *et al.* Antiviral effect of catechins in green tea on influenza virus. *Antiviral Res.* 2005 Nov; 68(2): 66-74. Epub 2005 Aug 9. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd= Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=16137775&query_hl= 2&itool=pubmed_docsum)

¹³McElderry, Melissa Q.B. Grape Expectations: The Resveratrol Story. Quackerywatch. September 1, 1999. (http://www. quackwatch.org/01QuackeryRelatedTopics/DSH/resveratrol.html)

¹⁴Culpitt, S. V., *et al.* Inhibition by red wine extract, resveratrol, of cytokine release by alveolar macrophages in COPD. Dept. of Thoracic Medicine, National Heart & Lung Institute, Imperial College, London. *Thorax.* 2003; 58: 942-946.

¹⁵ Palamara, Anna T. Inhibition of Influenza A Virus Replication by Resveratrol. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*. Univ. of Chicago Press. Vol. 191 (2005), pages 1719-1729. DOI: 10.1086/429694; PubMed ID: 15838800.

(http://www.journals.uchicago.edu/cgibin/resolve?id=doi:10.1086/429694)

¹⁶Cannell, John Jacob. Vitamin D and Mental Illness. September 7, 2003. (http://cholecalciferol-council.com/mental.shtml)

¹⁷ Helming, L., *et al.* 1alpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 is a potent suppressor of inteferon gamma-mediaed macrophage activation. *Blood.* 2005 Dec. 15; 106(13): 4351-8. Epub 2005 Aug. 23. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pu bmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=16118315&query_hl=7) ¹⁸ Dorman DC. Toxicology of selected pesticides, drugs, and chemicals. Anticoagulant, cholecalciferol, and bromethalin-based rodenticides. 1990. *Vet Clin North Am Small Animal Practice*. 20(2):339-352.

¹⁹Gorton, H.C., and Jarvis, K. The effectiveness of vitamin C in preventing and relieving the symptoms of virus-induced respiratory infections. *J. Manipulative Physiol Ther.* 1999 October 22(8):530-3.

²⁰Rotman, D. Sialoresponsin and an antiviral action of ascorbic acid. *Med. Hypotheses.* 1978 Jan.-Feb.; 4(1): 40-3.

²¹Healthnotes. Quercetin. (http://www.vitacost.com/science/ hn/Supp/Quercetin.htm)

²² Kumar, P., *et al.* Effect of Quercetin on lipid peroxidation and changes in lung morphology in experiment al influenza virus infection. *Int. J. Exp. Pathol.* 2003 June; 84(3): 127-33. (http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abst ract&list_uids=12974942&query_hl=1&itool=pubmed_docsum)

²³Li, X.J., *et al.* Effects of oxygen radicals on the conformation of sulfhydryl groups on human polymorphonuclear leukocyte membranes. *Cell. Biol. Int. Rep.* 1991 Aug.; 15(18): 667-74. (http://www.ncbi.

```
nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abst
ract&list_uids=1660352&query_hl=2&itool=pubmed_docsum)
```

²⁴ Han, S.N., *et al.* Effect of long-term dietary antioxident supplementation on influenza virus infection. *J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 2000 Oct.; 55(10): B496-503. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.

gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abstract&list _uids=11034223&query_hl=1&itool=pubmed_docsum)

²⁵ Beck, M.A., and Matthews, C.C. Micronutrients and host resistance to viral infection. *Proc. Nutr. Soc.* 2000 Nov.; 59(4): 581-5.

```
(http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pu
bmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=11115793&query_hl=3&itool=pubmed _docsum)
```

²⁶Broome, C. S., *et al.* An increase in selenium intake improves immune function and poliovirus handling in adults with marginal selenium status. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 2004 Jul.; 80(1): 154-62.

(http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pu bmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=15213043&query_hl=3&itool=pubmed _docsum)

²⁷Chan, M.C.W., *et al.* Proinflammatory cytokine responses induced by influenza A (H5N1) viruses in primary human alveolar and bronchial epithelial cells. November 11, 2005. *Respiratory Research*. 2005,

6:135. Doi:10.1186/1465-9921-6-135.

(http://respiratoryresearch.com/content/6/1/135/abstract)

²⁸Thiele, B., *et al.* Modulation of cytokine expression by hypericum extract. *J. Geriatric Psychiatry Neurol.* 1994. Oct; 7 Suppl 1:S60-2. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pu bmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=7857513)

²⁹Konowalchuk, J., and Spiers, J.I. Antiviral effect of apple beverages.

Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 1978 Dec.; 36(6): 798-801.

(http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pu bmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=32832&query_hl=10&itool=pubmed_d ocsum)

³⁰Weiss, E.I., *et al.* Cranberry juice constituents affect influenza virus adhesion and infectivity. *Antiviral Res.* 2005 April; 66(1): 9-12.

(http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pu bmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=15781126&query_hl=14&itool=pubme d_docsum)

³¹Curcumin. (http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/catalog/search/ ProductDetail?ProdNo=C1386&Brand=SIGMA)

³² Jobin, C. *et al.* Curcumin Blocks Cytokine-Mediated NF-kB Activation and Proinflammatory Gene Expression by Inhibiting Inhibitory Factor IkB Kinase Activity. *The Journal of Immunology.* 1999, 163: 34743483. (http://jimmunol.org/cgi/content/full/163/6/3474)

³³ http://www.meddent.uwa.edu.au/teatree/#Publications

³⁴Hart, P.H., *et al.* Terpinen-4-ol, the main component of the essential oil of *Melaleuca alternifolia* (tea tree oil), suppresses inflammatory mediator production by activated human monocytes. *Inflammation Research.* 49(11): 619-626, 2000 Nov.

(http://www.meddent.uwa.edu.au/TeaTree/abstracts.htm#Hart)

³⁵Guaifenesin (oral). *Drugs.com*. (http://www.drugs.com/ guaifenesin.html)

³⁶Rubin, Rita. Cough syrup left out in the cold. *USA Today*. 1/9/2005. (http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/2006-01-09cough x.htm)

³⁷Emphysema. *MotherNature.com*. (http://www.mothernature.com/ Library/Bookshelf/Books/41/47.cfm)

³⁸Eucalyptus. Wholehealthmd.com. (http://www.wholehealthmd. com/refshelf/substances_view/0,1525,778,00.html)

³⁹ http://www.drugstore.com/qxp70259_333181_sespider/vicks/ personal_steam_inhaler.htm

40 Monograph: Zingiber Officinale. http://www.phytotherapies.org/ monograph_detail.cfm?id=245

⁴¹Phan, P.V., *et al.* Ginger extract components suppress induction of chemokine expression in human synoviocytes. *J. Altern. Complement. Med.* 2005 Feb.; 11(1): 149-54.

⁴²Sun, M.Y., *et al.* Effect of xiaochaihu decoction and different herbal formulations of its components on cytokines of carrageenan induced pleuritis in rats. *Zhongguo Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi.* 2004 Jul.; 24(7): 628-31.

⁴³Weiss, Rick. Legion of Little Helpers in the Gut Keeps Us Alive. *The Washington Post.* June 5, 2006. (http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2006/06/04/AR2006060400603.html)

⁴⁴Carmichael, Mary. Gut Flora? Great! *Newsweek.* January 16, 2006. (http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/10754238/site/newsweek/from/RS.4)

⁴⁵Yasui, H., *et al.* Immunomodulatory function of lactic acid bacteria. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek.* 1999 Jul.-Nov.; 76(1-4): 383-9.

(http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pu bmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=10532394&query_hl=1&itool=pubmed _docsum)

⁴⁶Morris, Dean G. Oregano Oil. *Alive.com.* (http://alive.com/ 3090a6a2.php)

⁴⁷ http://www.allicin.com/. Also, http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Allicin

⁴⁸Great Vista Chemicals. Garlic (Allium sativum). (http://www. greatvistachemicals.com/herbal-supplements/garlic-alliumsativum.html)

⁴⁹ Chang, H.P., *et al.* Modulation of cytokine secretion by garlic oil derivatives is associated with suppressed nitric oxide production in stimulated macrophages. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2005 Apr. 6; 53(7): 2530-4. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd= Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=15796590&query_hl= 18&itool=pubmed_docsum)

⁵⁰Lang, A., *et al.* Allicin inhibits spontaneous and TNF-alpha induced secretion of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines from intestinal epithelial cells. *Clin. Nutr.* 2004 Oct.; 23(5): 1199-208. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=15380914&query_hl=18&itool=pubmed_docsum)

⁵¹ http://www.altmedicine.com/Article.asp?ID=3692

⁵² http://www.imba.oeaw.ac.at/fileadmin/files/dokumente/ press_releases/JP_Nature_eng_Temp.pdf

⁵³Kuba, K., et al. A crucial role of angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in SARS coronavirus-induced lung injury. *Nat. Med.* 2005 Aug; 11(8):821-2, 875-9. Epub 2005 July 10. (http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abstract &list_uids=16007097&itool=iconabstr&query_hl=14)

⁵⁴ http://www.medicinenet.com/angiotensin_ii_receptor_blockers/ article.htm

⁵⁵ http://www.medicinenet.com/ace_inhibitors/article.htm

⁵⁶ http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/2006-06-07-drugs-birthdefects_x.htm

⁵⁷ http://www.altmedicine.com/Article.asp?ID=3692

⁵⁸Jiang, W.G., et al. Inhibition of neutrophil respiratory burst and cytokine priming by gamma-linolenic acid. *Br. J. Surg.* 1996 May; 83(5):659-64. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd= Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=8689213&dopt=Abstract)

⁵⁹ Dirks, J., *et al.* Cytokine levels affected by gamma-linolenic acid. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent. Fatty Acids.* 1998 Oct.;59(4):273-7. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=Pu bMed&list_uids=9849654&dopt=Abstract)

⁶⁰ Doctor Miller's web site is http://www.eastwestintmed.com

⁶¹Beck, M.A., *et al.* The role of oxidative stress in viral infections. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 2000; 917: 906-12. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/entrez/guery.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abstract&list uids=11268420&guery hl=20&itool=pubmed docsum)

⁶²Barrett, Jennifer. The Gurus' Guide To Daily Nutrition. *Newsweek*. Jan. 16, 2006. (http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/10753216/ site/newsweek/)

⁶³Can Older Adults Bulk Up Their Flu Abs (Antibodies) with Exercise? National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, NIH. Jan. 29, 2005. (http://www3.niaid.nih.gov/news/focuson/flu/research/ prevention/kohut exercise.htm)

⁶⁴ http://www.irishresistancebooks.com/guineapigs/guinea10.htm

65 Associated Press. Turkey reports 1st bird flu deaths outside Far East. USA Today. 1/5/06. (http://www.usatoday.com/news/ health/2006-01-05-bird-flu_x.htm)

⁶⁶Smoking and Influenza. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Dept. of HHS. October 18, 2004. (http://www.cdc.gov/flu/protect/ smoking.htm)

⁶⁷ WHO. Avian Influenza A (H5N1) Infection in Humans. *NEJM.* Vol. 353:1374-1385. Number 13. September 29, 2005.

⁶⁸ Trust for America's Health. Facing The Flu: From the Bird Flu to a Possible Pandemic, Why Isn't America Ready? Trust for America's Health. February 2004. (http://healthyamericans.org/reports/tfah/)

⁶⁹Barak, V., et al. The effect of Sambucol, a black elderberry-based, natural product, on the production of human cytokines: I. Inflammatory cytokines. *Eur. Cytokine Netw.* 2001 Apr.-Jun.: 12(2): 290-6. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/guery.fcgi?cmd= Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=11399518&guery_hl= 5&itool=pubmed docsum)

⁷⁰ Barak, V., *et al.* The effect of herbal remedies on the production of human inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines. Isr. Med. Assoc. J. 2002 Nov.; 4(11 Suppl): 919-22. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.

nih.gov/entrez/guery.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abstract &list_uids=12455180&query_hl=5&itool=pubmed_docsum)

⁷¹Polypharmacy information site. (http://www.altdirectory.com/ Polypharmacy/)

⁷² http://www.phytotherapies.org/Actions_detail.cfm?id=200

⁷³ van der Wouden, J.C., *et al.* Preventing influenza: an overview of systematic reviews. Respir. Med. 2005 Nov.; 99(11): 1341-9, Epug 2005 Aug. 19. (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.

fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=pubmed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=16112852&
query_hl=2&itool=pubmed_docsum)

⁷⁴ http://www.discount-vitamins-herbs.net/store/PPF/parameters/ 893_0/more_info.asp

⁷⁵Cowell, Alan. Study Says Older Americans Are Less Healthy Than British. *The New York Times*. May 3, 2006. (http://www.nytimes. com/2006/05/03/world/europe/03health.html)

⁷⁶ Padgett, D. A., and Glasser, R. How stress influences the immune response. *TRENDS in Immunology*. Vol. 24, No. 8. August 2003.



From the Past to the Present

The advent of penicillin and all the other antibiotics just over a half-century ago was hailed as the greatest public health advancement ever. Sometimes overlooked are other do-it-yourself public health advances with profound effects. The basic screen has protected untold millions of people from flies and mosquitoes bearing multiple lethal diseases.

For every action there is a reaction. With lowered mortality the Earth's population has swollen to where our global ecosystem is stressed. Global warming enhanced by released carbon dioxide is unprecedented within the last several thousand years. What was good in previous centuries may have become too much of a good thing for this century, as the world's population expands toward seven billion over a global surface biosphere that does not expand. Humans are unique, because we can understand these complex causal chains, and we have the ability to make necessary corrections. Yes, we have the ability; but do we have the wisdom?

Antibiotics and screens won't help at all when it comes to avoiding the bird flu. Unlike with diseases such as malaria and West Nile, human-adapted bird flu will skip from human to human without any insect intermediaries. Other basic precautions of the right type will be much more effective.

First and foremost, if you avoid sources and avenues of infection, you stay healthy. In our interconnected

modern world any avoidance strategy is easier to articulate than activate. Extremely few of us can live remotely, avoiding for months all human contact, and sustaining ourselves entirely with our own efforts. Short of that, we need to focus on avoiding avenues of viral transmission. Fortunately, even a killer flu is "just" another flu when it comes to contagion, so that hygiene lessons learned for other influenzas can help us avoid the pandemic bug at its worst. Basic hygiene is critical for prevention. You could, for example, go to the neighborhood grocery store for basics, and find yourself dead from the trip a few days later. How does this happen? All you need to do is touch the grocery cart push rail after it has been used by another person who is infectious, but still asymptomatic, or still well enough to go shopping for food. Next step is touching (without consciously thinking) your mouth, eyes, or nose with an infected finger. Or you can simply be standing in line next to somebody coughing out viruses. It's all too easy.

Recently I was in full "do as I say, not as I do" mode while shopping at my grocery store during a peak of seasonal flu and colds. I did not sanitize the push rail of my cart with an antiviral spray or sanitizing wipe such as Lysol,¹ and then thoughtlessly put my fingers to my face while still inside the store. Two days later a nasty head cold made my life more interesting. I easily survived this too-human mistake during a pre-pandemic era. During a killer pandemic, just one mindless mistake like this could be fatal for yourself, and for those you subsequently infect. Think, think, think...and then act wisely.

<u>My basic advice</u> is to stock up ahead of time on various canned vegetables, dried milk, multiple large containers of drinking water, dried and canned soups, canned meat, brown rice, beans, whole grain cereals, and candy, along with multiple substances you choose from the "what to take" chapter, or anything else <u>your family will need for at least two</u> <u>months</u>.

If you must go shopping during the pandemic, sanitize the cart's entire push rail with strong antiviral spray, and that includes the bottom side. Money that has recently touched other hands can carry viruses, so use a credit or debit card. Wear a clean N95 mask in public during the pandemic.

I do not recommend filling a large freezer or refrigerator with perishable food, since the power grid may be temporarily at risk if many of its maintenance workers are infected. Stock up your pantry with basics – if only because there may be a concurrent run on edible goods, and a subsequent shortage of replenishing merchandise, should the food distribution system become seriously disrupted for more than a few days. Consider what happens when the mere hint of a big snow propels frenzied crowds to the grocery store. (Here's another short list for preparation:².) The first tidal wave of pandemic death will sweep over your community during that cocooning period. This is not to say that the bird flu will "fly away" thereafter. It only means that there will be fewer opportunities to become infected, at least until the next killing wave arrives possibly a month or a season later.

Stock up again when the danger has receded, in preparation for the next wave. Stay vigilant even when cases in your community are few. Extreme vigilance is necessary until all community cases are gone, possibly one or two years later. The Spanish Flu stuck around from early 1918 until well into 1919 – with the worst period being the second wave, in late summer and early fall of 1918.

There is no established theory to explain waves as opposed to mere sustained presence. Seasonal influenza often exhibits both characteristics; and avian flu should do likewise, just persist much longer. My guess is that people who cocoon for a short time, then run out of food, are going to help stimulate the second wave, even if they don't precipitate it. Schools that let out for a few weeks until "the worst is over" might amplify the truly worst in the form of a more deadly second wave. Something to think about!

One of the best learning tools for establishing effective hygiene defenses against the bird flu is seeing what happened inside past epidemics. The best model for today's threat is not the medieval Black Death, likely involving fleas and bacteria, and its much longer period of killing in a preindustrial society. The best model is last century's global Spanish Flu epidemic that played out inside a fairly modern society similar to ours.

We know about the people during that viral siege buried in mass graves, or dumped off troop ships heading to Europe. Less advertised are all the people who did not develop the clinical disease. Indeed, this earlier pandemic didn't even strike parts of Iceland and Samoa, because both isolated communities banned everybody from visiting their domains. Nations can't hide like that today.

The early 21st century is much more linked than was the early 20th century. Transportation is by jet, not by steam ship. Cars zip around in all directions, whereas previous passengers rode a train or bus. The key differences are speed and ubiquity. Today's alpha traveler from Asia can get infected with human-transmissible avian flu today, and bring it by jet to America tomorrow before any symptoms are felt. During and after his

trip he (or she) will have the opportunity to infect several others, starting a nuclear-like chain reaction that will devastate a continent.

Part of our planned national defense is establishing monitors at airports to look for sick arrivals. This contagious alpha person will pass right by them. Meanwhile, the ever-vigilant bug cops will be stopping people with stomach flu, head colds, allergies, seasonal flu, and a host of other irrelevant ailments. Even if somebody sick with early pandemic flu is stopped, they will not be quarantined, just referred to a hospital, where they probably will be released into the community if not already too sick. Samples may be taken, but it will be many hours before our alpha traveler is identified with the pandemic strain – and long gone – giving him or her plenty of additional time to start the nuclear chain reaction.

Even though it took weeks for WWI troop ships and civilian trains in America to spread the pestilence, the Spanish Flu still managed to ravage the world over the space of several months. Therefore, I don't see what advantage temporary delay at the airport has over getting zapped sooner. Last minute and hasty defensive preparations will at best be haphazard. What we do in a meaningful way during the months before a pandemic is much more important.

Even the 2006 federal pandemic action plan recognizes that vigilance at the border could only slow down the inevitable by a couple weeks. There is no way the world's largest economy can quarantine itself from the world for months.

Today we have instant media feedback regarding the emerging threat, making this is the first time humans may be witnessing the unfolding of a new global influenza pandemic. Our very new ability to electronically monitor on the Internet almost everything everywhere allows for additional time to panic, or prepare. In 1918 the Wilson administration tried to downplay the threat for patriotic reasons, by controlling the flow of information, but there were riots anyway. The American people then were a lot less stupid than their national leaders thought they were.

Today's people around the world learn through the Internet just as fast as their "leaders." Multiple data sources empower us with more opportunities to learn, and more options to defend ourselves. *Panic only occurs when we are faced with an acute danger, and feel totally defenseless.* A major purpose of this book is to encourage an informed military mindset, rather than panic. In the "what to do" category are really the most important defenses you will have against the pandemic virus. Yes, it is great to have some powerful chemicals on your side, lacking a fully effective vaccine. Even with excellent chemicals, your body could fight a major battle. If you win, you will have battle wounds both physical and emotional. Also, you may survive only to help bury some of your loved ones. Not good. *Classical hygiene – done right – is our number one defense.*

The rest of this chapter will touch on what our world and national leaders are doing; what our state and local leaders will be doing; what our employers should be doing; and what we ourselves should be doing. Please also read the appendix to this book discussing the May 2006 federal pandemic influenza action plan.

It's nice to see what others are doing for us, but the virus attacks us directly, not through the United Nations or Washington. Neither the United Nations, nor any other official entity will save us. <u>Bottom line is the buck</u> for now stops with us. We must shake off our complacency and learn to wisely defend our loved ones, working with our doctors. Nobody else, not even the blue coats and the white coats, will fully relieve us of this burden.

What Our Global and National Leadership is Doing

Shortly after Katrinagate hit Washington the top feds were quick before news cameras with detailed bird flu defense plans. Did you wonder how they suddenly came up with such a detailed pandemic program so fast? The federal government has many good people working anonymously. Some of these fine invisible bureaucrats were already at work on a pandemic scenario months before. When the sweaty politicians called, out came the wonderful plans modified with current dates.

Of course, there is a huge gap between wonderful plans and actually carrying out those plans. On paper these highly detailed action plans look bureaucratically impressive. If nothing else, they will give the sweaty politicians some cover when the pandemic is in full force and little seems to work.

Throughout 2005 the seriously under-funded World Health Organization's medical doctors were repeatedly warning a blissful world about the emerging grave danger. For example, in February of 2005 Dr. Shigeru Omi, WHO's western Pacific regional director, urged health agencies around the world to better coordinate their fight against the virus. "We at WHO believe that the world is now in the gravest possible danger of a pandemic," Omi said.³

In August of 2005 – two weeks before Katrina – President Bush signed a bloated \$286.4 billion highway bill, called the Transportation Equity Act.⁴ Inside it are 6,371 "earmarked" pet projects. Rep. Don Young, R-Alaska, the House Transportation Committee Chairman, included \$231 million taxpayer dollars for a giant bridge nearly as long as the Golden Gate, and higher than the Brooklyn Bridge, linking the booming metropolis of Ketchikan (pop. 8,000) to the bustling Gravina Island (population less than 50). Local ferry operators were not amused.⁵

While all of these wasteful games with our taxpayer dollars are playing out in the giant world of greedy humans, down in the Lilliputian world of electron-microscopic viruses a Darwinian "struggle for supremacy" continues, with variants of H5N1 seeking to numerically dominate each other. Numerical domination is achieved, either intentionally or accidentally, by evolving and simply spreading faster than the old competition. That's why human-adapted pandemic strains supersede the less-efficient variants in our bodies. That's why every infection of a human with non-human H5N1 further threatens to bring forth the human-adapted evil that we fear. Each human or pig hosting both human and avian strains of Influenza A is a mixing bowl for viruses.

The news early in 2006 about a cluster of lethal H5N1 cases in rural Turkey points to the lack of timely monitoring of potential alpha cases in many parts of the world.⁶ Part of the world's containment strategy for incipient human-adapted pandemic flu is to get to the alpha community in time to stop viral spread. Turkey is a fairly modern country seeking to fully join the European community, and even there we don't have universal monitoring of rural areas.

What sort of timely monitoring do you think will occur now that the virus has flown down to African villages? What too about rural villages in Indonesia, Cambodia, India, and China? What about South American villages next year when the virus wings its way to the New World? More human infections will follow, with more chances for the virus to better adapt for efficient human-to-human transmission.

Good hygiene soldiers all, the World Health Organization continues to publish extensive updates on this emerging crisis.⁷ They also have

provided nations and communities with a road map for action, recommending what to do and what not to do.

Here is their November 2005 action strategy for non-pharmaceutical interventions: $\[1ex]$

"At the start of a pandemic and for many months thereafter, all countries will face inadequate supplies of vaccines and antiviral drugs. WHO has therefore organized several expert consultations to explore the role of classic public health measures in reducing transmission and delaying spread. Evaluation of these measures has been based on limited experience during past pandemics and on what is known about the behaviour of normal influenza viruses.

The effectiveness of several measures will depend on the characteristics of the pandemic virus (attack rate, virulence, principal age groups affected, modes of spread within and between countries), and these cannot be known in advance. After a pandemic is declared, WHO will monitor its evolution in real time. Recommendations about the most effective measures will therefore become more precise as the epidemiological potential of the virus unfolds. For all these reasons, the recommendations below should be taken as general guidance, and not as formal WHO advice. Recommended measures are specific to the phase of alert in the WHO six-phase scale.

<u>Phase three (current phase)</u>. The present situation is categorized as phase three: human infections with a novel virus subtype (H5) are occurring, but there is no evidence that the virus is spreading efficiently and sustainably among humans. Although the virus has demonstrated some ability to infect humans, H5N1 avian influenza remains principally a disease of birds, and not of humans. Human cases at present are isolated and rare, indicating a significant species barrier. To date, fewer than 130 human cases have been officially confirmed, despite the infection of tens of millions of birds over a wide geographical area for almost two years, in a situation with abundant opportunities for human exposure. At this phase, WHO recommends vigilance for human cases in areas experiencing outbreaks in birds. Unaffected areas should undertake measures to prevent entry of the virus via poultry or wild birds, especially as this virus, once established in birds, has proved to be especially tenacious. For humans, no travel restrictions or screening measures at borders are recommended, as the risk that the virus will be carried by international travellers is considered negligible.

<u>Phases four and five</u>. Phases four and five are characterized by evidence that the virus is progressively improving its transmissibility among humans, but is not yet spreading efficiently and sustainably. An increase in the number of clusters, closely related in time and place, is considered the likely epidemiological signal of improved transmissibility. During these phases, when instances of human-tohuman transmission remain localized, WHO may recommend, depending on the circumstances, some of the measures below. These measures aim to reduce transmission and prevent, or at least delay, further spread.

Rapid detection and isolation of persons infected with H5N1.

Tracing of close contacts during the patient's first two weeks of illness and voluntary quarantine of symptomatic persons for one week.

Use of antiviral drugs for treatment of cases and prophylaxis of others in the initially affected area. The WHO rapid-response stockpile of antiviral drugs will be used for this purpose.

Restriction on the movement of persons in and out of the initially affected area.

• Screening of travellers departing from areas where clusters of human cases are occurring.

<u>Phase six: pandemic declared (not all countries affected)</u>. At the start of a pandemic, when not all countries or areas within a country are likely to have cases, WHO may recommend, depending on the circumstances, some of the measures below. Health care workers and first responders should be equipped with N95 respiratory masks; these should be fit-tested and training in their use should be provided. If respiratory masks are not available, standard well-fitted surgical masks should be used.

Patients and persons seeking care in areas with cases should wear surgical masks. Persons with fever and respiratory symptoms and their contacts should be asked to undergo voluntary home confinement.

Populations in countries with cases should be asked to defer nonessential domestic travel to affected parts of the country.

Countries with cases should provide incoming travellers with health alert notices describing symptoms and where to report should these symptoms develop.

Countries with cases may introduce exit screening measures for departing travellers. However, such measures are disruptive and costly and will not be fully efficient, as influenza viruses can be carried by asymptomatic persons, who will escape detection during screening.

For persons known to have been exposed in an aircraft or aboard a large cruise ship, consideration can be given to recommended daily fever checks among passengers and crew and prophylactic treatment with antiviral drugs, when available.

<u>Phase six: pandemic spread (all countries affected)</u>. Because influenza viruses are contagious and spread easily via coughing or sneezing, pandemics have historically encircled the globe quickly. After a new pandemic virus has spread widely within countries and internationally, WHO may recommend, depending on the circumstances, some of the measures below for all countries:

Patient isolation and tracing and quarantine of contacts should cease, as such measures will no longer be feasible or useful.

Health care workers and first responders should wear N95 respiratory masks or well-fitting surgical masks; patients should wear surgical masks.

Should a large surge in cases occur, health care facilities should be arranged in ways that help reduce transmission (for example, by keeping a distance between patient beds or placing adjacent beds face to foot).

"Social distancing" measures, such as the closing of schools or cancellation of large gatherings, may be recommended if evidence indicates an association of certain settings or events with amplified transmission or dispersion into the wider community. Populations should be repeatedly informed of the need for frequent hand washing with soap and water. Populations should be repeatedly informed of the need for "respiratory hygiene" (covering mouth when coughing or sneezing, careful disposal of soiled tissues or other materials)

Mask wearing by the general population is not expected to have an appreciable impact on transmission, but should be permitted, as this is likely to occur spontaneously.

WHO does not recommend, at any phase, that individual countries be quarantined or that international borders be closed."

In the real world one of the first things that will happen when the human pandemic initially breaks out is the closing or sharp monitoring of some borders, leading to de-facto quarantining of individual countries.[°] Whereas scientists try to look at the picture as rationally as possible, national politicians and local officials will respond to panicky pressures from their media and citizens.

After multiple borders are closed for weeks from a real outbreak, massive economic disruptions and depressions will ensue in parts of the world. Some politicians will at first be tempted to have their military surround a town or two, trying to stop the unstoppable. Soon the virus will do an end run around such ineffective barriers, and the Grim Reaper will be busier than Santa Claus on Christmas Eve.

What Our States Will Be Doing

President Bush's pandemic flu plan involves the states and localities. States are now polishing up their pandemic flu plans, so that governors and their top administrators can claim they are getting all their dead ducks in a row.

Seriously, if you are up for some "fun" reading, just check out your own state's official pandemic flu plan.¹⁰ It will discuss in great detail how they will try to distribute the scarce vaccine that probably won't be much good. It will discuss how they will be distributing a limited supply of antivirals, including medicines already known to be virtually worthless against H5N1. It will discuss all sorts of often meaningless bureaucratic testing and reporting, little of which will be done anyway during the heat of the pandemic. It may project mortality toward the lower end of what could happen. It will look very tidy on paper, the exact opposite of what may happen in a worst-case scenario.

If you would like an objective report on how your state's health stacks up against others, and even how your state is preparing for emergencies,

one of the best sources is the web site hosted by the Trust for America's Health (TFAH).¹¹ They are a non-profit, non-partisan organization dedicated to saving lives by protecting the health of every community, and working to make disease prevention a national priority.

Another excellent overview of the status of our states and localities was printed in *The New York Times* in February of 2006.¹² Among the highlights of this article:

• Of the \$7.1 billion President Bush requested for avian flu, only \$3.3 billion has been appropriated so far. The bulk is for vaccine and drug research, with only \$350 million for

local health departments. That works out to about \$70,000 as an average for each of the nation's 5,000 health departments. Dr. Harvey Fineberg, president of the Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of Sciences, said that if an epidemic stuck in the next year the quarantine-based strategy called social distancing "is likely to be all we're going to have as a strategy."

Few local stockpiles exist of precautionary items like masks and sanitizers, and no stockpiles of expensive, but critically needed, \$30,000 ventilators. Dr. Roger Baxter, head of flu preparedness for Kaiser Permanente in California, said in the *Times* article that his hospital network was "probably better off than 90 percent of health systems out there, and we have no surge capacity." He added: "We're a business, and we operate on a thin margin. We don't have extra ventilators. Even in normal flu seasons we tend to divert patients to other hospitals. There's no way we can realistically plan for this."

There is deep concern that critically needed supplies from the federal government will not get distributed by all states during a crisis. Most cities and states lack plans to distribute drugs and respirators, even though the federal stockpile is growing. "You can have all the Tamiflu and respirators in the world, but if you can't get them to the people who need them, they're not much good," said Kim Elliott of the nonprofit Trust for America's Health.¹³

Meanwhile, the proposed federal budget for FY2007 is \$2.77 TRILLION, with hefty increases for the politically popular war on terrorism.¹⁴ From the numbers, it seems that a few human terrorists threaten politicians more than trillions of microscopic terrorists with the power to fill mass graves.

What Our Localities Will Be Doing

Just like state and federal governments, *local officials* cannot be too far ahead of their constituents. They may be closer to the voters, but the voters are even closer to their TV sets, watching the latest *American Idol.* Speaking at the January 2006 meeting of The United States Conference of Mayors, Richard Ward of Hurst, Texas said: "I don't think our constituents think it's real. As with so many things, it seems to be so blown out of proportion. And frankly, this generation has not witnessed anything like this."¹⁵

Local governments are both closest to the people, and most removed from the federal money and policy power. Local leaders will try to do an excellent job in a pandemic. Police chiefs will focus on law and order in the face of potential panic. What happens within their communities will have less to do with the police, and more to do with the pandemic itself.¹⁶ We are talking about a potentially near-nuclear force much greater than any city hall. Nevertheless, many localities are preparing now, but not all equally.¹⁷

There is an element in society that is barely controlled by social norms in the best of times. Given any arena to exhibit greed and rage, they will. I believe this element is in the minority. If the police and good citizens can manage the loonies, then maybe the rest of us can go about our survival in peace. However, if critical elements of society, such as basic utilities, melt down for more than a few days, then the beast in all of us may stir.

Local governments should be interfacing with *the medical community* to find additional space for treating the sick, once the community's hospital beds and hallways are full. Local governments should provide necessary municipal support for those extra emergency treatment locations. There is anecdotal evidence that temporary elimination of large gatherings helps to reduce influenza morbidity, and thereby mortality.¹⁸ In this light, it would be wise to cancel sports events, public concerts, and other mass gatherings. Churches should also re-evaluate their services in this regard. Canceling mass gatherings reduces mass graves.

What Our Schools Will Be Doing

A huge part of local government is *the local school system*. Here's where things could get interesting: In areas where snow is expected there are a number of scheduled snow days. In a normal year, when there's any measurable snow such a school system will shut down for a day. After a big snow they will shut down for several days. It's all been planned for and budgeted in the ordinary school year.

Schools don't normally shut down when the flu is in town, and in fact several state departments of health have recommended against it for seasonal flu (Rhode Island, Minnesota, and others) – but a pandemic strain is totally different. They might all shut down for a while, but for how long? What will be the trigger, and the timing? What will be the consequences of their shutting down for weeks at a time? What will be the community health consequences if they don't shut down that long, or soon enough? After shutting down for several weeks during the first wave, will they do likewise during the second and third waves? (The second wave in 1918 was the most deadly.)

An *ABC News* report in March of 2006 explained the dilemmas facing families and communities:¹⁹

In a best-case scenario, schools will shut down for extended periods of time, saving the lives of many children, teachers and staff who could be infected in close quarters. In a worst-case scenario, schools stay open, parents who must work send their children to school, hastening the spread of infection.

Experts said it is very likely that schools and day care centers will be shut down as soon as a pandemic begins. They're incubators for infection. However, a few weeks closed is not enough for a pandemic that may appear, retreat, and return to kill over a few months.

If you don't send your kids to school, what are you going to do with them? Most parents can't stay home to take care of kids, and if they do, they can't go to work. Day care is worse. There are no easy options.

Merely shutting down school systems in time will not fully ensure that children will not spread the illness. Very small children are more easily cocooned, achieving real social distance. Older children are much more independent and mobile. If they are allowed to roam around town at all with their friends, the benefits of separation will be minimized. The social activity of older children is one reason why some school systems don't bother shutting down in seasonal influenza epidemics. If you have several children in your home, and just one of them roams, everybody in your cozy cocoon will be at heightened risk.

Nevertheless, there is evidence from the 1957 pandemic and from other sources that shutting down schools does have a beneficial effect. A recent report from the WHO confirms the wisdom of such defensive action.²⁰

<u>I recommend</u> that you work now with your local school system to plan for what they will do, and when. Don't delay pandemic planning until the event happens. Administrators may not act soon enough or wisely enough without serious pandemic guidelines. Among the best ways to ameliorate the pandemic's effect on your community is to disperse and separate people, thus minimizing chances for spreading the very infectious virus. Schools are notorious bug factories, with young children bringing home their latest maladies. If your school system doesn't act soon enough, take your child out of school in time to save his or her life, and yours too. Keep your child out until the danger is past, not when bureaucrats order everybody back after "holiday and snow days" are exhausted. Even if a child loses an entire year of school, that's better than losing his or her life.

What Our Neighborhoods Should Be Doing

Neighborhoods are both geographical and virtual. There are some neighborhoods where almost nobody talks to their neighbors, with families living their lives in front of television sets, and then away at school, church, or work. There are still some neighborhoods with old-fashioned neighborliness. There are some community groups, religious and secular, that infuse certain areas, forming virtual neighborhoods. All of these local units should and could be organized for mutual welfare during the several months of assault.

The federal government has written a *checklist for faith-based and community groups*.²¹ It was recently prepared by the CDC to provide guidance for these organizations that hopefully will collaborate with public health agencies for the greater good. There are six main checklist sections, each with from two to eight action steps. Here are the sections:

"(1) Plan for the impact of a pandemic on your organization and its mission;

(2) Communicate with and educate your staff, members, and persons in the communities that you serve;

(3) Plan for the impact of a pandemic on your staff, members, and the

communities that you serve;

(4) Set up policies to follow during a pandemic;

(5) Allocate resources to protect your staff, members, and persons in the communities that you serve during a pandemic;

(6) Coordinate with external organizations and help your community."

More recommendations are in FluWiki. Even though some recommendations are odd, they represent defensive action versus total freezing before the microscopic predator.²²

"* Organize neighborhood around avian flu contingency.

* Archive information about each neighbor, emergency contact information, required medicines, pets, location of critical items on property such as medicines, special skills each can bring to bear in emergencies.

* CERT training; first aid/CPR training.

* Neighborhood education and news updates via newsletter, websites, email lists or phone trees.

* Establish liaison with local hospital, healthcare professionals or city health services office.

* Set up communications node (if communications are still up and running) or point persons and runners; maintain contact with neighbors.

* Ham radio -have one licensed operator.

* Keep track of all cases; transport afflicted when necessary (using personal protective equipment).

* Stockpile goods and move resources to where needed to prevent waste or shortage.

* Establish staging areas for deliveries.

* Immunized (via vaccination or flu survival) persons hopefully volunteer to run errands and help with nursing.

* Consolidate errands to minimize contact in public places.

* Purchase portable ventilator to share.

* Elect a neighborhood "sheriff"; consider an armed guard if there is civil disorder".

For additional community recommendations, see my "Don't plan on leaving town" comments below.

What Our Employers Should Be Doing

School subjects can be learned later, as long as you are alive to study. In contrast, there are *essential businesses* that cannot simply shut down, even in a pandemic – police, fire, water and sewer, electricity, gas, fuel oil, gasoline, electronic media, phones, food, health care, and in some areas public transportation. It takes a minimum number of workers on the job to carry out these critical aspects of modern society. Some of these critical components are partially automated, such as the electric power grid. Some are highly human-intensive, such as health care. All will suffer a significant drop-off in attendance. The key is having enough workers to maintain adequately minimal service.

Any business or public utility that does not both inform and involve all of its workers is not being socially responsible. I believe that front-line workers who are both informed and involved will try to do the right thing for their fellow citizens, rather than simply panic and vanish. Needless to say, it is of supreme importance to keep critical utilities, such as the power grid, functioning at all times. We cannot allow the failure of one component like this to cause a domino effect on other critical components.

Ordinary businesses that are not critical to the very glue of society would include such things as regular retail, bars and restaurants, any repairs that can be put off, tourism, and so forth. These businesses have owners with bills to pay, so there will be a tension between trying to keep up cash flow, and watching your business suffer when both workers and customers stay away. If you work at such a business, it is best to ask your employer what their contingency plans are. If you are not happy with what you hear, then proceed with your own contingency plans.

There already are some businesses that have prepared pandemic contingency plans.²³ Businesses with action plans tend to be large and global. Even though most corporations have not done the preliminary work, there is still time to plan for the unspeakable. Even small businesses can plan now for how they will manage this challenge. It is much better to act now, than to react later. Any good general will tell you that a battle is won before the battle is fought.

So far, many businesses are just modifying existing contingency plans. Will that be enough? Even in the heart of China's bird flu zone half of businesses there don't have viable pandemic flu plans. Some actions are plain silly, such as having bowls of bleach around the workplace, to make the air smell clean. What effect could all this procrastination have on a global economy that heavily depends on just-intime supply chains?²⁴

The federal government, through the CDC and HHS, has prepared a two-page Business Pandemic Influenza Planning Checklist. It is a good place to start.²⁵

Prudent Personal Preparations

There are several actions a person may choose to prepare for negative eventualities. The suggestions herein are only a guide, as you may have your own quite different list. The key point is to *start rationally thinking and planning <u>now</u>.*

We have all heard the cliche: "An ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure." Many of us have heard the Boy Scout motto: "Be prepared." The reason these sayings persist is because they point to serious truth. As an Eagle Scout, I would also point you to the Boy Scout slogan: "Do a good turn daily." We need to think of strangers in need as much as ourselves when we make our preparations. After all, any one of us could become that stranger in need.

Update your will.

You may not be able to smoothly pass on your assets if you don't have a will. Even if you are married in a state where husband and wife share the wealth, what guarantee is there that both of you will survive? Your spouse needs to have a will too. If there are others who should benefit, put them in line explicitly. Don't overlook this basic preparation that we need to make anyway, pandemic or not. You don't want a big chunk of your estate going toward buying a lawyer his next luxury vehicle.

Write your obituary.

This may sound creepy, but you know one will be written for you anyway. Why have a funeral home employee do it from no knowledge of the real you? Who is better to provide the essence of your biography than yourself? All that will be required is filling in the time and place of departure. More importantly, by writing your obituary today you transcend willful denial, and force yourself into understanding your limits. Also, you are justifying your life to yourself, if not to others. Are you happy with what you will write? There is always time to set things morally right. As the old saying goes, no man has ever been on his death bead and cried out, "I wish I had spent more time at the office!"

Check your insurance.

I have been for years a licensed life and health insurance agent, among my other activities. I don't believe in folks becoming "insurance poor," but

there is a level of insurance that each person needs. Perhaps you are single, and all you want is a decent burial. If your local funeral home knows in advance of the money, and they are beneficiary of an amount sufficient for a decent burial, then your burial policy may keep you from being dumped into a mass burial pit.

I do not recommend loading up on cheap term insurance from companies that specialize in term plans. Some term coverage is OK, but don't expect your surviving beneficiaries to collect the full amount. Such policies are cheap because historically only about one in fifty ever pays out, which is the "big unspoken" among term salesmen.²⁶ When the highly leveraged math turns against specialty companies during an intense pandemic, with so many of their young insured dying, some of these companies may be unable to fully perform, even with the help of your state's insurance pool. In that case, your small premiums could yield small payouts to your beneficiaries.

I would recommend buying a children's burial policy. They are very inexpensive for now, because children past infancy have a very low death rate. I would also recommend adding a spousal rider to your term policy, which should be very cost-effective. Just don't become insurance poor.

Most policy applications simply supply space for a primary beneficiary and a contingent beneficiary. However, you can have more. I recommend that you submit an attached, notarized sheet listing more than these two, just in case. Keep your family's money away from the estate lawyers.

Get a Pneumovax 23 vaccination.

This vaccination protects influenza victims against most strains of opportunistic Streptococcus pneumoniae bacteria. It won't prevent all cases of bacterial pneumonia, but it will prevent most. Medicare pays for it, and so do many insurance plans. If you don't have insurance, it's still a wise cash investment. If you don't get a cytokine storm you will still be sick for at least two weeks. Your pulmonary cells will be severely damaged, inviting bacteria where the virus has attacked. Many people die during seasonal flu epidemics, not directly from the influenza virus, but from subsequent opportunistic bacterial pneumonias. Many people also died from influenza-bacterial interactions in 1918.²⁸

Get your regular flu shot.

If they are still making it and have some available, stick out your arm. The last thing you want is to get the seasonal flu in one season, and shortly thereafter have your weakened body face the pandemic strain. You also don't want to survive the pandemic strain, and then have your weakened body face a regular flu virus.

Don't plan on leaving town.

Do you recall what happened during the Katrina disaster? People of means did follow instructions and left town, but not the poor stuck inside the flooded city. This storm was meteorologically for New Orleans a one-day event. What do you think the landscape will look like when a viral "Katrina" is invisibly everywhere in America for a year?

During the Spanish Flu era many towns tried to isolate themselves, but only a very few succeeded.²⁹ All it took was one infection source, a person or an object, and the walls of isolation crumbled for that community.

My advice is to prepare in advance to stay in your local community, if at all possible. Even if you have relatives elsewhere, consider the burden your long-term presence will be on them. Your home is where you can store sufficient supplies to remain out of circulation during the multiple waves. Staying in your own home and community – not "on the road" – is where you should be able to best care for your sick.

There is a sizeable element in this society that is lusting for a social Armageddon. I am not among them. One religious group moved from California to Montana and built elaborate bomb shelters. There is a big industry selling guns, survivalist gear, camping and backpacking equipment, and much more – all with the romantic cowboy image of a man defending his family by taking them out into the Great Wilderness. Don't fall for this trap. There is precious little Great Wilderness left in a land of 300 million people.

Even if you found a nice spot in the boonies, how long could you survive, and would you really be socially isolated with all the other survivalists about? What would you do day after day? What would your children do? What about bad weather, chiggers, mosquitoes, flies, ticks, rats, snakes, spiders, and so forth? Many "survivalists" out there will be carrying a pistol or other weapon. Think of the possibilities for gun battles. Even if you have a cabin stocked with goods, it will become a besieged fortress, and no police around to protect you.

By staying in your community, you and your neighbors can get together well in advance of the pandemic to discuss what all can do as a sub-community to support each other. Not everybody will have a household with healthy people to care for them. Your neighborhood needs to collectively look out for the food, security, utility, and other needs of all its various members. Defensively organizing for the common welfare will sharply reduce the chances of panic on the street outside your house, and somewhat increase the odds of more people surviving.

In more rural and sparsely settled areas, neighborhoods manifest themselves as school districts, local church congregations, volunteer fire departments, fraternal groups, etc. The moral ideal is to take care of your own group's families, and also to look out for vulnerable non-affiliated neighbors who don't have a viable support system. Start with the CDC guidelines, and customize them for your own local situation.

Do not underestimate the power of defensive community action. My own neighborhood was able a few years ago to stop the state highway department from bulldozing many of our historic houses, thereby opening the way for a \$2 billion pork highway designed to enrich land speculators around a large nearby lake. We were told by powerful people that we couldn't stop "progress." We did. Now we are preparing to defend ourselves against another invader. You can too.

Hygiene, Hygiene, Hygiene

When the bad bugs are just over the horizon, cable news media will switch to "all pandemic, all the time" mode. Much of their coverage will deal with ways to be hyper-hygienic. For that reason I won't spend too much space in this book on details. *What I want to stress is the difference between doing it, and doing it right.* The purpose of all this hygiene is not to try to banish the bird flu from our communities, which will be impossible. The purpose of hygiene will be to minimize its effects within the limits of our powers.

Common sense needs to rule over rote behavior. Consider the simple example of a public toilet: We good citizens wash our hands after doing our business, but not everybody does. Even if we vigorously wash our hands for thirty seconds with soap, including washing the handles on the sink, which almost nobody does, we still could leave the area ready to fatally inoculate ourselves. How can this be? Simply, the door we touch coming in and going out is likely to have infectious viruses ready to stick to our fingers, which could then find their way into our eyes, nose, or mouth. A simple fix would be to have lavatory entrance doors blocked open, or converted to swinging doors that can be opened with our body. When you exit the building, don't overlook doors lacking automatic openers.

Masks will be a big item. There is both good and bad in them. The good part is that, yes, the right mask (N95) fitted and worn properly may help protect your lungs against inhaled viruses.³⁰ The bad part is that *even the right mask improperly used is of little benefit.* For example, after use around the sick most masks need to be disposed of, since they may be virally contaminated. If supplies of disposable masks are limited, how likely will this one-use precaution be followed every time? There are also less effective masks that, even if worn according to instructions, will not be able to filter sub-micron viral particles.

In 1918 many people wore ineffective masks with little benefit. We cannot blame them, because people back then didn't even know that the problem was viral. Furthermore, advanced filter technology was unavailable. A good antibacterial mask of that era was useless against much smaller viruses. The offenders were way ahead of the defenders.

Shaking hands when greeting is part of our American culture. Other cultures in Europe and Asia have people kissing each other on the cheeks when greeting. Both practices could be suicidal during a pandemic! We need to decide how to alternatively greet each other. I personally like the Indian way of placing the hands in a prayerful position, then bowing briefly to the person we greet. That's totally hygienic and very respectful. Others may go with something like a V-for-victory-against-the-bird-flu greeting. Done with *Star Trek* skill, it has a Vulcan appeal. A simple two-fingered V would be just as hygienic, and respectful.

Hand hygiene is more than watching out for other hands you touch. It also involves touching places where infectious others have touched. Germs linger for hours or even days. There are excellent gels widely available with alcohol that will kill viruses. However, they don't work well on soiled hands, so wash off the dirt with soap first. Also, they don't work at all when their alcohol percentage is below 60%. Finally, C.D.C. guidelines say you should still have a moist hand after fifteen seconds of vigorous rubbing; if not, apply more hand sanitizer.³¹

Laundry hygiene is easy to overlook. Viruses attach to anything, including our clothes. If we are in an area where we need to be wearing an N95 mask, then our clothes could become contaminated. Traditional washing with warm water and detergent will not kill germs. Hot water and regular bleach, along with your detergent, will kill more germs. The laundry water temperature should be more than 50 degrees centigrade, or over 122 degrees Fahrenheit, to deactivate Influenza A, H5N1 included. The bleach will have its own effect. If your clothes will be ruined by regular bleach, try buying some white clothes. You too can be a white coat! If you must wear bleach-sensitive clothing in a contaminated environment, be sure your laundry water is very hot.

Precautions for Travelers

When pandemic flu is circulating, the last place you want to be is in a confined cabin with many travelers for several hours. Circulating air can bring pandemic influenza to you from just one other person who is seated several rows away. Therefore, the best option is to travel by car, or don't travel. If you have a business meeting, see if it can be done by teleconference, saving both money and lives.

Travelers who are perhaps a bit too phobic of all germs are nevertheless on the right track when they are seeking out ways to avoid other people's germs. Ordinary bacteria will forever be around; the pandemic killer will not. Precautions that work against routine bacterial threats may or may not work against a viral killer.

USA Today ran an analysis of various strategies for travelers to protect themselves.³² Most turned out to be ineffective, or unnecessary. A few, such as classical frequent hand washing and N95 masks, may help reduce infection. Also recommended are hand-sanitizing alcohol gels.

Sanitation and Sterilization

Sterilization, not just sanitation, is the ideal for all eating utensils when H5N1 could be in the household. Sanitation is a big concern among home brewers who face ruined batches when too many microorganisms escape imperfect cleaning. A *treatise for home brewers* offers help for what to do, and not do, for sterilizing utensils. Palmer's essay, with multiple references, has some very relevant points. I will excerpt a few for you:³³

One official definition states that a sanitizer must kill 99.999 percent of the specific

test microorganism in 30 seconds. It is generally acknowledged that 90 percent of the sanitizing process is the physical cleaning of surfaces, and the other 10 percent involves the use of a sanitizing agent.

• Alcohol's mechanism of action is still unconfirmed, but theories for how alcohol might kill cells include denaturing of cell proteins, interfering with cellular metabolism and destroying cell membranes. In the absence of water, proteins are not denatured as readily by alcohol, and this explains why a solution of 70 percent alcohol and 30 percent water is a better sanitizer than 100 percent alcohol. Alcohol will kill most bacterial organisms in less than five minutes, but because some organisms may take longer, it is best to let items soak at least 10 minutes to kill the majority present. Alcohol does not kill bacterial spores, and viruses are only killed after exposure of an hour or more, but these microorganisms are not a concern to brewers.

As with all sanitizers, the degree of effectiveness is dependent on the initial cleanliness of the surface.

Dry heat is less effective than wet or moist heat in killing microorganisms, but it can still be used. The best place to do dry heat sterilization is, of course, in your oven. For an item to be sterilized by dry heat it needs to be heated at a given temperature for a given time as shown below:

Dry Heat Sterilization Time/Temperature Table

338iF (110iC) 60 minutes 320iF (160iC) 120 minutes 302iF (150iC) 150 minutes 284iF (140iC) 180 minutes 250iF (121iC) 12 hours (Overnight)

The times indicated begin when the item has reached the indicated temperature. One note of caution: bottles made of soda lime glass are much more susceptible to thermal shock and breakage than those made of borosilicate glass and should be heated and cooled slowly. You can assume all beer bottles are made of soda lime glass, and that any glassware that says Pyrex[™] or Kimax[™] is made of borosilicate.

Chlorine is by far the least expensive and most widely available chemical disinfectant and sanitizer a home brewer can use. It is available in the form of household bleach, which is a 5.25 percent solution of sodium hypochlorite (NaOCI). This economical form of chlorine has the advantages of being a powerful germicide, colorless and non-staining (except to clothes) nonpoisonous when diluted properly and a deodorizer. Because of the widespread use of bleach, it is the standard to which other sanitizers are compared. For sanitizing purposes, a concentration of 100 to 200 ppm available chlorine is needed to kill most microorganisms with an exposure time of 10 minutes. It is the available chlorine that does the killing. Use one-half ounce (one tablespoon) of bleach in one gallon of water to get 200 ppm of available chlorine, according to the Clorox Co. in Oakland, Calif., assuming you have household bleach containing 5.25 percent sodium hypochlorite, as indicated on the label. The items to be sanitized should be allowed to soak for 10 minutes and then drip dried or rinsed to eliminate the majority of residual chlorine. When sodium hypochlorite is dissolved in cold water it reacts to form hypochlorous acid, which is a very strong oxidizing agent. It is this compound that actually does the sanitizing in solution.

Hydrogen peroxide is considered a safe and effective sanitizer. It kills microorganisms by oxidizing them, which can be best described as a controlled burning process. When hydrogen peroxide reacts with organic material it breaks down into oxygen and water. This inactivation can occur when hydrogen peroxide reacts with microorganisms, proteins or other organic residues. Hydrogen peroxide is active against a wide range of microorganisms, provided it is used full strength right from the bottle. It is active at lower concentrations but exposure times on the order of 30 to 60 minutes are required. The 3 percent solution sold in most drugstores is adequate to kill bacteria of most types in about 10 minutes. If you need to rinse after using other sanitizers, then hydrogen peroxide is a good choice for a rinsing substance. As with other chemical sanitizers, hydrogen peroxide is inactivated when used on dirty surfaces, so make sure you use it on clean equipment.

What We May Be Called to Do

When the pandemic comes, unless you are an isolated and totally self-sufficient hermit, you will be inside a social unit. If you are a parent with a sick child or spouse, what will you do? If the sick family member is among the very first in your community to become ill, that person probably will receive top-level care in the hospital. Within days demand for care will far exceed the very limited supply of resources. Even basic supplies, such as ventilators, will be unavailable. Still, you have a loved one in your home facing a likely death sentence without help. What to do?

Many doctors are deeply and privately considering how they will face this pandemic with almost no patent medicines available to cure the afflicted. One of these clinicians is truly exceptional, because he has transformed his private concerns into a self-help document for everyday people.

Dr. Grattan Woodson, M.D., FACP,³⁴ is a Georgia physician who has written a guide entitled *Preparing for the Coming Influenza Pandemic.*³⁵ His self-published 2005 monograph states: "This document may be copied and shared freely.... to provide some common sense medical guidance for providing care to very sick patients in the home setting."

You are welcome to download his entire monograph. I am herein reprinting the core of his essential medical guidelines for home care:

The Flu Survival Kit

Under the circumstances, having a supply of over-the-counter products and select prescription drugs on hand useful for the home treatment of cases of severe influenza is prudent. For instance, simple household items that will be very useful include ibuprofen, acetaminophen, table sugar, and table salt. It will also be helpful to have on hand, and know how to use a thermometer, an automatic blood pressure and pulse monitor. In the following discussion I will provide you with advice on how these simple items can be used very effectively for the home care of flu sufferers. In order to obtain the prescription drugs needed for the home care of the flu, please call the office at 404.298.9951 and for us to mail you a "**Flu Survival Kit**". The kit includes a list of useful items included in this monograph and a prescription in your name with medication for treatment of one person. *Simple Medical Skills Required*

Caregivers need to learn how to obtain vital signs like pulse, blood pressure, temperature and respiratory rate. It will also be very useful to be able to use an automated blood pressure monitor to measure blood pressure. If you need help learning how to do these, my staff will be happy to help you develop these simple skills. All you need to do is ask.

OTC products to have on hand for home treatment of one person with severe influenza

Table salt: 1 lb Table sugar: 10 lbs Baking soda: 6 oz Tums Ex: 500 tablets Acetaminophen 500mg #100 tablets Ibuprofen 200mg # 100 tablets Caffeinated tea, dry loose: 1 lb

Electronic thermometer: #2

Automatic blood pressure monitor Notebook for recording vital signs and fluid intake and output Kitchen measuring cup with 500 cc (two cup) capacity Diphenhydramine (Benadryl) 25mg capsules # 60: 1 tablet every 4 hours as needed for nasal congestion, allergy, or itching.

Prescription products for home treatment of one person with severe influenza

Tamiflu 75mg # 20: take two tablets daily for 5 (or 10) days for flu* Promethazine (Phenergan) 25mg tablets # 60: take 1/2 to 1 tablet every 4 hrs as needed for nausea Hydrocodone with acetaminophen (Lortab-5) # 60 (5mg/325mg): 1/2 to 1 tablet every 4 hrs as needed for cough or pain

Diazepam (Valium) 5mg # 60: 1/2 to 1 tablet twice daily as needed for anxiety, muscle aches, or insomnia

* Thermometers break so have more than one on hand.

* I recommend the hand pumped automatic BP monitor rather than ones with electric pumps.

* Tamiflu is expensive costing about \$200 for 20 tablets. If you have insurance, you will still pay stiff co-pay. All the other prescription drugs are generic and not expensive.

Symptoms of Influenza

The influenza virus usually enters the body through the respiratory tract but can also gain access through the intestinal tract. The virus causes a variety of symptoms with fever, sore throat, cough, runny nose and general aches and pains as the leading ones. In addition to these principal symptoms many also experience headache, nausea, abdominal cramps and diarrhea.

These symptoms could be due to some other infectious agent or even the influenza virus but not the pandemic strain since it is possible that both endemic (routine seasonal flu varieties) and pandemic strains could both be circulating in the community at the same time if the pandemic flu appeared during the November-March flu season. In fact, this scenario is what looks to be the most likely time for the pandemic to begin. The best guess for the start of the pandemic at this point is between December 2005 and April 2006.

There are several ways to tell the difference between the flu and less severe illnesses. First of all, unless the flu is circulating in the community, then your illness is probably not flu because it tends to occur in epidemics that are easy to spot epidemiologically. If the world is in the mists of a major pandemic, you will have no problem knowing about it. Just tune into CNN, as it is likely to be wall-to-wall pandemic coverage 24/7. Another clue to whether or not someone has flu is that flu is much worse than simple cold viruses or most other causes of respiratory or gastrointestinal infections (GI). The fever and body aches are really quite remarkable and often associated with strong shivering.

When flu affects the GI tract it presents with nausea, vomiting and diarrhea. Patients with flu are really sick and often are so weak they have a hard time getting up out of bed without help. So, one way to tell the difference between the flu and other infections is that the flu is really severe and tends to affect the respiratory track most often but can also cause severe gastroenteritis (nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea). *Patient prognosis during pandemic influenza*

One thing that is different about a major pandemic is just how hard it hits patients and how rapidly it kills. Patients affected by the flu can be broadly categorized into 3 prognostic types. The first type has a poor prognosis no matter what is done for them. The second might survive if there was full access to high technology medical care and resources. The third type is highly likely to recover from the flu as long as they are provided with consistent low-technology supportive measures that can be administered in home settings.

Type 1 patients have the poorest prognosis and almost all will die within 2 or 3 days of the development of their first symptoms. The cause of death in these patients during the 1918 flu was massive respiratory failure from overwhelming lung destroying viral pneumonia. There was no effective treatment for this in 1918 and there is none today despite all the advances in medicine that has occurred over the last 90 years. Signs and symptoms of type 1 patients include rapid onset of severe shortness of breath, cyanosis (bluish discoloration of the skin of the hands, feet, and around the mouth and spreading centrally), or bleeding from the lungs, stomach and rectum.

Type 2 patients are similar to type 1 patients except they do not die after 3 days. Some but not many of these patients would survive if they had access to an ICU, ventilators and expert medical care; but if we have a severe pandemic, those resources will not be widely available. Even if they had access to these services, many of them would die anyway. Remember, no matter what you do, they are likely to pass away in a week to 10 days after becoming ill.

Type 3 patients make up the majority of those that become ill with influenza. Fortunately, these patients have a good prognosis if they receive timely and diligent supportive care that can be provided well in a non-medical setting such as the home. Most of these pandemic flu victims will be severely ill and weakened by the infection such that they will be too ill to get out of bed. Many type 3 patients will be completely dependent on others for care. Without simple care, some of these patients will die from preventable causes like dehydration but with simple care, most of these patients will recover.

No matter how good the care provided, some type 3 patients will die. This is not your fault. This happens usually because they develop a serious secondary condition that actually becomes the cause of death.

Examples of these secondary conditions include bacterial pneumonia, stroke, and heart attack. There is nothing you can do but keep doing the best you can and let nature take its course.

In my opinion, as a general rule, provide everyone with the same level of supportive care. This is a rationale course because it is not always possible to predict who will survive and who will not especially early in the course of the flu.

Using scarce resources wisely

Patients in extremis, which means they are near death at the time they are encountered, should not be disturbed unless there is something that you can do to make them more comfortable. Fortunately, patients in extremis are usually already unconscious and beyond suffering.

If medical supplies are in short supply, especially like the anti-influenza antibiotic Tamiflu, the decision on how to ration these resources is best made by health professionals if they are available. If not, my suggestion is to concentrate your efforts and precious supplies on those with the best chance of survival, i.e., type 3 patients. In a severe pandemic it is unwise to use limited medical resources on critically ill type 1 or 2 patients, as they are unlikely to survive. So my advice is to focus your greatest efforts on type 3 patients where the prognosis is good for a complete recovery.

Supportive Treatment of Influenza

Home Flu Treatment Advice for the Laymen

Caring for severely ill flu patients is something that everyone is capable of doing. You can do this. No medical skill is required. The skills needed are the same parents use to

care for their young children or adult children use to care for their elderly parents. The basic principals are to keep the patient clean, dry, and warm. They need a soft place to lie down and they need to be comforted and told that they are going to be OK and reassured that you will be there for them. <u>The most important medical treatment is to make sure they have plenty of fluids</u>. Dehydration must be prevented, as this can be fatal in a patient who would otherwise survive.

Fever, body aches, chills, sore throat, and headache: Ibuprofen and/or acetaminophen are used to lower fever and help the patient feel better. The above symptoms respond well to these drugs. Use these products for above symptoms of flu according to my instructions, not the bottle label. Don't under dose the patient. Many people take doses that are ineffective for fear of taking too much. Remember that acetaminophen can be used at the same time and in full doses as ibuprofen because they are in different drug classes and have different drug side effects. Combination treatment with both has an additive effect of benefit without increasing risk. The dose of ibuprofen I recommend you use is 2 to 4 tablets (400mg to 800mg) every four hours. For acetaminophen, the dose is two 500mg tablets 4 times daily. Do not exceed these doses for either drug. This is the maximum for both.

For the purposes of this guide, ibuprofen means aspirin, Advil, Aleve, ibuprofen, or Nuprin since they are all alike. Acetaminophen (Tylenol) is not an aspirin.

A very high fever (> 104 F) can cause seizures and brain damage and must be avoided. Using tepid water sponge baths works well for a high fever. Ibuprofen and acetaminophen are very good at lowering temperature. Studies show that the body's natural defenses are better able to fight infection with some fever (say up to 101 F), so maybe we shouldn't try to completely suppress the temperature to normal (98.5 F).

Gargling with hot salt water is a good treatment for sore throat. Hot caffeinated tea is also very helpful for headache, sore throat, and cough. We are taking advantage of the pharmacologic effect of caffeine, long recognized as an excellent herbal therapy for these problems. Hot or cold tea is also a mild stimulant that improves the sense of the patient's wellbeing. Sore throats also respond well to ibuprofen or acetaminophen.

Food: Eating is not really important because the patient will be breaking down their own muscle and fat for energy. The flu takes your appetite away so the patient probably won't be hungry. If the patient is hungry and asks for food, this is great as it is a real sign of improvement. By all means feed the patient at that point but your food selection needs to be appropriate. Specific directions on how to feed patients recovering from severe flu are provided below.

Identifying Dehydration: Preventing dehydration in flu victims will save more lives than all the other treatments combined. When patients have a fever or diarrhea, they loose much more water from the body than is commonly appreciated. Symptoms of dehydration include weakness, headache, and fainting. Signs of dehydration include dryness of the mouth, decreased saliva, lack or very decreased urine that is dark and highly concentrated, sunken eyes, loss of skin tugor (the elasticity of the skin), low

blood pressure especially upon sitting up or rising from the sitting to the standing position and tachycardia (fast pulse) when laying or sitting up.

Fever is an especially easy way to become dehydrated with no one even noticing. That is because the loss of body fluid occurs through the skin and quickly evaporates. This is called insensible loss and great quantities of fluid can escape a patient this way quickly. The smaller the body size and the higher the temperature, the faster this can happen. Water in the form of vapor is also lost through the breath. So when the patient is short of breath leading and breathing rapidly, this is another source of hidden fluid loss.

If you detect or suspect that dehydration is developing, administer fluids by mouth. If the patient is too ill to drink, someone should sit with the patient giving him or her fluids drop by drop if needed. Work up to using a teaspoon if possible. Don't stop until the patient has been able to keep down at least quart of fluids. This could take several hours so be patient. It will have a dramatic effect on sick patient's wellbeing and will be very rewarding to those of you who persist because you just saved a life. After the first quart, the patient should begin to urinate again. This is a good prognostic sign and when this happens you can assume you have restored their fluid level back to a safer level. "Safer" should not be confused with safe. Don't stop there. With sick patients like these, you really need to "push the fluids" so don't let your guard down.

Fluids: What will be much appreciated by a sick patient, especially if they are dehydrated, is a simple **Basic Fluid Solution** (BFS) made from water, sugar and salt. This will be very refreshing for the patient and will quickly revive them. Fluids can be served cool or hot depending on the climate, patient symptoms, and fever status. A patient with a high fever should probably not be given hot fluids because it will raise the temperature further. A patient with a sore throat will get relief from a hot beverage. A patient hot with fever might prefer cool or even cold beverage. If it is cold outside especially if the patient is cold, use hot fluids.

You can drink the BFS plain or flavor it with just about anything like citrus, mint, or herbs.

The BFS Formula

BFS is simply homemade IV fluids for oral use. The formula is:

4 cups of clean water 3 tablespoons of sugar or honey 1/4 tsp table salt

The above BFS formula is excellent for treatment of dehydration due to all causes. If the patient has become dehydrated because of diarrhea, you can substitute the salt in the formula with 1/2 tsp of baking soda (if available) because diarrhea leads to loss of alkali.

Don't use more salt or baking soda in the BFS formula. I am already recommending

the maximum dose of these.

If juice is available, you can substitute 1 cup of it for 1 cup of the water and cut the sweetener in half. Boil the solution to purify it if needed. Administering fluids to the sick in your charge will be one of the main activities day in and day out until the crisis passes. Try and get 2 to 3 guarts of fluids down the patient every day at a minimum.

Keep a record on every patient

It will be very useful for you to write down certain information of the patient or patients you are taking care of at home. Devote a section of the notebook to each patient you are taking care of. Keep the record in chronological order day by day. Keep as accurate and careful records as you can. Don't worry about keeping a perfect record; just keep one that is good enough.

By recognizing the symptoms a patient has or the signs of the disease in the body, you can use the chart below to guide your treatment. Here's how.

Symptom or Sign	Likely Assessment	Remedy
Low urine	Dehydration	
output		Push fluids
High pulse rate (>80 but especially > 90	Dehydration or fever	Push fluids
Shortness of breath	Pneumonia	Push fluids
Shaking chills and shivers	Viremia (virus ir the blood) or pneumonia	n Keep warm
Cyanosis (skin turns blue)	Respiratory failure, death likely	Keep as comfortable as possible. Give hydrocodone with promethazine for comfort, give diazepam for anxiety
Bleeding from mouth, coughing up blood, passing red blood per rectum. Severe bruising.	A severe blood clotting abnormality has occurred due to the virus (DIC). Death is likely	Keep as comfortable as possible. Give hydrocodone with promethazine for comfort, give diazepam for anxiety
Vomiting	Virus affecting G tract	GI Use promethazine for vomiting, push fluids

Diarrhea	Virus affecting GI	Push fluids, clear liquid
	tract	diet
Severe stomach	Virus affecting GI	Use hydrocodone and
cramps	tract	promethazine for comfort
Headache		Ibuprofen and/or
		acetaminophen or
		hydrocodone if very
		severe
Fever		Ibuprofen,
		acetaminophen, push
		fluids, keep warm or
		cool, consider tepid
		water baths if > 102 F.
		OK if <101 as this may
		help kill virus.
Sore throat		Gargle with hot salt
		water, drink hot tea or
		hot water, ibuprofen and
		or acetaminophen.

Cough Push fluids, drink hot tea for affect on breathing tubes, use hydrocodone 1/2 tablet with or without 1/2 promethazine to suppress cough if needed

Are these the right treatments for this symptom in every case? Of course not! I am providing you with my best guess of how to manage the average very sick flu patient but not every very sick flu patient. I recognize that for some like those with ADRS for instance, these suggestions will not be helpful and would be considered harmful under usual circumstances. You will not be able to tell when you are dealing with one of these rare patients. So, what should you do? For most patients, following the advice will do a lot of good and makes the most sense under these unique circumstances. All you can do is the best you can do. So do that with a satisfied mind.

Each day start with the patient's vital signs. Include their temperature, pulse rate, breathing rate, and blood pressure. Repeat the vital signs routinely 4 times daily (for instance at 0800, 1200, 1600, and 2000). These **vital signs** should be measured more often in very sick patients. You can get a really clear picture of how the patient is doing using these simple measurements.

It is very important to keep up with the patient's fluid intake and their output so record the fluid they are taking in and passing out in a notebook. Intake is pretty easy since you are giving them the fluids but output can be difficult to accurately record. Have the patients to save all their urine by urinating in a bucket, pot, or basin instead of the toilet. Measure the urine output using the kitchen-measuring cup. The amount taken in is always more than the amount passed out because of the insensible losses described above (loss through he skin and in the breath). If the patient is incontinent of urine, just indicate in the record that the patient was incontinent of a small, medium or large amount of urine. For our purposes, large is good, small is bad. **The Clear Liquid Diet**: A clear liquid diet is used to treat certain intestinal diseases, especially infectious diarrhea. Patients suffering from diarrheal illnesses often experience abdominal cramping and frequent, loose stools if they eat solid foods. In addition, a great deal of water and minerals (sodium, chloride, and potassium) are lost in the watery portion of the diarrheal stool; if you are not careful this can lead to dehydration. Patients with diarrhea have to drink considerably more fluid than usual to prevent the dehydration. This is especially important if the patient also has a fever, which in itself leads to increased loss of body water through the skin as perspiration.

In most cases, patients with diarrhea can tolerate a clear liquid diet without cramping or diarrhea. This is because the small intestine can absorb water, minerals, and sugars pretty well even when infected. The diet starts off with clear liquids only. As symptoms abate, the diet slowly adds simple-to-digest, low-residue foods, one step at a time. Don't advance to the next step until the patient is completely symptom-free in the present step. As the patient progresses through each step, if the cramps and diarrhea return, drop back to the previous step they tolerated.

This same Clear Liquid Diet approach is the one to use for patients who have been ill with the flu and have been too ill to eat. They will have been on Step one already so when they become hungry, begin them on Step 2 and advance them through the steps as above.

Step 1: Basic Fluid Solution (BFS), Water, fruit juice, Jell-O, Gatorade or PowerAid, ginger ale, Sprite, tea.

[*Additional advice from Dr. David Miller:* This should be pedialyte for children. Water should not be used in abundance for kids under two years when trying to rehydrate. May lead to hyponatremia.]

Step 2: Add white toast (no butter or margarine), white rice, and cream of wheat, soda crackers, and potatoes without the skin

Step 3: To Steps 1 and 2 add canned fruit and chicken noodle soup

Step 4: To Steps 1 through 3 add poached eggs and baked chicken breast without skin, canned fish or meat.

Step 5: To Steps 1 through 4 add milk and other dairy products, margarine or butter, raw fruits and vegetables and high-fiber whole grain products.

[*Additional advice from Dr. David Miller:* Milk and dairy worsens phlegm in many individuals; may be bad for pulmonary congestion.]

¹ Lysol Cold and Flu Prevention Guide 2005-2006. (http://lysol.com/ topic_webmd.shtml)

¹ Manning, Anita. If a pandemic strikes, are you ready? *USA Today*. 2/20/2006.

(http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/2006-02-20pandemic-sidebar_x.htm)

WHO bird flu warning at summit. CNN.com. 2/22/05. (http://edition.cnn.com/2005/HEALTH/conditions/02/22/bird.flu.asia/)

Nichols, Bill. \$286B highway bill signed amid criticism. USA Today. 8/10/2005. (http://www.usatoday.com/news/washington/2005-0810-bush_x.htm)

Clarren, Rebecca. A bridge to nowhere. *Salon.* Aug. 9, 2005. (http://www.salon.com/news/feature/2005/08/09/bridges/index_np.ht ml)

[°] Rosenthal, E. New Bird Flu Cases in Turkey Put Europe on 'High Alert'. *The New York Times.* January 7, 2006. (http://www.nytimes. com/2006/01/07/international/europe/07turkey.html)

⁸ http://www.who.int/topics/avian_influenza/en/

WHO. Non-pharmaceutical interventions: their role in reducing transmission and spread. *World Health Organization.* November 2005. (http://www.who.int/csr/disease/avian_influenza/pharmaintervention2005_11_3/en/)

Newton, Paula, *et al.* Turkish bird flu 'may be endemic.' *CNN*. January 11, 2006. (http://www.cnn.com/2006/HEALTH/01/11/ birdflu.wrap/index.html)

¹⁰State flu plans: http://www.pandemicflu.gov/plan/stateplans.html ¹¹Trust for America's Health: http://healthyamericans.org/

¹² If the second seco

McNeil Jr., Donald G. States and Cities Lag in Bird Flu Readiness. *The New York Times.* Feb. 6, 2006. (http://www.nytimes.com/2006/ 02/06/politics/06flu.html)

¹ Hall, Mimi. Most cities, states not ready for flu pandemic. USA Today. May 23, 2006.

(http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/200605-23-stockpile_x.htm)

Associated Press. Bush's \$2.77 trillion budget favors defense. USA Today. Feb. 6, 2006. (http://www.usatoday.com/news/washington/ 2006-02-06-budget_x.htm)

Associated Press. Mayors asked to prep for bird flu. *USA Today*. 1/26/2006. (http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/2006-01-26birdflu-cities_x.htm)

Rees, Clifford M. Spanish Influenza in New Mexico, 1918-1919: The Role of State and Local Public Health Legal Measures. *ABA Health eSource.* December 2005. Vol. 2, No. 4. (http://www.abanet.org/health/esource/vol2no4/rees.html)

¹ Manning, Anita. Have we learned our lessons about pandemics? USA Today. 2/20/2006. (http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/

2006-02-20-pandemic-bl-cover_x.htm)

¹⁸ Flu Pandemic Mitigation–Social Distancing. *GlobalSecurity.org*. (http://www.globalsecurity.org/security/ops/hsc-scen-3_flu-pandemicdistancing.htm)

Lewin, A. M. How Will Bird Flu Change Your Life? *ABC News*. March 12, 2006. (http://abcnews.go.com/Health/AvianFlu/ story?id=1706048&page=1)

WHO Writing Group. Nonpharmaceutical interventions for pandemic influenza, national and community measures. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 2006 January. (http://www.cdc.gov/ ncidod/EID/vol12no01/051371.htm)

Faith-Based & Community Organizations Pandemic Influenza Preparedness Checklist. CDC. January 9, 2006. Version 1.1. (http://www.pandemicflu.gov/plan/faithcomchecklist.html)

¹¹ FluWiki. Community Pandemic Preparedness. (http://www. fluwikie.com/index.php?n=Consequences.CommunityPreparedness)

Reuters. Businesses prepare for bird flu epidemic: Corporations make emergency plans, stockpile masks, antivirals. *MSNBC.* Sept. 16, 2005. (http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/9366699/

Rosenthal, E., and Bradsher, K. Is Business Ready for a Flu Pandemic? *The New York Times.* March 16, 2006.

(http://www.nytimes.com/2006/03/16/business/16bird.html)

¹ http://www.pandemicflu.gov/plan/businesschecklist.html

Term life insurance. *Widipedia.* (http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/ Term_Life_Insurance)

²⁷ http://parenting.ivillage.com/baby/bhealth/0,,3q85,00.html
Also, http://www.medicinenet.com/pneumococcal_vaccineinjection/article.htm

Brundage, John F. Interactions between influenza and bacterial respiratory pathogens: implications for pandemic preparedness. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 2006; 6:303-312. DOI:10.1016/S14733099(06)70466-2. (http://www.thelancet.com/journals/laninf/article/ PIIS1473309906704662/abstract)

WHO Writing Group. Nonpharmaceutical interventions for pandemic influenza, national and community measures. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 2006 Jan. (http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/EID/vol12no01/05-1371.htm)

One source: http://www.natlallergy.com/allergy/ products/cart/search/view_one_spread.txt/spreadid/1173

Franklin, Deborah. Hand Sanitizers, Good or Bad? *The New York Times.* March 21, 2006. (http://www.nytimes.com/2006/03/21/ health/21cons.html)

³²Clark, Jayne. Making germs a no-go. USA Today. 3/16/2006. (http://www.usatoday.com/travel/news/2006-03-16-travelgerms_x.htm)

Palmer, J. J. A Complete Guide to Cleaning and Sanitation. (http://www.realbeer.com/jjpalmer/cleaning.html#Cleaners) ³⁴ http://www.acponline.org/college/membership/facp.htm

³⁵Woodson, Grattan. Preparing for the Coming Influenza Pandemic. 2005. (http://www.fluwikie.com/uploads/Consequences/ Pandemic3Aug2005.pdf)

XI. Winners and Losers

What I am about to explain may at times seem cold and cruel, because that's the white color of this black truth. Romantic illusions aside, there will be winners and losers from a global pandemic. Everybody wants to be a winner, but that's not reality. Who becomes a winner, and who becomes a loser, is not always totally random. It is sometimes possible to alter the deadly odds. So, take these comments in the spirit of trying to improve your odds of becoming a winner, or at least not being a total loser.

Wall Street is busy looking ahead at bird flu scenarios. There are several win-lose dimensions, based on the severity of the pandemic. There is even a near term scenario based on no pandemic at all.¹ One man's disaster is another man's opportunity.

A macroeconomic estimate of the global effects of an avian influenza pandemic early in this century, similar to the one almost ninety years ago – with the added reality of today's senior population not being partially protected by similar exposure years earlier – was published in February 2006. The Lowry Institute's restrained death projection of up to 142 million was contained in a report focusing more on the economic impacts. Here are some of its highlights:²

Four main sets of economic "shocks": shocks to the labor force (deaths and dislocation); supply shocks from increased costs; demand shocks; and risk premium shocks, involving financial flows.

• Their worst scenario (still fairly conservative) reveals the death toll could reach 28.4 million in China, 24 million in India, 11.4 million in Indonesia, 4.1 million in the Philippines, 2.1 million in Japan, 2.0

million in the United States, and 5.6 million in Europe. In the world's least developed countries, the toll could top 33 million.

East Asian economies would be proportionately more affected than the United States or Europe. In their worst-case model, Hong Kong's economy would shrink by more than 53 percent.

Countries that tend to focus on preventing exchange rate changes are countries that will experience the largest epidemiological shocks. "This is particularly true of Hong Kong, which receives the largest shocks and has the most rigid exchange rate regime," they observe.
On an individual, microeconomic level, determining who wins and who loses becomes much more complex. International macroeconomic data statistically smooth events. Human lives are not smooth statistics.

Losers

(1) Those who die from the flu. That's easy to understand, but every death has its own ripple effects.

(2) Those who sicken from the flu, and fall back in life thereafter. This falling back may be due to health complications from the illness, from financial effects, and from living in a changed personal and emotional environment.

(3) Communities and their social and cultural institutions hit hard by the flu's many effects.

(4) National governments who are asked to pay for the mess, when they are already over burdened with structured commitments to planned and unplanned expenditures. Before deficit spending from borrowed money became the bogus conservative way to "have our cake and eat it too," our government had lots of fiscal elasticity. It could go into temporary debt if necessary, and not excessively burden future generations. Elasticity within our federal budget is

stretched to the point where, post-pandemic, some of those fat-cat tax breaks may have to be curtailed. Oh, the horror!

(5) Term insurance specialty companies. These businesses have made a mint off affordable policies that hardly ever pay a death benefit. These policies are mostly sold to young and just-past-young customers, a group that was particularly devastated by the Spanish Flu. Move the death benefit demand up to something like ten percent, and instantly the leveraged term insurance corporate profit formula implodes. Other insurance companies will be forced to take up the slack, and state insurance guarantees will kick in. Briefly, there will be many huge term policy death claims backed up by very few cash flow dollars. The last domino to be hit will be the ultimate insurer. Will state and federal governments be able to ensure the insurance contracts?

(6) National economies not equipped for radical, short-term dislocations in their work forces and infrastructures. Also, national economies floating on inflated natural resource prices that won't be restored for years after the pandemic.

(7) Hospitals and health care systems burdened in the short term by a flood of non-paying patients, and by the loss of many of their expert staff.

(8) Companies and national industries not positioned ahead of time to weather the storm. They are risking their long-term profits while seeking to maximize immediate profits. Some may lose significant market share to competitors that think strategically, not just tactically.

(9) The poultry industry. This one is too easy! Seriously, by the time WE get it, the avian virus won't be strictly avian. It will have become somewhat human. The poultry industry, from farm to fast food, will quickly suffer as everything with feathers is shunned. After the pandemic has passed, and after our government certifies that American chickens grown

indoors in controlled factory conditions are H5N1-free, then we will see a return to America's favorite white meat.

Speaking of white meat, consumers of "the other white meat" are also at risk, since pork can catch both avian and human influenza. Already, international pork prices are becoming depressed as demand for poultry exports wanes, leading to poultry prices dropping and competing even more against pork. The economic world is an interlaced system of systems, just like our bodies.

Winners

(1) Individuals who become infected, but not seriously ill, or not ill at all. Survivors are long-term winners, at least for this variant of the flu and its close derivatives.

(2) Those who do not initially become infected. They however remain vulnerable for a second round of infection, which could be even more lethal if the virus continues to mutate like it did in 1918. These people are possibly short-term winners only. Lucky people who were exposed, but did not die, in the first round will be available to care for, and bury, those who die in the second round.

(3) Those holding key items in short supply, such as the very few vaccine doses. I see a robust black market for bird flu vaccine doses that will be available to the general public. Similar inelastic economics will affect availability of Tamiflu. We can expect to see avian flu vaccinations going for over a thousand dollars each to those with cash. The rest of us will have to resort to crime to get at scarce drug supplies, if they are available at all. Scam artists with bogus remedies will also be winners. Check your email in-box for placebo pandemic panaceas.

(4) Companies that are pre-positioned to take advantage of their competitors' weaknesses. I recently interfaced with a high-tech company

that is already developing a backup plan to have many of its routine technical service consultations routed to agents in their homes. That strategy will enable their America-based call centers to stay running with sharply reduced staff. This resilient strategy could give them an advantage over their competition, helping with market share. (Interestingly, some outsourcing bastions in India and elsewhere may temporarily implode when the pandemic decimates their call center staff in densely populated cities.) A wise company prepares strategically for multiple competitive scenarios. Individuals should think likewise, because we are all competing in many ways.

(5) Companies that specialize in automation, because machines don't get sick from any type of flu. Automated products will come too late to make a difference in 2007. Automation is not an industrial panacea, because even the most highly automated factories still use a smaller number of employees to maintain and monitor the machinery. Excessively lean companies without skills flexibility and manpower redundancy risk reduced operations.

(6) Smart stock and commodity investors who short sell vulnerable companies and resources just as the bird flu first achieves its fateful human-to-human mutation. Timing is everything, because options on futures are wasting assets. [As part of my learning tour of the job world, I was a licensed commodities broker.]

(7) Natural ecosystems — at least until populations of greedy humans rebound, and the pillaging of our natural heritage resumes.

(8) People with cash who are in the market to buy or rent, as lots of housing inventory will accumulate after the cold bodies are removed. Real estate speculators will be shocked by this bursting of their bubble, if it hasn't previously burst.

(9) Religious snake oil salesmen around the world. But this may be a zero-gain situation, as many of their previous converts will be dead. It's interesting how pestilences kill the holy and the unholy alike. Moses isn't around this time to protect our firstborn.

(10) Wise people who utilize the natural pharmacopoeia to increase their resistance to influenzas and other diseases.

(11) Corporations that prosper from people either dying very quickly, or very late in life without much illness. A winning example would be the long-term-care insurance industry. On the other hand, custodial institutions will not fare as well, because many seniors will perish, creating a doughnut hole in demand relative to capacity for decades.

(12) Food industries unrelated to birds, and possibly pork. The H5N1 doesn't infect everything! There are alternative protein choices for concerned consumers, especially beef, fish, and vegetarian options such

as soy products.

How can "losers" become "winners"?

Another way of sorting out who wins and who loses is to think in terms of supply and demand. When there are fewer buyers, through death or financial weakening, the sellers must drop their prices. When there are fewer people making less money to pay back previous debt during the pandering "tax cutting" years, there is a risk that major defaults will occur. Differential effects will depend on changing elasticities. We may see a restructuring of existing government debt to reduce current payments, possibly at the expense of structuring larger total payments.

Some people you might expect to prosper, such as funeral homes, will not necessarily prosper. They will be swamped with deadbeat customers. They have no way to ramp up their surge capacity to accommodate a short-term spike in demand. Funeral workers will die like everybody else. It is given that we will see a return to mass graves in a worst-case scenario, symbolizing the Black Death of centuries past, but also a gruesome reality during the Spanish Flu pandemic. There is a mass grave for Spanish Flu victims in my ordinary hometown in America. There is plenty more land for mass graves when the Grim Reaper next swings wide his harvest scythe.

Many times in America's history, and most recently during the Katrina debacle, short-term expediency has trumped long-term preparation. We have almost run out of grace time for the governments on this planet to prepare for a great bird flu epidemic. Nevertheless, there are still many things that can be done to ameliorate what follows.

First, governments should put vaccination surge capacity at the top of their immediate to-do list. Time is of the essence. Private industry alone will not step up and supply us with enough additional doses. Current global vaccine production could only protect less than five percent of the world's population, unrealistically assuming all vaccines were highly effective bird flu vaccines.

I urgently recommend that governments around the world exercise their vast legal and financial resources to radically ramp up flu manufacturing capacity, ideally of the Pittsburg vaccine technology. In the short run, before the Pittsburg technology is perfected, we need many more factories with the old egg technology in place. Currently, the vaccine

industry is struggling to make enough vaccine to protect affluent societies against ordinary seasonal influenza.

The President's proposed seven billion dollars over several years is an imperfect start, but a start. Sadly, not much of this belated money can help us in the next couple of years.

I cynically believe that bureaucratic inertia, simplistic "free enterprise" theories, denial, diminishment, and anything else stupid you can think up will likely freeze rational response until it is much too late, and people are panicking in the street. Then, of course, the sweaty politicians will be busy doing photo ops to prove their concern and compassion.

On the other hand, the world is truly overpopulated, so getting rid of what Scrooge called "the surplus population"³ would have a positive ecological effect – except that everybody considers themselves essential, while the other unrelated guy is surplus, especially somebody in an "alien" culture speaking a "foreign" language. The not-me-aspect of denial can become the me-aspect of death. Killer viruses aren't picky as to whom they terminate.

Hurricane Katrina and the Bird Flu

As the summer of 2005 was winding down, a terrible hurricane was winding up in the Gulf of Mexico. Evacuations were ordered, and expensive SUVs headed inland. Then the high winds and 25-foot storm surge swept into unprepared southern Louisiana and Mississippi. When the storm left, America was looking at its most expensive natural disaster of all time – with hundreds who could not leave perishing, entire coastal towns virtually erased from the map, a great metropolis in ruin, and a quarter-trillion-dollars recovery bill.

Was this great natural disaster purely a *natural* disaster? Hurricanes happen; and perhaps it could be argued that human-enhanced global warming had something to do with Katrina's fury. Fury or not, a sufficiently prepared coastline could have withstood this disaster with far fewer effects. Prudent money spent on the weakest levies and exposed property could have saved more than a hundred billion dollars. But then, hindsight is always 20-20. Whom shall we blame for the human component in this messy equation?

As the howling winds were leaving, the blame game started. FEMA's director was set up by nearly everybody to be the scapegoat. Only six

months later was it revealed in released videos that he and a group of disaster experts gave the president clear and dire warning four days in advance by teleconference. President Bush chose not to ask any questions, likely assuming that preparations were adequate. The Louisiana governor asked Washington for help when the storm hit, but she did not specifically ask for troops to stop anarchy at the Superdome. Local officials in New Orleans were screaming racism, with an eye to the following spring's elections, which they won.

Weasel politicians in Washington and everywhere affected were passing the blame, as they would continue to do months later in Congressional testimony. That blame coalesced in the May 2006 Senate report, *Hurricane Katrina: A Nation Still Unprepared.*⁴ Nobody initially took charge. FEMA looked like it was AWOL. Even several hundred New Orleans police went AWOL, and two killed themselves. Meanwhile, gangs tried to take over New Orleans while it was undefended by troops. Only several horrible days later did significant numbers of troops arrive. By then many hundreds (mostly poor blacks) were dead from various causes, or exposed to the toxic waters. This disaster was not Homeland Security's finest hour. Nor was it America's finest hour.

We can look at specifics, and then we can look at the real reasons for why this one natural storm did so much damage. Let's first briefly deal with specifics. There is a state board in New Orleans in charge of the levees. However, the Orleans Levee Board has existed within a historically corrupt political environment. Instead of building and maintaining higher levees, they were mostly investing in casinos, Mardi Gras water fountains, and other fluff. The blame goes far beyond the locals. Federal construction money has recently been shrinking, as more money has been diverted toward pork "homeland security" and the great adventure in Iraq. Federally maintained levees would also fail.

Simply put, stronger/taller levees didn't have a very loud constituency; they just weren't sexy enough. New Orleans has been there since the colonial French, so what's the big concern in the Big Easy? New Orleans has also been sinking for over a century, while the river and lake waters adjacent have risen to an average of several feet above the city's lower areas. Not to worry, Mardi Gras comes every year, and the Dixie land jazz is lively.

Six months after the disaster, it was revealed that the Army Corps of Engineers knew in 1985 that the levees were in danger of failure. That's

twenty-one years before the disaster! Nothing was ever done to address the structural problem. ⁵ President Reagan was in office then, but I doubt that anybody told him about this danger.

Local, state, and federal governments saved a few hundred million from not properly elevating and reinforcing the levees. Institutional incompetence stuck private and public America with a few hundred billion more in disaster debt.

The math of this disaster is psychedelic like a bad acid trip, but parts of real human nature in the modern world are equally so. Remember that we human beings are essentially Stone Age creatures living in a hyper-speed modern world. Our primal primate psychology is primed for immediate gratification, not long-range planning. All successful sales people know this. Successful politicians claw their way to the top not with honesty, but by pandering to our vanity and pleasure centers.

Professional politicians lie, and we know they are lying; but we vote for weasel "tax cutters" anyway – and up goes our huge national debt load while we enjoy the illusory free ride. Somebody else will pay it off, right? Or maybe all that interest-laden debt will just go away, right? Tell that to our grandchildren when they wonder what happened to their future retirement security.

And now for the little matter of mass death and mayhem brought about by a global flu pandemic. The parallels with Katrina are eerie. The divergences are not that significant.

Let's look first at where things are DIFFERENT:

(1) Katrina was mostly local. Yes, it strongly impacted an area equal to that of Great Britain. But how big is Great Britain's land in relation to the global land mass?

(2) Katrina affected local ecosystems and structures, then people.

(3) Katrina produced locally dangerous areas and safety zones.

(4) Katrina was something that most of us saw on TV, not something invisible we feared coming into our homes and slaying us.

(5) Katrina affected more people's property than their lives.

(6) Hurricanes come and go quickly; but pandemics last for months.

Now, let's look at <u>how Katrina's "natural" disaster was SIMILAR to</u> <u>the disaster of a global flu pandemic</u>:

(1) Both are partially natural, and partially enhanced by modern life.

(2) Both will shock their social and political systems, but a flu pandemic will do it intensively on a worldwide basis.

(3) The danger of both in retrospect will be clearly foreseen, but mostly ignored or diminished.

(4) Both will cost hundreds of billions, and a worst-case pandemic could cost trillions globally. Prevention or amelioration of each disaster would involve pennies on the dollar wisely spent, but pennies never to be spent.

(5) There will be winners and losers. If you see yourself coming out on the winning side, perhaps you will root for the scenario of your choice; but will your choice be under your control?

(6) Whereas a hurricane primarily affects property, both hurricanes and pandemics affect all sorts of soft assets.

(7) People everywhere will initially blame other people and institutions for all their problems, never themselves. The winners will often blame the losers for their misfortunes.

(8) Debt, personal and public, will be massively used to paper over the costs. However, who will buy all that debt, and at what interest rate? America's federal debt – not counting state, local, and private debt – totals over NINE TRILLION dollars, or about \$30,000 with compounding interest for every man, woman, and child.⁶ How much debt can we bear before our national standard of living tanks?

Predicting Disaster

Sometimes a problem can be predicted decades, even centuries in advance. Sometimes we have little or no advance warning. The less warning time, the more easily excuses can be honestly made for our inattention. However, modern science has reduced our uncertainties, and extended our advance warnings for global disaster scenarios. Our ready-made excuses are drying up.

September 11, 2001 goes down in history as a zero-warning event, but was it really? After all, just a few years earlier a bunch of crazed Muslim extremists set off a bomb in the parking area below the same, highly symbolical World Trade Center. Al Qaeda extremists had just recently attacked in East Africa, and so forth. Still, NORAD was only looking outward for threats from the last century. No jet fighters intercepted the hijacked planes as they flew into Manhattan and Washington. So, was 9/11 really a zero-warning event?

The winds and water of Katrina were only seen as a clear and present danger after it moved into the Gulf from south Florida as a category one storm. Once it became a Category 5 monster in the middle of the Gulf it was essentially too late to do anything other than escape northward to minimize deaths. If you had an SUV and money to flee, you did. If you were poor and black with no public transportation beyond the local bus lines, you stayed in town. If you owned a floating Mississippi casino loosely moored just feet "offshore" because of hypocritical state laws, you watched in horror as the storm destroyed your property and washed away thousands of good jobs. The list of cruel absurdities goes on and on.

The threat of this particular storm was not precisely known until a few days before it hit. However, this storm as a statistical near-certainty had been known about for decades. Katrina when it finally reached land wasn't even the very worst-case scenario, a storm surge that even the recently rebuilt levees will not survive.

Back to human nature, we can always put off until "tomorrow" unpleasantries we don't have to face today. There will always be other imagined higher priorities than preparing for highly probable disasters that are unpleasant to think about on a sunny day. The smiling politician who borrows and wastes our money today bets he won't be around to pay the bills when they come due.

Katrina represents a fast-forward scenario for what will increasingly happen along low-lying coastal areas around the world. With global warming and the resultant melting of massive ice fields, the sea level will rise at least as much as it has around the sinking New Orleans. New Orleans occupies a tiny scrap of land compared to the land area occupied by people around the world living in similar zones. It is suggested that much of lower Florida and vast areas of the Gulf and east coasts will progressively vanish below the sea during the next two or three centuries, leaving only urban islands protected like the Dutch do with dykes, dams, and levees. The area that was lower Louisiana will be returned to the fishes. Levees can only do so much to offset human folly aggravating the forces of Nature. If one city cannot be protected, how can we forever protect thousands of miles of coastline?

In contrast, the great "Spanish" flu epidemic of 1918-1919 was truly NOT foreseen. There were few people in that era to blame. It wasn't until 1933 that human influenza viruses were first identified, and there were of course no effective clinical treatments in the form of vaccines or antivirals. There was the advertised War to End Wars to be won,

meaning a few more deaths in the nasty battlefield trenches from diseases were not surprising. Thereafter, when the mysterious infection raced through civilian America the federal government tried to downplay its effect, not wanting to undermine the war effort. One of the reasons this influenza that probably started in rural America was called the Spanish Flu was the relatively free press in Spain. Unlike media in censored France and Germany, Spanish papers extensively reported on the rampaging infection.

Human flu infections have been anecdotally recorded for thousands of years, so it is proper to trace cause and effect back to when different, but related, viruses first had the opportunity to exchange genes. That time is when humans domesticated fowl and pork. Wild flu variants abound in today's feathered dinosaurs. Most viral strains are contained within a virtually immune population. When avian influenza genes mutate into new and lethal variants, they ordinarily flare up and die down within the bird community. Enter humans on family farms living in close and daily proximity to domestic birds and pigs. Pigs are great "mixing bowls" for flu genes. It is suggested that flu variants can become more transmissible to humans by way of mediating mammals, ultimately becoming easily transmissible directly from human to human.

We have learned that influenza viruses can either "shift" or "drift." A shifting virus rapidly changes its characteristics, for better or worse from our perspective. A drifting virus can sneak up on us incrementally. Because pigs can host both avian and human viruses, progressive drifting can occur even within pigs. Because the recently reconstituted 1918 virus has been shown to be classically avian, and because the first known victim was a pig handler, it is reasonable to hypothesize that the Spanish Flu virus began its devilish transformation through genetic drifting or shifting within pigs, and continued this process among humans after it broke out into a human pandemic. In this context, think of what could happen if giant flocks of domestic birds are slaughtered, but domestic pigs are not.

There are many bird species in the wild. There is only one human species. Birds are related to and descended from feathered dinosaurs. Was it possible that Jurassic influenza epidemics weakened some of the huge species, leaving the global effects of the asteroid impact to finish the job? If so, that one-two punch would help explain why no great dinosaurs survive, but many smaller dinosaur-birds still do. The dead dino scenario is a caution for our future as prideful humans. We have been self-admiring kings on this planet for much less than a hundred thousand years; but the great dinosaurs prospered for more than a hundred million years. Their flying descendants are with us today. The next time we accuse somebody of being an "old dinosaur," we should be careful we aren't looking in the mirror at ourselves.

¹ Shell, Adam. Wall Street lays plans in case bird flu strikes. *USA Today*. 3/22/2006. Updated 3/23/2006. (http://www.usatoday.com/ money/markets/us/2006-03-22-bird-flu-usat_x.htm)

Lowy Institute for International Policy. Global Macroeconomic Consequences of Pandemic Influenza. February 2006. (http://www.brookings.edu/views/papers/mckibbin/200602.pdf)

^o Dickens, Charles. *A Christmas Carol*. Chapter 1 – Marley's Ghost. (http://www.literature.org/authors/dickens-charles/christmascarol/chapter-01.html)

Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs. *Hurricane Katrina: A Nation Still Unprepared*. May 2006. (http://hsgac.senate.gov/_files/Katrina/ExecSum.pdf)

Associated Press. Engineers: 1985 test predicted levee break. USA Today. 3/13/2006.

(http://www.usatoday.com/news/nation/200603-13-katrina-levees_x.htm)

Taylor, Andrew. Senate Votes to Raise Debt Limit. *Associated Press.* March 16, 2006.

(http://www.washingtonpost.com/wpdyn/content/article/2006/03/16/AR20060316001 55.html)

XII. Lessons We Could Learn

After the one-year viral holocaust, maybe longer, most people will remain alive. A large number will still be suffering from the effects of extreme illness, but most will eventually recover and lead normal lives. The economy will be battered, but recovering. Will we learn from this collective trial, or will life on this planet return to blind old patterns?

Because science is rapidly advancing against microbes, the great avian flu pandemic of this decade will most likely be the last multi-wave global catastrophe of its kind. There could be other catastrophes on this scale, such as a regional nuclear war, but they will not involve microbial nature out of control, just human nature out of control. Even an "accidental" nuclear war would be set up by human actions and intentions. More likely we will see the effects of global warming caused by greed, denial, and diminishment – followed by adjustment, and a whole new set of winners and losers.

Let's see... avian flu facilitated by traditional family farming, nuclear war sparked by old hatreds, global warming accelerated by wasteful ways of using energy. Crisis creates opportunity. Will we quarrelsome primates move forward in wisdom, or fall back into old patterns that hardly worked in the past, and won't work at all in the future?

A global pandemic of Spanish Flu dimensions will bring out all sorts of religious promoters ready to quote their favorite holy book to prove why you should join their religion, or forever be damned. I believe in free enterprise and freedom of religion, but remain uncomfortable with those who would use mass misery to fill their collection plates.

The best that can come out of any disaster is a renewed sense of community, and a heightened sense of the value of precious life. I am reminded of the great song by Tim McGraw, "Live Like You Were Dying." Strangely, modern life tends to separate us at the very time we see more of each other electronically. Fragmented modern life will remain in place even after a pandemic. Cybernetic tools of advanced civilization are there for us to help rebuild our communities, and to help each of us rise above our petty concerns and vanities. All of the world's humans are genetically virtually identical. There is no rational reason we should kill off millions of each other from sick hatred in wars that prove nothing. There is also no earthly reason to mindlessly overpopulate and pollute our very own biosphere. Hopefully, in the aftermath of the coming viral pandemic our stone-age consciousness will better blend with our space-age technology for the betterment of all people. When all else is gone, hope remains.

Ecologists sometimes speak of "Indian equivalents." This measure is the number of rural Indians in India it would take to equal the ecological footprint of one American or other First World resident. For Americans that number is about fifty. One American has about the same effect on the environment as fifty peasants in India. If a million suburban American souls were to perish from the bird flu, it surely won't be equal to fifty million rural Indian souls perishing; but there would be an ecological benefit of that magnitude for the biosphere.

Unleashed population tends to increase geometrically, whereas resources tend to increase arithmetically. The Rev. Thomas Malthus knew that in the 18th century. There can be deceiving fluctuations along the road, but the general trend remains.¹ After World War II the population of Europe rapidly rebounded. After the mid-fourteenth century's Black Death, surviving women had more babies than before. Such is the power of human procreation.

The Earth will have a brief period of time after a worst case pandemic where localized pressure on ecosystems will be less. We can rush back to the bedroom to fill up that "empty" space, or we can pause and ponder our place in the Big Picture. Will our species waste this unique opportunity? Probably.

In 1918 the world had about two billion people. Today there are more than six billion.² The population of China and India alone equal the entire world's population eighty years ago. Even if two billion people were to die now from an absolutely worst-case scenario, we would still have twice the population of the world at the dawn of World War I.

Contrast the fat footprint our species now has on this planet with the tentative footprint our ancient ancestors had: Genetic historians and volcanologists have found that the entire population of our species shrank to less than 10,000 around the time of a super volcano we call Toba, on Sumatra, Indonesia, 74,000 years ago.³ Today, even if the

Yellowstone super volcano reignited, it would "only" kill off tens of millions, not billions.

We are a lusty species bent on using, and not replacing or recycling, every bit of resources we can. *Apparently, the only near term force that could exterminate all of us is our aggressive stupidity, through global thermonuclear war. Contemplate the irony of history's most brilliant species eradicating itself.*

There are several astronomical possibilities for global destruction, but they have a very low probability.⁴ A huge asteroid or comet would do the job. Also, the passing of a wandering star could do it too, but there are no stellar candidates anywhere near. The Earth twice in its distant past became a totally frozen snowball, and there are scenarios where it could happen again not too far into the future. Our moon was created billions of years ago by a Mars-sized planet that collided with early Earth, but Mars itself is not a candidate. A nearby supernova could extinguish life with gamma rays, but there are no candidates in this era sufficiently close. All of these astronomical possibilities are remote in space and time. I prefer to deal with realistic threats in the here and now, especially those over which we have some control.

Our arrogant and selfish species appears to be only concerned about immediate survival, ignoring that we are part of an extremely complex web of life on the thin skin of this planet. Arrogance is the best explanation for why we are mindlessly killing off other species at a rate not seen since the great asteroid finished off the large dinosaurs 65 million years ago. According to a U. N. report on biological diversity, the current pace of extinctions is 1,000 times faster than historical rates.

We are so egocentrically time challenged that debate still rages about global warming, while ice in Greenland, the Arctic Ocean, and even in Antarctica is already melting. If some predictions come true, much of the low areas of the Gulf of Mexico, including New Orleans, and most of Florida will be submerged.⁶ But that's for later generations, not our problem, even if we caused the problem.

The lessons we can and will learn from our viral trials in this decade will be guided in part by the scale and timing of the pandemic. If we are incredibly lucky, and the current killer virus mutates into a much less lethal form, then little will change. If we are not lucky, entire societies may be swiftly transformed. Our species of course will survive, but our culture will change. The plague helped eliminate western European serfdom, stimulating the modern era. What will happen to global societies after a viral catastrophe of Biblical proportions?

Our generation's pandemic could see something like the 1918 avian flu epidemic, with a slightly higher kill rate. That would mean about 5% dying (which is down from the current 50+%), versus the roughly 3% of 1918-1919. Given that the world has three times the population as then, we are looking with horror in a possible 5% scenario of up to a quarter billion deaths worldwide, with hundreds of millions more taking a long time to recuperate.

Some geographical areas of the world will suffer more, mostly underdeveloped areas with malnourished and dense population clusters. Some population groups everywhere will suffer more, and not just the traditional victims of ordinary flu. The 50% death rate scenario, which Dr. Webster does not rule out, is almost beyond our imagination.

Will 2007 unfold like 1918, when many healthy young adults in their prime were swiftly slain by cytokine storms inside their lungs? Killing off young adults in their productive prime will have a much different effect on society than killing off the old and infirm. Losing a healthy worker with a family is bad for industrial productivity, not to mention the social costs. Losing an unhealthy senior smoker would yield lower medical and palliative costs, including reduced long-term care costs. The macroeconomics surrounding our micro-tragedies will be unseen, but not unfelt. Indeed, the post-pandemic world will have many ironies.

In conclusion, there are certain things that can help to discourage the Grim Reaper from visiting your family. Since most families will not receive any potent pandemic vaccine or effective patented antiviral over the next three years, we will mostly be left to our own wits and resources. This do-it-yourself prospect is scary for people used to being cared for like children by white-coated medical professionals.

Fortunately, most people are able to rally and cope, but only if they are given the factual tools and social support they need to wisely defend their very lives. Informed preparation with a military mindset always trumps pure panic. I trust this book will be among those widely used factual tools. Defensive tools that we individually and collectively can wield will enable many to gratefully live who otherwise would have died. Yes, I believe the biosphere is seriously overpopulated with polluting people. I also fervently believe that every person now here on Earth has the right to life, liberty, health, and happiness. All human beings have innate spiritual value.

If only one precious human soul on our blue planet is saved from the viral assassins by this book, then I have written well.

¹ http://www.prb.org/Content/NavigationMenu/PRB/Educators/Human_ Population/Population_Growth/Population_Growth.htm

- ²<u>http://users.erols.com/mwhite28/20c-pop1.htm</u>
- <u>http://zyx.org/TOBA.html</u>
- http://qntm.org/destroy

Doyle, Alister. Humans spur worst extinctions since dinosaurs. *Reuters.* March 20, 2006. (<u>http://abcnews.go.com/US/wireStory?id=1746569</u>)

[°]Rincon, Paul. Sea rise could be "catastrophic." *BBC News.* 23 March 2006. (http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/science/nature/4834806.stm)

Appendix The Federal Pandemic Action Plan

On May 3rd, 2006 the federal government issued its battle plan against an avian influenza pandemic. The *National Strategy for Pandemic Influenza: Implementation Plan* has 232 pages of uneven reading. You can download it from several sources, including http://pandemicflu.gov.¹

In the post-Katrina world our federal government is not going to be caught without a nice plan (with 300 action steps) well before hundreds of thousands of Americans could be slain by a worst-case scenario avian flu epidemic. Such a plan would be golden for any administration. If disaster happens, elements of the plan will help save some lives. If disaster does not happen, politicians can point proudly to this document anyway.

With a careful reading you might be able to discern aspects of this report written by scientists, and aspects crafted or influenced by politicians. Scientific statements can be adapted to enhance political priorities. Sometimes what is not said is more important than what is said.

This appendix will focus not on the many pages bloated with bureaucratic tedium and action steps containing very little of real value. Yes, the idea is to have a comprehensive plan that will inspire others to do their own planning. Problem is, we are now well into 2006, and those in the private and local sectors who haven't started planning for this rapid but persistent emergency likely will continue to procrastinate, only to "plan" on the spot.

I would like to first point out some elements of this plan that will benefit us. Later, I will point out some weaknesses. America is better off having this belated plan than having nothing. The question is, how much better than nothing?

* It is good to see the federal government trying to get out front on such an important issue. For many years they have been so far behind the scientific caboose, as to be out of sight.

* It is also important that the White House sees their message as encouraging preparation, to fend off social chaos. That strategy is somewhat parallel to my idea of developing a military mentality.

* Even though much of the \$7.1 billion dollars directed to this battle has not yet been spent, and most of it will go to vaccines and antivirals of dubious potency and limited quantity, some small cash amounts will trickle down to communities to help synergize local efforts.

* There are some excellent action steps that companies should follow to avoid shutting down. Many companies won't act to protect their workers until they see key employees fleeing the workplace. Just fifteen percent of American companies even have a plan.² This document does provide practical guidance for companies wise enough now to understand that nothing happens in business until something gets sold, or until some working employee otherwise adds value.

* This document's mostly scientific planning assumptions are on page 32. I reprint them here, both because they are realistic, and because they are partially flawed:

"Planning Assumptions for the Implementation Plan

Pandemics are unpredictable. While history offers useful benchmarks, there is no way to know the characteristics of a pandemic virus before it emerges. Nevertheless, we must make assumptions to facilitate planning efforts. Federal planning efforts assume the following:

1 Susceptibility to the pandemic influenza virus will be universal.

2 Efficient and sustained person-to-person transmission signals an imminent pandemic.

The clinical disease attack rate will be 30 percent in the overall population during the pandemic. Illness rates will be highest among school-aged children (about 40 percent) and decline with age. Among working adults, an average of 20 percent will become ill during a community outbreak.

4 Some persons will become infected but not develop clinically significant symptoms. Asymptomatic or minimally symptomatic individuals can transmit infection and develop immunity to subsequent infection.

5 While the number of patients seeking medical care cannot be predicted with certainty, in previous pandemics about half of those who became ill sought care. With the availability of effective antiviral medications for treatment, this proportion may be higher in the next pandemic.

6 Rates of serious illness, hospitalization, and deaths will depend on the virulence of the pandemic virus and differ by an order of magnitude between more and less severe scenarios. Risk groups for severe and fatal infection cannot be predicted with certainty but are likely to include infants, the elderly, pregnant women, and persons with chronic or immunosuppressive medical conditions.

7 Rates of absenteeism will depend on the severity of the pandemic. In a severe pandemic, absenteeism attributable to illness, the need to care for ill family members,

and fear of infection may reach 40 percent during the peak weeks of a community outbreak, with lower rates of absenteeism during the weeks before and after the peak. Certain public health measures (closing schools, quarantining household contacts of infected individuals, "snow days") are likely to increase rates of absenteeism.

8 The typical incubation period (interval between infection and onset of symptoms) for influenza is approximately 2 days.

9 Persons who become ill may shed virus and can transmit infection for one-half to one day before the onset of illness. Viral shedding and the risk of transmission will be greatest during the first 2 days of illness. Children will play a major role in transmission of infection as their illness rates are likely to be higher, they shed more virus over a longer period of time, and they control their secretions less well.

10 On average, infected persons will transmit infection to approximately two other people.

11 Epidemics will last 6 to 8 weeks in affected communities.

12 Multiple waves (periods during which community outbreaks occur across the country) of illness are likely to occur with each wave lasting 2 to 3 months. Historically, the largest waves have occurred in the fall and winter, but the seasonality of a pandemic cannot be predicted with certainty."

This basically excellent page, among the 232, claims to be talking about a worst-case scenario, which is actually a population projection from the 1918 scenario. Yes, that era was truly horrible, but still not a worst-case scenario.

The worst case would be a continuation of the current H5N1 50+% clinical death rate among humans, not the nearly 3% death rate of 1918. That truly worst-case scenario would be nuclear in its implications. Furthermore, there are about 150 different strains of influenza in aquatic birds with the potential to cause a global pandemic. In a very recent conference in Singapore, organized by the *Lancet* medical journal, virologist Malik Peiris of the University of Hong Kong said the assumption that H5N1 will wear itself out if it triggers a pandemic might be wrong. "If this virus becomes a pandemic, will it attenuate its virulence in humans? I think that would be a rather optimistic assumption to make."

* Throughout the 232 pages of the federal action plan there is lip service given to multiple waves, lasting months. At the same time, we are urged to stock food for only a few days. What good is this? Even stocking food won't work if we can't perfectly practice social distancing, apparently the only viable strategy available for the entire population from a government which has only recently "seen the light."

* The best possible political spin is given to the modest stockpile of antivirals. Even though the original idea of having a treatment course of Tamiflu being ten doses over five days has been shown to be clinically insufficient, this document perpetuates the error on page 215, so as to make it appear that more antiviral help is available than really is. * Social distancing recommendations themselves are questionable. For example, it is recommended that workers stay three feet apart. That works where the aerosol virus is attached to water, or otherwise burdened. Individual viral particles can float much farther, making three feet only partially protective. Open windows, high humidity, and a strong flow of air out of the office building would help – except that such buildings are no longer designed, thanks to energy conservation and air conditioning.

* The use of N95 masks, which are more efficient than surgical masks, is of unproven value. These masks will save some lives, but cannot be relied on for total protection. They cost \$1 to \$3 each when bought in bulk, and should be used only once around infected people. They are designed to filter out 95 percent of particles that measure about 0.3 micrometers, or thousandths of a meter, in diameter.

However, influenza viruses range in size from 0.08 to 0.12 micrometers.⁴ Fortunately, these nano-particles are often clumped together or stuck to other airborne debris, which would allow an N95 mask to catch most of them. Also, even less-efficient surgical masks are recommended for those already stricken, to help protect caregivers from infected coughs.

* One of the most "clever" aspects of this action report is how the World Health Organization's stages have been altered. The American report is very clear in showing how what the WHO calls a Stage 3 situation is now a USA Stage 0 situation. Saying that we aren't even up to Stage 1 implies that there is no threat, or that we are somehow isolated from the threat. Briefly, the denotation is correct; the connotation is psychologically deceptive.

* Beyond clever is the most critical failure of this report. While most federal monies are going to long-range research, and to buying antivirals and vaccines of dubious value, there is not much left for aiding local hospitals and other medical infrastructure in the near term. Hospitals in this competitive age do not have much surge capacity, and they have almost no surplus ventilators.

A recent New York Times article pointed out there are 105,000 ventilators, and even during a regular flu season about 100,000 are in use. In a worst-case human pandemic the country would need as many as 742,500. However, each ventilator costs hospitals operating on thin margins \$30,000.⁵

Here's what The Washington Post had to say editorially:

"True, there are plans for mobile medical units, and there have been rudimentary attempts to define and measure the nation's 'surge capacity.' But most of America's 5,000-odd hospitals are unprepared. Nearly half of the nation's emergency rooms report being at or over capacity; 80 percent of emergency doctors say their hospital is unprepared for an epidemic or terrorist disaster, and about a third of hospitals are losing money, meaning they can't invest in spare capacity."

An article in USA Today published just after the report was released quoted several expert stakeholders. Here is part of that timely article:⁷

"The plan 'is a start, but it's certainly not a finish,' says Patrick Libbey, director of the National Association of County and City Health Officials. Congress' authorization in December of \$350 million to states for pandemic preparedness was more than offset by a 12% funding cut during the current fiscal year, Libbey says.

Irwin Redlener, director of the National Center for Disaster Preparedness at Columbia University in New York City, says that by placing so much of the preparedness effort on state and local agencies, the federal government has imposed 'the mother of all unfunded mandates.' ...

Redlener says most of the money allocated so far for pandemic planning will be spent on vaccine development and drug stockpiling, leaving only about 5% for state and local readiness.

'This is where the plan doesn't jibe with the reality that hospitals in small towns and big cities are going to have to try to accommodate an unprecedented number of very ill patients for which the capacity is not there,' he says. He estimates that \$5 billion more is needed for hospitals and local health care."

To date Congress has appropriated approximately \$300 billion for the latest war in Iraq.[®] Purchasing 600,000 more hospital ventilators to potentially help save hundreds of thousands of American lives would cost about \$18 billion. Purchasing only enough ventilators to effectively double what hospitals now have would be only about \$3 billion. Where is the money?

• <u>Bottom line</u>: The latest federal action strategy is more good than bad, in the sense that something beats nothing. We must take from this bloated document what we can, and continue to prepare wisely for our loved ones' future. There is no panacea, and there will be no near term rescue by Washington. ¹ http://www.whitehouse.gov/homeland/pandemic-influenzaimplementation.html

Jones, Del. USA Today. Few U.S. companies are prepared for bird flu outbreak. Updated 5/1/06.

(http://www.usatoday.com/money/companies/management/2006-0430-avian-flu-usat _x.htm)

Fogarty, David. *Reuters*. May 3, 2006. (http://news.yahoo.com/ s/nm/20060503/ts_nm/birdflu_ viruses_dc_1;_ylt= At63waXo4grVxyyD5vQ3JU2TvyIi;_ylu=X3oDMTBiMW04NW9mBHNIYw

MIJVRPUCUI)

[•] Brown, David. Face Masks Analyzed as Aid in Flu Pandemic. *Washington Post*. April 28, 2006; page A08.

(http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2006/ 04/27/AR2006042702098.html)

^{McNeil}, Jr., Donald G. Hospitals Short on Ventilators if Bird Flu Hits. *The New York Times. March 12, 2006.*

(http://www.nytimes.com/2006/03/12/national/12vent.html?ex= 1146801600&en=28ed14ff26556db8&ei=5070)

⁶ Editorial. Planning for Flu: Pandemic preparation plans still don't deal with the central question: How will America's hospitals cope? *The Washington Post*. April 21, 2006; page A22. (http://www.washingtonpost.com/wpdyn/content/article/2006/04/20/AR200604200 1879.html)

['] Manning, A., and Jackson, D. Bird flu plan lacks a key detail. USA Today. 5/3/2006. (http://www.usatoday.com/news/health/2006-0503-flu-plan_x.htm) 8

National Priorities Project: Cost of War. (http://nationalpriorities. org/index.php?option=com_wrapper&Itemid=182)

Appendix Some Top Web Sites

Many of these sites are updated frequently. No one has all the answers. This list is not in any order of value – since value for you is personal, and can change as a pandemic unfolds. Visit each and make up your own mind.

1) http://healthyamericans.org/

2) http://www.cidrap.umn.edu/idsa/influenza/panflu/biofacts/

panflu.html

3) <u>http://www.webmd.com/content/pages/14/89767.htm</u>

4)http://www.globalsecurity.org/security/ops/hsc-scen3_pand

emic-influenza.htm

- 5) <u>http://www.pandemicflu.gov/</u>
- 6) http://content.nejm.org/cgi/content/full/353/13/1374
- 7) http://avianflu.typepad.com/avianflu/2005/05/

has_the_next_fl.html

8) http://www.sciam.com/print_version.cfm?articleID

- =000DCB5A-9CC7-134E-9CC783414B7F0000
- 9) http://content.nejm.org/cgi/content/full/353/21/2209
- 10) <u>http://www.who.int/csr/disease/avian_influenza/en/</u>
- 11) http://depts.washington.edu/einet/
- 12) http://www.wildlandfire.com/docs/flu-watchout.htm
- 13) http://www.msnbc.msn.com/id/9787849/site/newsweek/
- 14) http://www.birdflumap.com/birdflumap2.html
- 15) <u>http://avianflu.typepad.com/avianflu/</u>
- 16) http://www.cdc.gov/flu/avian/
- 17) http://www.cdc.gov/flu/avian/professional/
- 18) http://www.who.int/topics/avian influenza/en/
- 19) http://www.wwwfacemasks.com/
- 20) <u>http://www.birdflutoday.com/</u>
- 21) http://www.fluwikie.com/

22) http://www.fluwikie.com/uploads/Consequences/ Pandemic3Aug2005.pdf

23) <u>http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/EID/vol12no01/051371.htm</u>

24) http://www.promedmail.org/pls/promed/ f?p=2400:1000

25)http://www.whitehouse.gov/homeland/pandemicinfluenza-implementa

tion.html

Appendix Sources for Supplies

When I began this book I was reluctant to come up with a list of sources for supplies. I didn't want to favor any select group, and I didn't want to stimulate a run on that group by anxious buyers. However, there are only so many sources for supplies, and all sources could experience shortages anyway.

Therefore, I am listing here a few sources for supplies. This list is just to help you get started; it is not encyclopedic. I have no financial interest in any of them. Start soon, not after the virus mutates and everybody else races to buy these items.

You probably don't need to accumulate several months of all supplies. A pandemic will come in waves, lasting several weeks each time. You may be able to partially restock after the first wave passes.

If you are part of a small community that is pooling survival resources, you will be better prepared for the unexpected. If not yet, talk to your neighbors or other local membership group, such as your church. The time to plan and organize is before the time to act; and we don't know how far apart those two times will be.

There are three general places to buy pandemic products: mega-stores, such as Walmart; retail pharmacies; and through the Internet. Right now, Internet sources are your best choice for price and variety. I predict that many retailers will quickly set up sections in their store for pandemic supplies, as soon as first news of the critical mutation comes in. Some stores will also feature books such as this one. How well stocked those last-minute sections will be is open to question.

Food and Hygiene Supplies

Stock up on **Lysol spray** and **Lysol sanitary wipes**. **Clorox spray** is excellent too. Stock up on multiple bottles of alcohol-based hand cleaners, being sure that the percent of alcohol is at least 60%. Have regular bleach ready for your laundry, and for selective sanitizing.

One widely available source of alcohol-based hand cleaners is **Germ-X**. Their web site is http://germx.com/ In my home state of Virginia this product can be found at Dollar General Stores, Food Lion, Giant Foods, Harris Teeter, Ingles, K-Mart, Target, Walmart, and Winn-Dixie. I have found the price at Dollar General to be especially low. Remember that such cleaners work best on non-soiled hands, so you may first need to use regular soap.

Lysol sanitary wipes are not recommended by their manufacturer for use on hands, because they have a chemical that can irritate your eyes if you rub them after use. Legalese aside, aren't you going to hold them with your hands anyway? I recommend them for wide use on such surfaces as automobile steering wheels, grocery cart push rails, and office equipment. I also wipe my hands when out in public with these antiviral disposable cloths, being sure to keep my hands away from my eyes. (If you are wondering, I am not an obsessive-compulsive "clean freak," just prudently cautious. Better safe than sorry.)

I have discussed **food supplies** elsewhere in this book. Common sense will tell you what your family needs, and what can be stored even when the electricity fails. Dried foods are great, but you will need to mix them with clean water for cooking. Your family will need lots of **clean water**. Nothing special is required. Buy large containers, not the very expensive little bottles. Distilled water and water cleaned by reverse osmosis are best. Buy well in advance of the emergency. Dried and canned food will keep. Don't forget daily **non-food items**, such as toothpaste, soap, shaving supplies, deodorant, batteries, body powder, perfumes, detergent, and other basic items also available at the supermarket. If your family has **special needs**, such as baby diapers and formula, stock up now.

Medicines could be critically important for your family. Be sure that you have at home supplies needed for your family for an extended period of time. This is especially important for diabetic supplies, heart medications, and other critical prescriptions.

The Home Recovery Room

Prepare now a pandemic medical arsenal, according to the instructions of Dr. Woodson in Chapter X. Most drug stores should have what you will need. Some items will be over the counter, and some by prescription.

As part of your family's preparation for at-home care, consider both routine and extraordinary needs. Routine would include, for example, painkillers as recommended by Dr. Woodson, along with other medications. Extraordinary, for example, would include **adult diapers and absorbent bed pads** to deal with your sick if they develop severe diarrhea. These hygiene items are most economically purchased through your town's hospital and nursing home supplies company, and they will deliver.

Pre-position all supplies, because the caregiver may also soon need care.

Contagion comes both from touching and from breathing. The home recovery room could be a danger zone if the air is stale, and if the sick don't have **surgical masks** to wear. The sick in bed won't need to wear N95 masks, as the idea is to keep relatively large coughed droplets from spewing forth.

For critical room ventilation, consider putting a **window fan** in the room, with air blowing out in a linear fashion, not just circulating. The solution to pollution is dilution. There are some exotic air cleaning machines that attract viral particles to traps. The problem with them, beside high cost, is their inability to filter a large volume of air frequently enough to make a difference in a sick room with one or more highly contagious patients. Stick with moving out large volumes of air. High-tech clean rooms move volumes of air out through floor grates; you will use your window. Let's hope it's not too cold outside. If so, run your furnace more, and don't worry about the fuel bill in this short run.

Highly Recommended Items To Take

Local stores include large stores such as at Walmart. They may have supplies of Vitamin C, Vitamin E, Vitamin D, green tea extract, St. Johns Wort, selenium, bilberry, coenzyme Q10, cranberry juice, tumeric, acidopilus, tea tree oil, ginger, garlic, alpha lipoic acid, and a few other OTC medications. Prices and quality should be excellent. However, everybody shops at Walmart, so expect supplies to vanish early. Buy now so they can restock for some of the late shoppers.

National nutritional supplement chain stores often focus on weight loss products, muscle building products, cosmetics, and highly complex formulas from redundant manufacturers. Nevertheless, if you know what you want, you can do well there. Also, they may be the only place left where you can find product if you procrastinate. Don't overlook your local natural foods stores, and especially **natural foods co-ops**. Volunteer co-ops are a good source to find knowledgeable help. They will also have a good selection of literature, hopefully including this book.

Certain items will be hard to buy in quantity locally, except at the chain supplement stores. Resveratrol is a prime example. Also, prices can be better when buying in quantity from a large Internet source. Comparison-shopping is advised, as the supply landscape could change quickly when a pandemic approaches.

Here below are a few good **Internet sources** for my top Chapter IX "What to Take" recommendations. They are not here in any order. Visit them all to see how they fill your needs:

Vitamin Shoppe <u>http://www.vitaminshoppe.com</u> Many brands and products.

AllHeart.com <u>http://www.allheart.com</u>N95 respirators, uniforms, and many other supplies.

National Allergy <u>http://www.natlallergy.com</u> All types of allergy products, including N95 respirators.

LifeExtension <u>http://www.lef.org/</u> Membership organization with good supplies and info.

Vitacost <u>http://www.vitacost.com</u> Excellent source for many recommended products, some of which come in easily taken combinations. Great prices.

Small Planet <u>http://smallplanethealth.com</u> Several good sources.

iHerb http://www.papanature.com Good selection from several sources, and low prices.

Organic Pharmacy <u>http://organicpharmacy.org/</u> N.D. runs it, and also source of homeopathics

Health Pricer <u>http://www.healthpricer.com/</u> Search engine to find low prices.

Final suggestion: If you aren't on the Internet, find somebody else who is. Go online together, and order together. Often you can receive volume discounts.